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Those who grab for everything, who forget 
that politics is the art of the possible, 
in the end may lose all. 

Henry Kissinger, White House Years (1979) 
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Preface 

The present study is an offshoot of an admittedly "one-sided" 
dissertation which dealt with the attitude of Palestinian Jews 
to their "Arab question". Making the jump to a topic dealing 
with both sides has not been an easy one, especially in view of 
the highly-charged emotions which continue to plague the 
Palestine-Israel conflict. 

Despite my best efforts at treating the parties in dispute 
even-handedly, the fact remains that I am a Canadian Jew 
who has had previous research experience primarily with 
Zionist sources. But, whatever their personal background, 
historians in pursuit of fairness and equilibrium in this field 
are bound to encounter obstacles which are inherent in the 
subject-matter itself. First of all, there are many people 
involved in the conflict who still hold passionately to the 
exclusive rightness of their side. For these people, "fairness" is 
a false objective in such studies, the only "valid" history 
being that version which further justifies their partisan 
claims. In this sense, I hope that those committed single-
mindedly to the Arab or Zionist cause will find little 
satisfaction from the present volume. 

A second difficulty seems to be inherent in the different 
ways in which Arab and Zionist leaders have approached 
history. While both have tended to record their history in a 
personalized way, filtering it through justificatory hindsight, 

1 



2 FUTILE DIPLOMACY 

Zionists seem to have had a more Western, "businesslike" 
approach to the keeping of contemporary written records: i.e., 
correspondence, diaries, minutes of meetings, notes of conver-
sations, etc. Hence, we find a built-in imbalance in the sheer 
quantity of documentary source-material for researchers to 
sift through on subjects related to the Palestine-Israel prob-
lem. 

This general imbalance of written evidence is accentuated 
in the case of the specific topic of this book: contacts and 
attempts to reach an agreement. The matter itself seems to 
have been considered an important one only to a limited 
number of people between 1913 and 1931; these individuals 
were almost exclusively on the Zionist side. Zionists, further-
more, would have had more of a vested interest to keep 
records on this subject, for it was necessary, whether for 
internal morale or for external propaganda, to find as much 
evidence as possible that there were Arabs who might, one 
day, come around to accepting Zionism on given terms. 
Since, for Arabs, contacts with the other side often constituted 
a breach of nationalist "discipline" or consensus, there would 
have been a decided disinclination to keep written records of 
any meetings with Zionists. 

A fourth related imbalance for the researcher stems from 
contemporary differences in the organization and accessibility 
of historical documents. Most individuals and groups on the 
Zionist side have come to accept the principle that their 
political and private papers should ultimately become public 
property, and they have deposited them in public or semi-
public archives which are obliged to provide access to all 
"serious" researchers. Arab private papers seem to be, on the 
whole, more difficult for researchers to consult, with access 
dependent on the consent of individuals and families who are 
cautious and selective in granting such access. The Institute 
for Palestine Studies and the Palestine Liberation Organisa-
tion Research Centre in Beirut are seeking to become, like 
their Zionist counterparts in Israel, central repositories for 
those private and group collections which exist. As the 
Institute for Palestine Studies has informed me that it had 
"nothing in the way of private papers, diaries or unpubli3hed 
memoirs which would be of use" to me for my research, I 
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have had to rely, for purposes of this study, on only published 
works in Arabic. 

Notwithstanding the above obstacles to "balanced" 
research, I have done my best to provide as complete and as 
dispassionate an account as possible. I have tried to leave to 
others the tasks of advocating claims and counterclaims, and 
of ascribing moral qualities of good and evil to the historical 
actors and their behaviour. For I do not believe that this 
conflict is one between heroes on one side and villains on the 
other. Nor do I wish to portray the history of negotiation 
attempts as a long, tragic series of missed opportunities, peace 
agreements that might or ought to have been. 

* 
This book, which will be followed by one dealing with the 
period 1931 to 1948, is divided into two parts. In the first part, 
I have provided an analysis of selected episodes and have 
placed each in its historical context. The bargaining tactics, 
motives and goals of the protagonists have been emphasised. 

I have left to others the sort of close textual analysis which 
might usefully be done of the documents which are repro-
duced, in chronological order, in the second part of this 
volume. Many of these documents appear here for the first 
time, and they should provide raw material for other 
researchers to develop their own hypotheses about the early 
development of the Arab-Zionist conflict and about the 
negotiating process as it applied to that conflict. 

* 
In the course of preparing this study, I have been fortunate to 
have had material and moral support from several quarters. I 
was enabled to take time off from my teaching duties and 
to undertake research trips in 1975, 1977 and 1981 thanks 
to grants from the Vanier College Professional Develop-
ment Fund, the Government of Quebec, and the Social 
Science and Humanities Research Council of Canada. I am 
also grateful to have benefitted as a Lester Martin Fellow at 
the Harry S. Truman Institute of the Hebrew University of 
Jerusalem (1977) and as a Visiting Scholar at the Oxford 
Centre for Postgraduate Hebrew Studies (1981 ). 
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No less important has been the practical and professional 
assistance received from individuals. I am grateful to Marie 
Syrkin and Ben Halpern, who gave the original spark to this 
project. The help received from a number of individuals was 
especially appreciated when it was accompanied by their 
friendship and invaluable encouragement, and in this regard 
I am happy to acknowledge my debts to: Elie Kedourie, 
Walter Laqueur, Yehoshua Porath, Emmanuel Sivan, Moshe 
Mossek, Bernard Wasserstein, Kenneth Stein, Philip Mattar, 
Ann Lesch, Nazmy Mobarak, Michael Heymann, Arieh 
Goren, Nehama Chalom, Gillian Grant, Ian Black, Y osepha 
Tislitsky, Reuven Koffler, Michael Plotkin, Shawkat Shibly, 
Elyakim Rubinstein, Eli Shaaltiel, Jane Lawless, Andrew 
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Introduction 

Most students of the history of Arab-Jewish relations have 
come to take for granted the stubborn resistance of the 
continuing dispute to any form of lasting and "reasonable" 
solution. The explanations and interpretations of the conflict 
offered by these men and women will vary with their initial 
assumptions. One common assumption is that this conflict, 
although difficult and seemingly intractable, is like all other 
conflicts and ought to be resolvable in the end. From this 
starting-point many writers have been tempted to explore the 
history of the conflict by concentrating on the missed 
opportunities for peace. Some have singled out the extraneous 
third-party interference which has apparently prevented the 
main protagonists from settling their differences. Others have 
chosen to admonish one or more of the parties involved, 
either for its lack of foresight and wisdom, or else for its evil or 
misguided in ten tions. 1 

Another frequently-advanced explanation of the Arab-
Zionist conflict is presently being tested in the international 
political arena: namely, that the conflict has persisted 
because of an absence of communication and contact among 
the major interested parties. This, in turn, is attributed to the 
Arab refusal to recognize the right of Israel to exist as a 
sovereign state on a territory considered to be stolen Arab 
land. 

5 
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Since 1973, we have been witness to the beginnings of a 
whittling down of the psychological barriers of non-contact, a 
process highlighted in November 1977 by the historic visit of 
Egypt's late President Anwar el-Sadat to Jerusalem. The 
Egyptian-Israeli peace process which followed has had its ups 
and downs, and analysts of the conflict have begun examin-
ing different dimensions than those previously focused on. 
One question often addressed in this new era of Arab-Israeli 
relations is: Can the accumulated effects of wars and the 
hardening of attitudes on both sides be overcome through 
diplomacy and renewed contacts?2 

Although the present study is concerned with the past, and 
not the present or future scenarios, it has been undertaken on 
the assumption that early Arab-Zionist negotiating exper-
ience has direct relevance to our understanding of the 
possible outcomes of diplomatic approaches to resolving this 
conflict. 

The discussion of selected episodes and the reproduction of 
historical documents is not meant to provide a single, 
definitive explanation of the persistence of the Arab-Zionist 
conflict. Neither is it an attempt to provide authoritative 
evidence to vindicate the partisan claims of one side or 
another. Its main purpose is to assemble and discuss some of 
the raw material which may help us to focus more clearly on 
the origins of this conflict, and perhaps to eliminate some 
recurring fallacies about its development and the prospects 
for its resolution. 

An examination of the period 1913 to 1931 reveals a wealth 
of previous negotiating experience which is today not well 
known or, at least, not very well remembered. Increased 
information about the actual "quantity" of such previous 
experience may prevent some contemporary observers from 
jumping too quickly to the conclusion that the communica-
tion and interaction which were lacking after 1948 have 
always been absent. It may also cast some doubt on the thesis 
that misunderstanding and/ or ignorance of the other party's 
"true" aims and peace-terms are at the heart of the 
present impasse, and that an expansion or a re-opening of 
contacts will automatically remove misunderstanding and 
lead to peace. As Yehoshafat Harkabi warned in May, 1973,3 
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The day negotiations start will indeed be a great occasion 
for celebration. Yet let us remember the lessons psycholo-
gists teach- that direct contacts between human groups do 
not always draw them together, but may make them 
realize how far apart they are and thus lead to further 
estrangement. 

Apart from the "quantity" of negotiating experience, the 
evidence examined during our period also indicates that there 
was little or no movement of any of the parties in the 
direction of modifying its basic minimum demands and 
aspirations. The major protagonists seem to have come, at an 
early stage, to rather pessimistic conclusions regarding the 
possibility of reconciling their conflicting interests and the 
future of Zionist-Arab relations. In 1919, David Ben-Gurion 
perceived the situation in these "inconvenient" terms:4 

Everybody sees a difficulty in the question of relations 
between Arabs and jews. But not everybody sees that there 
is no solution to this question. No solution! There is a gulf, 
and nothing can fill that gulf. It is possible to resolve the 
conflict between Jewish and Arab interests [only] by 
sophistry. I do not know what Arab will agree that 
Palestine should belong to the Jews - even if the Jews learn 
Arabic. And we must recognize this situation. If we don't 
acknowledge this, and try to come up with "remedies", 
then we risk demoralization .... We, as a nation, want this 
country to be ours; the Arabs, as a nation, want this country 
to be theirs .... 

The Palestinian nationalist leader, Awni Abd al-Hadi, also 
saw the conflict in similar terms. "Some time ago", wrote 
Moshe Shertok (Sharett) in his note of a conversation between 
Awni and Hayim Arlosoroff in early 1932, 

he [Awni] had come to the definite conclusion that there 
was no point whatever in negotiations or attempts to reach 
a mutual understanding. The goal of the Jews was to rule 
the country, and the aim of the Arabs was to fight against 
this rule. He understood the Zionists quite well and 
respected them, but their interests were fundamentally 
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opposed to Arab interests, and he saw no possibility of an 
agreement .... s 

What place, then, can negotiations have in the settling of 
Arab-Zionist differences when important leaders on both 
sides have agreed on their basic futility? By negotiation, we 
commonly mean a procedure by which parties in conflict 
engage in debate and dialogue and- in the classic situa-
tion- "gather round a table and, at the cost of mutual 
concessions, attempt to define the terms of an agreement 
which will take their respective interests into account".6 

If we want to appreciate the record of negotiation in the 
on-going Arab-Zionist conflict, we must look beyond this 
somewhat formalistic notion and focus on the intricacies and 
nuances of the process. In this way, we may discover how 
negotiations were utilized in the service of the Zionist and 
Arab causes. 

Rather than looking at each encounter as a missed 
opportunity and seeking to apportion blame for its ultimate 
failure, we shall be discussing, whenever appropriate, one or 
more of the following aspects: 

1. The motives for negotiating. 
2. The timing of contacts. 
3. The status of the negotiating partners. 
4. The role and interests of third-parties. 
5. The proposed terms of agreement. 

Placing these considerations into the context of Zionist and 
Arab leaders operating between 1913 and 1931, we may 
imagine the following sorts of questions suggesting themselves 
to would-be negotiators. Is it worthwhile to go into talks with 
the other side? Do we have a chance of gaining more than we 
will be asked to concede? What do we stand to lose by 
remaining aloof? Will our opponents be bargaining in good 
faith? Assuming the latter, will our negotiating partners have 
the necessary authority and stature to implement their share 
of the bargain we may work out? What concessions are we 
prepared or able to offer (without being repudiated by our 
followers or allies), and what concessions do we expect or 
insist the other side should make in return? What impression 
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will be created on important third-parties, or on public 
opinion, by our participation in, or abstention from, these 
proposed talks? 

In this sense, much of our concern will focus on the tactics 
and strategies employed by both sides. It is hoped that this 
survey, with accompanying documents, will add something to 
our understanding of the nature of this particular conflict and 
of the process of conflict-resolution where the gap between the 
ostensible vital interests of the parties is so deep and wide. 
For, if our examination reveals much about how parties used 
the negotiating process for their own ends, there is little 
evidence, during the period 1913-1931, of any imaginative 
and realistic formulae being seriously explored in an attempt 
to harmonize the goals of the parties in conflict. During this 
period, neither side felt that the growing conflict required any 
re-evaluation and/or reduction of its exclusive national goals. 

It would be only in the period after 1931 that some 
innovations and possible compromises would be discussed 
more seriously. Some of the negotiation attempts and person-
alities involved during the 1930s and 1940s are perhaps 
better known than those discussed in the present volume: e.g., 
Ben-Gurion's talks with Arab leaders (1934-1938); the at-
tempt by "the Five" (G. Frumkin, J. L. Magnes, M. 
Smilansky, P. Rutenberg, and M. Novomeyski) to break the 
Arab general strike of 1936; the Jewish Agency's dealings 
with Lebanese and Syrian groups; the Jewish Agency's 
relations with the Amir Abdallah; the "Hyamson-
Newcombe" proposals, discussed by Magnes, Izzat Tannous 
and Nuri al-Sa'id; and the St James ("Round-Table") 
Conference of 1939.7 Yet, as we shall show below, the earlier 
attempts at a negotiated settlement- although equally futile 
in the end- provided leaders on both sides with valuable 
experience for their later encounters. Also, reciprocal atti-
tudes and patterns of interaction between Arabs and Zionists 
became firmly rooted during the period discussed in this 
volume. 



CHAPTER 1 

First Attempts 

NATURE AND DEVELOPMENT OF ARAB-ZIONIST RELATIONS 
IN PALESTINE, 1882-1914 

The first real attempts to find a "diplomatic solution" to the 
budding Arab-Zionist conflict date back to 1913 and 1914. In 
order to understand the context of these moves, we must go 
back to the year 1882, which may be taken as a convenient 
starting point for any discussion of Arab-Jewish relations in 
Palestine. This year marked the beginning of the first of 
several modem waves of Jewish immigration ("aliya", literally 
meaning "ascent"; pl. "aliyot") to those provinces of the 
Ottoman Empire which later became Palestine of the British 
Mandate, and subsequently the Jewish state of Israel. The net 
result of the first two ((aliyot" prior to 1914 more than tripled 
the number of Jews in the area, from an estimated 23,000 
(1882) to 85,000 (1914). The Arab population during the 
same period grew less strikingly, from roughly 500,000 to 
600,000, with emigration detracting from the natural in-
crease.• 

Perhaps more important than these numerical changes, the 
new type of Jew in Palestine contributed to a striking change 
in Arab-Jewish relations. The Jews of the "old yishuv" (the 
Jewish community prior to 1882) had been accustomed to a 
self-contained and subservient life in the predominantly 
Muslim society around them. Not so the new Zionist settlers. 
Contrary to popular misconception, relations between the 
native Arab population and these new settlers were not 
idyllic. 2 It is only by comparison, or for propaganda purposes, 
that Jews or Arabs in later years would look back with 
nostalgia on a period of relatively peaceful and "brotherly" 
relations. Serious research into the 1882-1914 period now 
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shows US that "the trend of subsequent developments in 
Palestine was already set" before 1914,3 that is, that the seeds 
of today's Arab-Israeli dispute were sown before that date. 

One of the practical results of the application of Zionism in 
the daily lives of Jewish settlers in Palestine was the social 
and economic segregation of the new yishuv. Local Jewish 
leaders became preoccupied with the task of building up an 
autonomous and self-sufficient community. Even men like Dr 
Arthur Ruppin-whose colonization work led him to stress 
the need to improve relations with the Arabs-realized at an 
early stage that the practical business of Jewish settlement 
had to be carried out systematically, 

by not permitting ourselves to be scattered at random 
throughout the country, but by concentrating on a few 
points .... It is only in this fashion that we can, within 
certain limits, achieve today [1913] the objective we have 
in view, namely, the creation of a Jewish milieu and of a 
closed Jewish economy, in which producers, consumers 
and middlemen shall all be Jewish. 4 

Such autonomy was fostered both symbolically and in 
practical ways. National symbols were actively promoted: 
star of David, Zionist flag and anthem ("ha-Tiqva", The 
Hope), Jewish National Fund ONF) stamps. Much effort 
went into the organization of "national-communal" institu­
tions: e.g., schools, local self-governing councils, a Jewish 
watchmen's association (ha-Shomer), land-purchase and bank­
ing facilities.5 In fact, most of the socio-economic infrastruc­
ture of today's Israeli society was already being developed 
before 1914. 

GROWING AWARENESS OF A CONFLICT 

This preoccupation with internal organization may, in part, 
help us to understand the frequent criticism (usually made 
with hindsight) that early Zionists were naively "unaware" of 
the Arab population residing in Palestine. Caught up in the 
redemption of their own people, many, indeed, did not 
perceive the Arabs as constituting a rival "nation" in 
Palestine. 

FIRST ATTEMPTS 
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The settlers did see, of course, that there were Arabs living 
in the country, and no one would have denied that good-
neighbourly relations were important. But beyond the avoi-
dance of unnecessary friction and disputes, it seemed natural 
to almost all Jews that their principal energies would be 
devoted to building up their own separate society, and not to 
integrating themselves into what was, for them, another 
foreign (i.e., Arab) cultural and social milieu.6 

But soon it became evident that there was a national/ 
political dimension involved, and some perceptive observers 
began to suspect that a larger clash of interests was involved. 
Indeed, prior to 1914 a number of spokesmen were already 
predicting an inevitable clash of destinies. Najib Azouri, a 
Christian Arab who had served as an Ottoman government 
official in Jerusalem, prefaced his book, Le Reveil de Ia nation 
arabe (published in Paris in 1905), with remarks concerning 
not one, but two, relatively unknown movements in Turkish 
Asia, namely: 

the awakening of the Arab nation, and the latent effort of 
the Jews to reconstitute, on a very large scale, the ancient 
kingdom of Israel. These two movements [he went on to 
predict] are destined to fight continually until one is 
victorious over the other. The fate of the entire world will 
hinge on the final outcome of this struggle between two 
peoples representing two contradictory principles.' 

Reviewing the pre-War experience from the Zionist side, Y. 
Radler-Feldman (who was later, under the pen-name of 
"Rabbi Binyamin", to fight the official Zionist leadership in 
the name of Jewish-Arab rapprochement) made no secret of 
the fact that theJews had been unable "to establish friendly 
relations with the Arabs".s 

At the moment [March 1913] their hatred against us is 
being fanned by the press and animosity is becoming more 
frequent. Altogether, it must be accepted tltat two nations 
such as the Jews and the Arabs can only live side by side 
either in friendship or in enmity. A third relationship, one 
of indifference, does not exist. 

During the first decades of Zionist land-purchase and 
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settlement, contacts between the "new Jews" and the local 
population provided several areas for tension and friction.9 In 
the towns, too, the native merchant class came to look on the 
new Jewish arrivals as an unwelcome challenge to their 
traditional social and commercial predominance.1o When 
outlying Jewish colonies began to abandon the practice of 
hiring local Arabs in favour of having Jews as watchmen 
(soon organized into a country-wide quasi-militia, ha-Shomer), 
this gave rise to some Arab fears and complaints that the Jews 
were arming in order to seize control of the country.lI 

All of the above areas of friction might have been regarded 
as normal in circumstances of immigrant-vs-native or infidel­
vs-Muslim. A tactful and conciliatory attitude on the part of 
the newcomers might, normally, have been enough to remove 
native suspicion and to promote better relations. In fact, a 
number of Zionist observers12 did dwell on this aspect and felt 
that much would be achieved by a less contemptuous or a less 
oblivious attitude on the part of the new settlers. Long before 
1914 these observers were actively campaigning for a deliber­
ate Zionist initiative to promote good-neighbourly relations. 
To some extent these exhortations did contribute to improved 
relations. Settlers themselves came to realize the practical 
wisdom of encouraging good relations by allowing Arab 

fellahin to take advantage of free Jewish medical services, or 
by inviting some Arabs to send their children to study in 
Jewish educational institutions. Another, more natural, impe­
tus for positive relations came through commercial dealings, 
which often produced patterns of mutual gratitude, depen­
dence and/or friendship. 

But increasing the volume of personal contacts between the 
two peoples was not necessarily a one-way street leading 
towards mutual trust and friendship. Intimacy with Zionist 
thinking or institutions, for example, could also lead to 
heightened Arab fears, resentment or jealousy with regard to 
the Jewish newcomers." Whatever the beneficial effects of 
early Zionist public-relations efforts, they were fragile enough 
to be shaken by inadvertent misunderstandings, Zionist 
indiscretions, or deliberate incitement by anti-Zionist ele­
ments. In sum, during the 1882-1914 period, few concerned 
and informed observers could be really satisfied with the 

FIRST ATTEMPTS 
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development of Zionist-Arab relations in the country. 
If their internal preoccupations made Zionists play down 

the external reality of the Arabs, there can be little doubt that 
in certain Arab circles there was growing uneasiness and 
concern over the Zionist activity and development in their 
midst. As early as 1910, articulate voices were denouncing the 
"exclusiveness" and aloofness of the Jewish settlers. In that 
year, Shukri al-Asali, the Governor of Nazareth, complained 
at length of Zionist aims and separateness as expressed. in 
their habits, symbols and institutions. 14 Similar denunciations 
were made one year later in the Turkish parliament. 15 In 
April1914, Nahum Sokolow's tour of the Middle East and his 
explanations of Zionism to the Arab press evoked the 
following rejoinder from Rafiq al-Azm, one of the leaders of 
the Arab Decentralist Party: 

Quite the contrary [to Sokolow's assurances], we see the 
Jews excluding themselves completely from the Arabs in 
language, school, commerce, customs, in their entire econo-
mic life. They cut themselves off in the same way from the 
indigenous government, whose protection they enjoy, so 
that the [Arab) population considers them a foreign race. 
This is the reason for the grievance of the Arabs of 
Syria and Palestine against Jewish immigration. The 
Arabs have as yet made no steps on the road to their 
national renaissance.... they, therefore, see their very 
existence threatened by the Jews. Many also see a political 
danger in that the Jews retain foreign nationality and in 
this way conquer the country for foreign states.16 ... The 
youth of Palestine is already inspired with the idea of 
assembling in order to take up the struggle against the 
Zionist movement. We do not think that the educated Jews 
and Zionists will mock at the defence movement of the 
Arab youth and intelligentsiaY 

THE TURKISH FACTOR 

This hostility to Jewish immigration and settlement must be 
seen in the context of the "awakening" which was then 
affecting intellectual and political leaders in the Arabic-



FIRST ATTEMPTS 15 

speaking provinces of the Ottoman Empire. 18 Originating in 
secret societies and literary clubs in the late 19th century, a 
movement was growing for a "decentralization" of the 
Empire which would have allowed the Arabs greater regional 
autonomy and self-government. The Turks resisted these 
"separatist" tendencies, as they did all other threats to the 
unity of the Empire. The 1908 revolution by the "Young 
Turks" was followed by a centralizing policy of "Turkifica-
tion" of the ethnically-diverse Empire, and this had the effect 
of strengthening the Arab movement's desire for decentraliza-
tion. 

In this Turkish-Arab tug of war, the Arabs became a 
powerful factor. In the new parliament the Arab bloc held 60 
of the 245 seats. Complaints against the indifference of the 
authorities in the face of the Zionist "danger" became one of 
the main issues in Turkish-Arab relations and in the election 
campaigns. 19 Protests received from Palestinian notables and 
pressure inside parliament periodically led the authorities to 
tighten the regulations (some restrictions dated back to 1881) 
concerning Jewish immigration. 2o 

Completing the triangle were the Zionists, who since 1882 
had been using whatever pressure they could muster (e.g., 
through foreign consuls) to obtain from the ruling Turks 
conditions favourable to Jewish immigration and settlement 
in Palestine. In response to such pressure, and in the hope of 
securing Jewish financial assistance, the Turks would periodi-
cally relax or overlook restrictions. 21 But Arab nationalists 
resented Zionist reliance on the Turks, and in their overtures 
to the Zionists their outstretched hand seemed to imply an 
anti-Turkish alliance. This was sometimes reflected in the 
"friendly" advice that the Zionists should be careful-that 
governments (i.e., Turks) come and go, while the native 
population (i.e., Arabs) were a permanent factor.22 But even 
those Zionists who appreciated the urgency of coming to 
terms with the Arabs were reluctant to engage in any 
activities which had anti-Turkish undertones. Thus any 
development of Arab-Jewish relations had to involve the 
Turkish factor . • Following the first World Zionist Congress at Basle in 1897 
and the publication of Azouri's Reveil de la nation arabe in 1905, 
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a growing number of Arab nationalists and Zionists became 
increasingly preoccupied with each other's existence and 
aims. At first, most Zionists who gave the matter any 
attention tended to discount the strength of the nascent Arab 
movement, and some engaged in what proved to be wishful 
thinking when they supposed that this movement would 
confine its appeal to Arab lands outside Palestine. For their 
part, some Arab observers went to the other extreme of 
fearing that they were facing imminent domination by a new 
Zionist kingdom which would stretch from the Nile to the 
Euphrates. 23 Whatever the exaggeration or underestimation 
in the perceptions of both sides, the possibility of a show-
down grew as each came to understand some of the contradic-
tions between its own position and that of its rival. 24 

It was after 1908 that an anti-Zionist campaign gained real 
momentum in and around Palestine.25 After several years of 
escalating verbal threats and warnings in the Arab press, 
leaders in both camps were beginning to give serious thought 
to the option of attempting to reach a formal accord. The 
Zionist inclination for talks with Arab leaders came in direct 
reaction to the unfavourable climate being generated by the 
press. Much energy went into answering hostile articles and 
trying to create a more favourable image of Zionism in the 
newspapers of the Arab world. 26 Zionist contacts were extend-
ed beyond the original circle of Arab notables who had been 
important simply from the point of view of land purchase; 
Zionists now began to devote more attention to cultivating 
the goodwill of individuals with political influence or press 
contacts. As Y aacov Ro'i has summarized his study of the 
situation after April1909,27 

Arab attacks on individual Jews in the towns and villages 
or on the roads, the violation of Jewish fields and 
plantations and the molestation of livestock, and a number 
of vehement articles in the Arab press, and speeches in the 
Ottoman parliament could not help but make Zionists 
everywhere conscious of the need to come to terms with the 
local Arab population. 

Another factor influencing Zionists in the direction of 
paying more attention to the Arabs was related to the 
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growing Arab-Turkish estrangement. Zionists valued their 
good relations with the Turks, who after all controlled the 
gates of Palestine and regulated land sales.28 While Zionists 
felt that they could not contemplate any alliance with the 
Arabs which would alienate Turkish sympathy, they were 
attracted by Arab overtures because an accord with the 
Arabs-if it could be reached within the framework of 
continued loyalty to the Turks-had the advantage of 
solidifying Zionist-Turkish relations. For, if Arab anti-Zionist 
protests could be minimized through such an accord, then the 
Turks would have little excuse for denying the concessions 
which the Zionists were seeking.29 In fact, it was the Grand 
Vizier, Talaat Bey, who advised the Jews in September 1913 
that they "must first of all come to an understanding with the 
Arabs; we shall do the rest", by which he meant improving 
conditions affecting Jewish immigration and settlement.30 
Thus, an Arab-Zionist accord had, for the Turks, the possible 
attractions of keeping the Arabs off their backs, while 
allowing them to earn Zionist gratitude. For the Zionists, an 
accord with the Arabs stood to further better relations with 
the rulers of Palestine. 

Arab motivation for talks with Zionists was not unmixed. 
The "decentralist" and "reformist" groups were always 
searching for allies in their struggle with the Turks. As early 
as 1911, Muhammad Rashid Rida, a founder-member of the 
Decentralist Party and a leading Muslim thinker, pointed out 
that the "Arab awakening" would require European know­
how, the support of the Western press and large sums for 
economic development. Since, in his analysis, the Jews 
controlled the European press and bank(!), the Syrians were 
obliged to consider the option of an accommodation with the 
Zionists over Palestine. Rida was certain that the Zionists 
desired "to take possession of the Holy Land", and conse­
quently the Arabs would have to proceed with utmost care so 
as to avoid the likely dangers of the local population or 
government falling into debt, and/or the Zionists gaining a 
foothold in Palestine through land purchase.31 As Arab fears 
continued to grow that "Zionist power" might soon overrun 
the Fertile Crescent, Rida advised Arab leaders in 1914 that 
they were confronted with a clear-cut choice: 
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Either make an agreement with the Zionist leaders in order 
to resolve the differences between the interests of both 
parties ... or else gather all their [i.e., Arab] forces to 
oppose the Zionists in every way, first by forming societies 
and companies, and finally by forming armed gangs who 
will oppose [the Zionists] by force. 32 

FIRST NEGOTIATION ATTEMPTS, 1913 

Such were the motives and the mood of Zionist and Arab 
leaders in 1913 and again in 1914 when steps were taken for 
the first time to try to resolve their differences through 
diplomacy. Since this episode is the first recorded instance of 
Zionist-Arab political negotiation, let us examine its course in 
detail. 

In early 1913, as the columns of Cairo's al-Ahram heated up 
with anti- and pro-Zionist articles, the arguments seemed to 
climax in the suggestion for a joint meeting to resolve the 
contradictions once and for all. 33 On April 11, 1913 Salim 
Najjar, on behalf of the Cairo Decentralist Committee, 
contacted his former employer, Sami Hochberg, the Jewish 
editor of le jeune Turc, a paper subsidized by the Zionist 
Organization in Istanbul. Najjar proposed to Hochberg that 
Dr Victor Jacobson, the official Zionist representative in 
Istanbul, be impressed with the need for the Jews to come to 
an agreement with his Party. In his letter Najjar claimed to 
have the Zionists' best interests at heart, and he suggested 
that by joining with the Decentralists they would rid 
themselves of the growing Muslim and Christian animosity. 
Jacobson responded by charging Hochberg with the mission 
of travelling to Arab capitals to investigate the possibilities of 
an accord. 

Hochberg's trip was quite successful.34 He spoke with 
twenty leading members of the Cairo Decentralist and Beirut 
Reformist committees, including Rafiq al-Azm, Salim Najjar, 
Haqqi al-Azm, Iskandar Ammun, Ahmad M ukhtar Bay-
hum, Rizqallah Arqash and Ahmad Tabbarah. Hochberg 
reported that there were only two men who declared them-
selves firmly opposed to any Jewish immigration. With the 
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rest he was able to formulate a preliminary "entente verbale", 
according to which the Cairo Committee-"being in princi-
ple favourable to Jewish immigration into Syria and Pales-
tine and in favour of an agreement with the Zionists"-
agreed to work for an Arab-Jewish rapprochement through 
oral propaganda and through the Arab press. In exchange, le 
jeune Turc committed itself to supporting the Arab cause 
("insofar as it remained compatible with the unity and 
integrity of the Empire") in its columns and through its 
contacts with the European press. Although this limited 
agreement in effect obligated only Hochberg and his paper 
(and not the Zionist Organization), the atmosphere between 
Zionists and Arabs improved considerably during the follow-
ing months. Several series of articles favouring an alliance 
were published, while the Arab press generally displayed a 
more moderate tone on the Zionist issue. 35 

A "full accord" was foreshadowed in Hochberg's prelimin-
ary talks, but this had to await the results of the First Arab 
Congress, which was held in Paris in June 1913.36 Hochberg 
attended as an observer and lobbied on behalf of his 
rapprochement scheme, winning the support of the Congress' 
chairman, Abd al-Hamid az-Zahrawi. The Congress passed 
no resolution hostile to Jewish immigration, and some 
favourable statements were obtained in press interviews. But 
the Paris Congress turned out to be the high-point of the 1913 
rapprochement attempts. Two days after the conclusion of 
the Congress, moves towards a Zionist-Arab alliance were 
virtually frozen with the arrival from Istanbul of a draft 
Turkish-Arab agreement for reforms within the Empire. While 
at first Hochberg felt that a three-sided understanding was 
imminent, the next few weeks proved that most Arabs in 
Paris, Istanbul and Beirut considered that their anticipated 
agreement with the Turks made any further negotiations with 
the Zionists unnecessaryY 

RENEWED CONTACTS, 1914 

For a while it seemed as though the initiative taken toward a 
Zionist-Arab accord was being dropped in favour of less 
ambitious moves toward mere "cordial relations". But the 
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Cairo Decentralists were soon dissatisfied with this situation. 
The group's annoyance was reflected in bitter press articles 
against the Zionists;3B the tirade against Jewish exclusivism 
quoted above (page 14) is but one example. "Nice words" 
from Zionist leaders were challenged, and the latter were 
accused of not living up to their professed desire for an 
agreement with the Arabs. 

These accusations were among the stimuli for the prepara-
tions which were made in 1914 for a "round-table" confer-
ence of Arab and Zionist representatives. Other trends and 
events combined to promote the idea of such a conference. 
Apart from the more radical Cairo group, other Arabs 
returned their attention to the Zionist factor once it became 
clear that the promised Turkish reforms would not be 
satisfactorily implemented. Contacts in Istanbul, which had 
lapsed since January 1914, were resumed by Dr Jacobson and 
Richard Lichtheim in April. Conversations were held with 
Ahmad Bayhum, Najib Shuqair, Shukri al-Husaini, Sa'id 
al-Husaini, Raghib an-Nashashibi, Sa'id Shahin, Asad Dagh-
ir, Faris al-Khouri and others. 39 During his visit to Syria and 
Palestine in April 1914, Nahum Sokolow of the Zionist 
Executive spoke with a number of Arabs, including Nasif 
al-Khalidi, Muhammad Kurd Ali, Abd ar-Rahman ash-
Shahbandar, Georges Fakhuri, Shukri al-Asali and Muham-
mad al-Inglizi.40 In his attempts to reassure them about the 
compatibility of the two movements, Sokolow discussed the 
possibility of convening a round-table meeting to clear up 
any persisting misunderstandings. On May 27th and 29th, an 
unnamed "Zionist leader" in Istanbul (probably Dr Jacob-
son) contributed a pair of articles to the ongoing Cairo press 
debate, also calling for a joint meeting. Meanwhile, Nissim 
Malul, a Palestinian Jewish member of the Decentralist 
group, had to reassure his Arab colleagues that the Zionist 
leaders were indeed sincere in their desire for an agreement. 
By late May 1914 it appeared that a conference would soon 
be organized, and in anticipation the Cairo press closed its 
columns to any further discussion of the Zionist question.41 

As negative as these motivations were for the Zionists to 
resume formal talks with Arab representatives, the situation 
in Palestine provided more negative, and more compelling, 
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reasons. Since July 1913 the Palestinian press (al-Karmil of 
Haifa and F alastin of Jaffa )42 had been denouncing the 
apparent leniency of their Syrian and Egyptian "cousins" on 
the Zionist question. During the winter of that year three 
Jews were murdered in Northern Palestine. Anti-Zionist 
clubs were formed in several towns,43 and by April 1914 the 
local press had reached such heights of anti-Zionist incitement 
that the Turkish authorities intervened to order the closure of 
Falastin. 44 The elections to the third Turkish parliament also 
gave vent to local anti-Zionist campaigning and sentiments.45 

Thus, by May 1914 a meeting between Arab and Zionist 
representatives seemed essential in order to de-fuse a poten-
tially explosive situation.46 The actual mechanics of organiz-
ing the conference rested with Nasif al-Khalidi, a Jerusale-
mite working as chief engineer in Beirut; Hayim Margaliut 
Kalvaryski, a land agent of the Jewish Colonization Associa-
tion (ICA) stationed in Rosh Pina in Northern Palestine; and 
Dr Yaakov Thon, who worked with Dr Ruppin in the Zionist 
Jaffa office. The conference, tentatively set for July at 
Brumana, Lebanon, was first postponed by Khalidi, who 
needed more time to assemble an Arab delegation. Following 
this first postponement, Zionist leaders found their own 
reasons to seek further postponements, as they had reached 
the conclusion that the conference was doomed to failure.47 
In fact, the meeting never took place; the outbreak of 
war on August 4th put an end to any further moves in that 
direction. 

FAILURE OF THE 1914 CONFERENCE 

In order to appreciate the reasons for the failure of the 
1913-14 attempts at an agreement, it would be useful to focus 
on the following areas: (a) the status of the negotiators, (b) 
third-party considerations, and (c) the proposed terms of 
agreement. Specifically, the questions which need to be 
answered are: Would the delegates to the proposed confer-
ence have been able to execute their respective parts of any 
agreement arrived at? What effects would this Zionist-Arab 
accord have had on relations with the Turks? What could the 
Zionists have offered to the Arabs for the sake of an 
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agreement? Could the Zionists have made those concessions 
which appeared necessary to win Arab assent? 

(a) Status qf the Negotiators. Among the obstacles which 
made a successful accord highly unlikely we may begin with 
the proposed agenda and the personnel involved in the 
aborted conference of 1914. The general Zionist scepticism 
about the chances of a real and lasting entente resulted in the 
leaders designating "lesser" personalities as delegates. They 
did not wish to accord too formal a status to talks whose likely 
failure would have been harmful to their cause and their 
credibility. The Zionist delegates were instructed to avoid 
any commitments and to keep the talks at the "exploratory" 
level only.48 The Arabs, on the other hand, were expecting a 
completely different kind of meeting, best described as a 
"showdown" with the official Zionist leadership. The agenda 
which they proposed read as follows: 49 

1. [The Zionists] should explain, as far as possible by pro-
ducing documentary evidence, the aims and methods of Zion-
ism and the colonization of Palestine connected therewith. 
2. Thereafter the Arabs will formulate their demands, accep-
tance of which would determine whether the [Zionist] 
Movement could be considered harmful to the Arabs or not. 

Such an agenda clearly put the Zionists on the defensive; 
little wonder that efforts were made to secure an honourable 
postponement of the conference. 

The choice of Arab delegates to the conference also pointed 
to the unlikelihood of a successful accord. In the past, Zionist 
negotiators had found it difficult to ascertain the status of 
their various Arab counterparts. As Dr Jacobson complained, 
every Arab leader "claimed that it [was] he who [was] the 
real, the only real, the important one .... There is no way of 
knowing what truth there is in what they say, what is behind 
them. They do not have a single organisation."50 A slightly 
different problem faced the Zionists with regard to the 1914 
talks. Some of the Arab delegates selected by N asif al-Khalidi 
were known only too well. Zionists would have found 
themselves face to face with four of their most articulate and 
bitterest enemies-Muhammad Kurd Ali (of the paper, 
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al-Muqtabas), Yusuf al-Isa (of Falastin), Abdallah Mukhlis (of 
al-Karmil) and Jamal al-Husaini (later Secretary of the 
Palestine Arab Executive and a power behind the Arab 
Higher Committee); four possible "friends" (Ahmad Bay-
hum, Rizqallah Arqash, Abd ar-Rahman ash-Shahbandar 
and Nasif al-Khalidi); and two unknown quantities. Nasif 
had evidently had some difficulty in assembling ten Arab 
leaders with both stature in Palestine and an "accommodat-
ing" attitude towards Zionism.51 Little wonder, then, that 
Zionists saw little point in continuing to plan for a conference 
once the list of Arab delegates became known. 

(b) Third-Party Considerations. The Turkish attitude 
provides yet another ill-omen when assessing the failure of the 
1914 conference. One of the organizers of the ill-fated talks, 
H. M. Kalvaryski, in later years severely criticized the Zionist 
leadership for poor judgement in acceding to Turkish advice, 
at the cost of alienating Arab opinion.52 For, if the Turks 
had earlier been encouraging a Zionist-Arab accord, they 
made a quick about-face as the Brumana conference drew 
near. At a meeting with the Vali of Beirut, the Zionists 
were influenced by the clear disparagement of the Turks. 
Kalvaryski became fond of recalling Nasif al-Khalidi's words 
to Dr Thon following that meeting: "Gardez-vous bien, mes-
sieurs les sionistes: un gouvemement passe mais un peuple 
reste". 53 

While Kalvaryski's critique makes too much of Zionist 
deference to Turkish wishes, it is to Dr Thon that we must 
look for a fuller and more balanced assessment. While the 
Turkish attitude was an additional reason to shy away from 
the proposed conference, Thon had seen only "great obsta-
cles" in the way of a successful Zionist-Arab agreement: 54 

The Arabs will not let themselves be played off with simple 
phrases, while we can hardly consent to such concessions as 
they would in fact demand from us: restriction of land 
purchase, the partial restriction of Hebrew in favour of 
Arabic in schools and in public life, and living together 
with them in the exclusive Jewish quarters .... 

(c) Proposed Terms cif Agreement. Dr Thon's analysis brings 
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us to the most serious reason for the failure of the 1913-14 
negotiation attempts. It is important to take a closer look at 
the terms and conditions being offered by both sides in the 
course of the attempted rapprochement. The "entente 
verbale" (above, page 19) is one example of the kind of 
"give-and-take" that suited certain Arab leaders. There were a 
number of other conditions which other Arabs attached to 
proposals for an alliance with the Zionists. The ones most 
frequently mentioned at this time may be summarized as 
follows: 55 

1. Zionists must renounce their foreign citizenship (and 
special protection enjoyed under the Capitulations) to 
become Ottoman subjects. 56 

2. Under any agreement, the Zionists would have to 
undertake to guarantee that no fellahin would be dispossessed of 
their lands. 

3. Zionist schools must be open to Arab children, and 
Zionist funds and skills should be applied to the improve-
ment of Arab education. 

4. Zionist efforts at the revival of Hebrew should not be 
so intensive as to detract from Arab efforts to revive Arabic as 
the national language of the future Arab state. 

5. Zionists must open their local economic institutions for 
Arab use and benefit. 

6. Zionists must find large capital sums to finance public 
works and other development projects in the Arab countries. 

7. Zionists should use their political influence and their 
press connections in the West in support of the Arab 
movement. 

8. Zionists should settle in all Arab countries, rather than 
concentrate themselves exclusively in Palestine. 

What were Arab spokesmen willing to give in exchange for 
Zionist agreement to the above kind of terms? Here the Arabs 
were less explicit. Nothing was said about a "national" 
existence, or internal autonomy for the JewsY The terms 
being offered by the Arabs at this time were to give their 
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blessing to continued but controlled Jewish immigration into 
what they regarded as their lands. This, they felt, was big 
enough a concession: they were offering to cease their hostile 
clamours, but wished to exercise control over future Zionist 
development so as to benefit from anticipated material 
advantages but without exposing themselves to potential 
political risks. 

Against this, Zionist leaders found themselves in a most 
uncomfortable bargaining position. The Arab approval of 
controlled immigration was being offered in anticipation of 
the supposed power of the Jews in the European press and 
financial community, and the application of Jewish "brains" 
to the development of Syria and Palestine. 

It is not difficult to see why the possible terms of such a 
Zionist-Arab "marriage" were hardly appealing to the Zion-
ists. They indeed wanted to see an end to the mounting 
hostility. But they did not believe that this desire was enough 
to assure a successful accord. On the one hand, the Zionist 
"bride" was being courted for her imagined riches, riches 
which she knew she did not really possess; on the other, her 
persistent Arab "suitor" was already anticipating her possible 
infidelity and was laying down stringent conditions. In the 
eyes of the Zionists the guarantees being sought by the Arabs 
would have stifled the raison d'etre of Zionism, and an alliance at 
this time and on these terms seemed doomed from the start. 

Quite apart from their assessment of what the Arabs could 
and would deliver as their part of the bargain, Zionists were 
also troubled by their own "total inability ... to fulfil Arab 
demands both in the cultural and financial fields". 58 In this 
connection, the seemingly harsh appraisal of Richard Licht-
heim, who had been through many long discussions with 
Arab leaders in Constantinople, should not strike us as 
unduly negative. Although he continually stressed the 
primary importance of working towards improved relations 
with the Arabs, he was, as Y. Ro'i concludes, "not very 
hopeful that they could be permanently established". 59 "The 
Arabs", Lichtheim wrote in November 1913, 

are and will remain our natural opponents. They do not 
care a straw for the "joint Semitic spirit" .... The Arabs do 
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not require a Semitic revival. They want orderly govern-
ment, just taxes and political independence. The East of to-
day aspires to no marvels other than American machinery 
and the Paris toilet. Of course the Arabs want to preserve 
their nation and cultivate their culture. What they need for 
this, however, is specifically European: money, organiza-
tion, machinery. The Jew for them is a competitor who 
threatens their predominance in Palestine .... In such a 
situation we must naturally make every effort to hold back 
Arab animosity. 

From what we have seen of the period 1908-1914, it 
appears evident that Zionist moves towards an entente with 
the Arabs were made largely under duress. Zionists had a 
sufficiently accurate picture of Arab motives and strategy. 
They knew that the Arabs wished to save Palestine from the 
imminent "dangers" of Zionism, and they met no Arab 
leader who came close to understanding Zionism and accept-
ing it on its own terms. And it is this gulf between the aims 
and interests of the two parties which was probably the most 
important reason for the failure of the 1913-14 attempts at 
rapprochement. This is also evident from the tactics used. 
Both parties looked on an entente more as a defensive 
manoeuvre than as a positive step involving substantial 
mutual concessions and leading to the utopia of "semitic 
brotherhood". Through an accord the Arabs hoped to exploit 
"Jewish power" without being harmed by it, while the 
immediate objective of the Zionists was the limited one of 
deflecting anticipated threats and obstacles. Many Zionists 
felt, like Lichtheim, that "holding back Arab animosity" was 
the most they could have expected to gain through an accord 
with Arab leaders.6° 

In summary, then, there was a variety of reasons-basic 
contradictions, proposed agenda, choice of delegates, disap-
proval of the Turks-why the 1914 conference fell through. It 
was the Zionists in this particular case who felt their interests 
would be better served by pulling back from the talks 
proposed by the Arabs. But it should appear obvious that, 
even had the conference gone ahead, it would have ended in 
bitter failure. Similarly, had the 1913 talks not been halted by 
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Arab disinterest, they too might well have floundered on the 
same basic incompatibility-Zionist inability to provide what 
the Arabs would have demanded in exchange for continued 
Jewish immigration and settlement. Even if all other condi-
tions had been favourable, the proposed terms of an agree-
ment were not attractive or workable. 

Three and a half years later, towards the end of the First 
World War, a variety of new circumstances would combine to 
push Zionists and Arabs once again towards talking about 
rapprochement. These talks form the subject of the next 
chapter. 



CHAPTER2 

Post- War Diplomacy, 1918-1920 

AFTERMATH OF WORLD WAR 11 

Although several informal Jewish-Arab meetings took place 
during World War I, uncertainty regarding the anticipated 
changes led both parties to behave with extreme caution. The 
next major round of contacts was to take place in the closing 
stages of the war, with the advent of British troops to the 
Middle East. This chapter and the following one will focus on 
the intense diplomatic activity of the period 1917-1922, 
mainly involving the emerging leader of the Zionist move-
ment, Dr Chaim Weizmann. We will deal with Zionist 
relations with the Amir Faisal, his brother Amir Abdallah, 
Palestinian notables, and Syrian nationalists. 

Before discussing the actual negotiations of the period, let 
us outline briefly some of the important changes in the 
Middle East situation at the close of the war. Most significant 
among these changes were the replacement of Turkey by 
Great Britain as the ruling power over Palestine, and the new, 
greatly inflated, expectations of both Jews and Arabs. Tur-
key's entry into the war on the side of Germany in 1914 
foreshadowed an all-out European penetration of the area. At 
the same time, the Decentralist Party in Cairo and the 
nationalist clubs of Beirut and Damascus saw new opportuni-
ties for the realization of their hopes for Arab autonomy or 
independence. British representatives in Cairo established 
secret contacts with Arab leaders-most notably with the 
Sharif of Mecca, Husain ibn Ali-and sought their aid 
in the form of an anti-Turkish revolt. In exchange, Britain 
committed herself to support some form of Arab "indepen-
dence" within defined areas. The exact terms of the under-

28 
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standing reached between Sir Henry McMahon (British 
High Commissioner to Egypt) and Husain-still a source of 
unresolved controversy among historians-were embodied in 
an exchange ofletters between July 14, 1915 and January 30, 
1916. In June 1916, what became known as the "Arab 
Revolt" was launched, and the Arabs became allies of the 
British in an anti-Turkish military campaign which was to 
result, two and one-half years later, in the expulsion of the 
Turks from the Arab Middle East. 

Meanwhile, by May 1916, Great Britain and her allies 
France and Russia had devised a plan for control and spheres 
of influence in the territories to be conquered from the Turks. 
Georges Picot and Mark Skyes were the French and British 
signatories to a soon-to-be-famous agreement which would 
have seen (a) direct French and British rule in what was later 
to become Lebanon and Iraq, respectively; (b) nominally 
"independent" Arab states under French and British spheres 
of influence in the future territories of Syria and Transjordan, 
respectively; and (c) Palestine under an international condo-
minium. 

A third major wartime commitment made by Great 
Britain-the Balfour Declaration-also involved Sir Mark 
Sykes, who lent his considerable influence and energy to 
Zionist lobbying for British support. Early in the war, 
Herbert Samuel, one of the most prominent Jews in British 
politics, had presented his cabinet colleagues with a plan for a 
British protectorate over and sponsorship of a Jewish national 
home in Palestine. Beginning in February 1917, meetings 
involving Sykes, Dr Chaim W eizmann and other leading 
British Zionists prepared the ground for the issuance, ten 
months later, of the Balfour Declaration, on November 2, 
1917. By its terms, Great Britain committed herself to using 
her "best endeavours" to facilitate "the establishment m 
Palestine of a national home for the Jewish people". 

Publication of the Balfour Declaration was timed to 
coincide with a major military offensive in the Middle East. 
General Allenby's troops moved through Gaza and north-
ward to capture Palestine south of a line drawn between Jaffa 
and Jerusalem. The General's entry into Jerusalem in 
December 1917 marked the beginning of the 31-month 
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military rule of Palestine under O.E.T.A.(S)-Occupied 
Enemy Territory Administration (South). In a second and 
final major offensive in September 1918, the northern part of 
Palestine was taken by British forces. On October 1, 1918 
Damascus to the east fell to a force of Australian and Arab 
units, the latter under the leadership of the Amir Faisal, third 
son of Husain of Mecca. The armistice signed by Turkey on 
October 30th marked the end of the war in the Middle East. 

ARAB-ARMENIAN -ZIONIST ENTENTE 

The post-war situation left Great Britain in control of former 
Turkish territory, and with both Arabs and Jews expecting 
British support for the speedy realization of their respective 
goals. Political discussions at the time were further complicat-
ed by the ascendancy of a new credo-the doctrine of 
national self-determination.2 Ideally, according to this doc-
trine, each recognized "nation" was entitled to be the master 
of its own destiny, and to enjoy statehood, sovereignty and 
national dignity in harmony with other recognized nation-
states. This principle, which has today become an "absolute" 
in international politics, was given strong American moral 
backing, and was expected to guide the post-war settlement. 
Both Arabs and Zionists presented their cases to the world in 
terms of this doctrine, and in the Middle East (as elsewhere) 
it was going to be difficult to justify any form of rule that was 
considered "foreign" or imposed against the will of the local 
inhabitants. 

Powers, great and small, soon adapted their activities and 
interests to the rhetoric of the new slogan. Sykes, at an early 
stage, had recognized the need to reconcile Arabs and Jews to 
each other's desires within the context of a British presence, 
and he even tutored Dr Weizmann to operate with this in 
mind. 3 Expanding his ideas to include Armenians, Sykes 
began promoting an "Arab-Armenian-Zionist Entente" soon 
after publication of the Balfour Declaration. Needless to say, 
a scheme in which native Middle Eastern peoples would be 
appearing before the Peace Conference unanimously in 
favour of a British presence in the area could only have 
reflected well on Great Britain and promoted her interests 
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vis-a-vis rival European powers.4 Supporting the slogan 
"Armenia for the Armenians, Judaea for the Jews, Arabia for 
the Arabs", Britain would be seeking to appear as the patron 
of the simultaneous and harmonious revivals of these three 
previously oppressed peoples. 

While Sykes was setting up an Arab-Armenian-Zionist 
committee in London, Sir Gilbert Clayton (Chief Political 
Officer) in Cairo was urged to do the same. Despite the 
latter's initial scepticism, both men used every opportunity in 
the winter of 1917-1918 to encourage Arabs and Zionists to 
consider mutual co-operation under the auspices of this 
three-sided entente.5 Although this intended alliance never 
became a real political force in the post-war settlement, the 
scheme was nevertheless an important channel through 
which Zionist and Arab representatives learned more about 
each other's intentions. More significantly, British support of 
the scheme eventually developed into the Weizmann-Faisal 
negotiations, which will be discussed later in this chapter 
(pages 36f). 

FIRST LOCAL CONTACTS: CAIRO AND PALESTINE 

In the wartime climate of uncertainty, the news of the 
Balfour Declaration was received with some apprehension in 
Arab political circles. This was especially true in Palestine, 
where the exuberance and inflated expectations of the local 
Jewish population (the yishuv) contributed to Arab uneasi-
ness. Anti-Zionism became a rallying cry and a focus for 
uniting Christian and Muslim elements of the local popula-
tion in branches of what soon became the "Muslim-Christian 
Association" (MCA).6 

The first major disappointment for the Jews in Palestine 
was the decision of the military authorities to prohibit official 
publication of the Balfour Declaration, a ban which was to 
remain in effect until after the San Remo Conference in April 
1920. This was part of a concerted effort on the part of 
O.E.T.A.(S) to dispel exaggerated Arab fears. The authorities 
encouraged, and expected, responsible Zionist leaders to assist 
them in pacifying and reassuring the Arab population that 
the true aims of Zionism did not include the three things 
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which the Arabs seemed to fear most, viz. (1) the immediate 
imposition of a minority Jewish government, (2) the expul-
sion of Arab inhabitants to make room for massive Jewish 
immigration, or (3) Jewish desecration of Muslim or Chris-
tian holy places. 7 

The burden of this public-relations campaign fell on 
members of the "Zionist Commission to Palestine" (Z.C.), a 
visiting delegation of Zionist representatives from several 
allied countries, conceived at the British Foreign Office as a 
body to advise the authorities in Palestine "in all matters 
relating to the Jews, or which may affect the establishment of 
a National Home for the Jewish people in accordance with 
the [Balfour] Declaration". Ranking fifth among the Z.C.'s 
seven enumerated tasks was "to help in establishing friendly 
relations with the Arabs and other non-Jewish communi-
ties".8 Dr Weizmann headed the Commission, which soon 
became the most authoritative Zionist body in Palestine, 
having its own departments parallel to those of the British 
administration.9 

The early diplomatic activities of die Z.C. followed the 
general spirit of the "Arab-Armenian -Zionist Entente", and 
included meetings with representative Arab leaders. In the 
attempt to dispel anxieties and pave the way for future 
co-operation, Weizmann and the Z.C. held Cairo talks with 
Faris Nimr, Sa'id Shuqair, Sulaiman Nasif, Kamil al-
Qassab, Abd ar-Rahman Shahbandar, Rafiq al-Azm and 
others. 10 These meetings were cordial enough, and some of the 
Arabs involved prepared a draft outline for "the desired 
policy of mutual understanding, co-operation and alliance 
between Palestinians and Zionists". 11 The main points of the 
plan were: (1) inviolability of the holy places; (2) " ... 
a system of government based on even-handed justice and 
equality of rights between the different elements irrespective 
of their comparative numbers ... "; (3) Arabic as the official 
language; (4) suspension of land sales until after the war; (5) 
establishment of a government agricultural loans bank; (6) 
framing of a law "similar to the Five Feddan Law in Egypt"; 
(7) "honest opportunity" for Zionists to purchase State lands, 
but leaving "a reasonable share to the other elements"; and 
(8) establishment of an arbitration commission of Muslims, 
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Christians and Jews to examine disputes and to promote 
co-operation. The Z.C. chose not to reply to the proposals, 
finding the terms "quite unacceptable even as a basis for 
discussion". The Zionists had their doubts about the motives 
and the status of the Arab personalities involved in the talks, 
but perhaps more importantly they recognized these terms as 
falling short of their expectations for the new regime.' 2 

Upon arriving in Palestine from Cairo, the Z.C. held 
formal and informal meetings with local leaders, including 
Kamil al-Husaini (then Mufti of Jerusalem), Musa Kazim 
al-Husaini (Mayor of Jerusalem until 1920; thereafter Presi-
dent of the Palestine Arab Executive), Ismail al-Husaini, Abd 
ar-Rauf Bitar, Amin Tamimi, al-Hajj Tawfiq Hamad, Shibli 
Jamal and others. 13 Despite the superficial cordiality shown in 
many (but not all) of these encounters, the contacts were 
hardly satisfying to either side. 14 

There is ample evidence of Zionist frustration in dealings 
with local Palestinian notables. During his first meeting with 
Kamil al-Husaini, Dr Weizmann found the Mufti "extremely 
guarded" and demonstrating a spirit "which was unyield-
ing"; the Zionist leader had asked the Mufti for a public 
fraternal message, but the latter "refused". Relations between 
the two men somewhat improved following the gift of a 
Quran (and, it was rumoured, a financial consideration); yet, 
one month later, Zionists found the Mufti taking a hard line 
during further discussions.15 

Even more revealing is the account of a later meeting 
involving another Zionist leader, Menahem U ssishkin, who 
became chairman of the Z.C. in late 1919. Almost immedia-
tely after his arrival in Jerusalem in October, Ussishkin paid 
courtesy visits to the Mufti and to the Mayor, Musa Kazim 
al-Husaini. In both cases Ussishkin reported his reception as 
being marked by "that superficial warmth so common in the 
East"; both conversations turned on a single point-"the 
'burning question' of Zionists, Arabs and their relations"; and 
both men, concluded Ussishkin, were leading opponents of 
theJews. 16 

Weizmann, U ssishkin and others had discovered for them-
selves one of the lessons learned during the pre-war period by 
Lichtheim (above, pages 25f.) and others: namely, that there 
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was an important distinction to be made between those Arabs 
residing in Palestine and those from Egypt, Syria or else-
where. The former were more difficult to deal with, and yet 
any agreement reached would ultimately have to win the 
approval of these "stubborn" localleadersY 

Zionist strategy was to adapt to this difficult situation by 
trying, in the first instance, to reach an understanding with 
non-Palestinians and then, with their help, hoping to convince 
the Palestinians to co-operate for the mutual benefit of all 
three elements. 18 Thus, Dr Weizmann would soon look to a 
possible entente with the Amir Faisal ibn Husain as a way to 
overcome the unpleasantness and the difficulties of negotiat-
ing directly with local Palestinian leaders. 

THE BRITISH FACTOR 

In interpreting these local encounters, as well as the 
Weizmann-Faisal meetings, we must not overestimate the 
seriousness with which each party took the other. For, it was 
usually with one eye fixed firmly on their British advisers that 
both Zionist and Arab spokesmen operated, with the know-
ledge that, ultimately, British "say" would prove more 
decisive than any "understanding" reached with the other 
party. 

Even though most British officials were pleased with 
Weizmann's first meetings with Arab representatives, Weiz-
mann himself was far from satisfied. He was especially 
annoyed with the stubbornness shown by local Palestinians, 
while expressing contempt for the "merely financial" interest 
shown by non-Palestinian landowners. After three weeks of 
talks, the Zionist leader turned on the British with complaints 
(which were to be echoed by Zionists for decades afterwards) 
that negotiations were greatly hindered by the fact that the 
British were not making it "clear" enough to the Arabs that 
Zionism was there to stay. "It is very desirable", Weizmann 
wrote to Balfour, 19 

that the Arabs of Palestine should be brought to realize the 
actual position and the intentions of the Government, and 
that this work of education can be carried out only by the 
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Authorities themselves. It is of no use for us to attempt it, 
mainly because the Arabs, so far as we can tell, are not in a 
frame of mind in which any explanations offered by us 
would receive serious attention. What is necessary is ... 
that it should be made perfectly clear to them that [the 
Balfour] declaration represents the considered policy of 
H.M. Government, and that it is their duty to conform to 
it. 

Whether this was an attempt to evade Zionist responsibility 
for facing Arab opposition head-on, it is clear that many Jews 
in Palestine were becoming increasingly suspicious of British 
attitudes and activities in perpetuating, or even exciting, 
Arab opposition, rather than actively disarming it. 

Whatever the justification for these suspicions, it is difficult 
to discuss Arab-Zionist negotiations without taking into 
account the British factor. Another example of British 
influence stems from the British position as intermediary. 
Much of the Arab-Zionist interaction of 1918-1920 was 
influenced by the fact that neither party was viewing the 
other directly, but rather through the eyes of its British 
advisers. Thus, Arab and Zionist perceptions of each other 
were very often coloured by British prejudices of one kind or 
another. Sykes' and Clayton's advice to Arabs who were being 
encouraged to support the "Arab-Armenian-Zionist Entente" 
held out the carrot of fabulous Jewish wealth, political 
connections and determination which, if properly treated, 
would have been shared with the Arabs in their search for 
international recognition and national renaissance. Similar 
images were conveyed to King Husain, in the Hogarth 
message which reassured him that the Balfour Declaration 
offered no cause for alarm.2° 

Zionists, likewise, learned from the British to regard the 
Arabs according to certain fixed stereotypes. Thus, for 
example, William Ormsby-Gore, while serving as British 
liaison officer attached to the Z.C., frequently expounded his 
contempt for the degenerate, "Levantinized" elements of 
Palestine and Western Syria, while romanticizing the "real 
men" of the desert. Zionists accepted and echoed his distinc-
tion between the "so-called Arabs of Palestine", on the one 
hand, who were "dishonest, uneducated, greedy, ... unpatriotic", 
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and the "pure" Arabs of the "real Arab national movement" 
under Faisal, on the other.21 

WEIZMANN-FAISAL NEGOTIATIONS 

Perhaps the most famous of all Zionist-Arab negotiations is 
the episode concerning Dr Weizmann and the Amir Faisal. It 
was their secret agreement of January 1919 which sought to 
harmonize the interests of Arabs and Zionists (and the 
British) at the Paris Peace Conference, and which might have 
become the basis of a long-term accord. 

The significance of the agreement, and the reasons why it 
was never fully consummated, have been the subject of much 
comment and interpretation. The standard Arab view is that 
Faisal was faithfully advancing nationalist aspirations 
throughout, and that any alleged agreement with the Zionists 
was-at best-based on misunderstandings and misinterpre-
tations, or-at worst-a product of British/Zionist pressure, 
deception and/or forgery.22 Most Zionists have viewed Faisal 
as a well-intentioned but weak leader, who fully understood 
the terms of his agreement with Dr Weizmann but who was 
unable to satisfy the Zionists largely because the Great 
Powers were unwilling to grant him full independence in 
Syria.23 The truth, no doubt, lies somewhere between these 
two extremes, although there is certainly enough ambiguity 
in the historical evidence to allow each of these one-sided 
interpretations to appear credible to its respective propon-
ents. 

In the remainder of this chapter, our purpose is to situate 
this episode in the context of the situation in Palestine, 
British-Arab-Zionist relations, and Anglo-French relations, 
with special emphasis on the motives of the two leaders and 
their ability to "deliver the goods" in an agreement. As 
suggested above (page 34), it was just at the point where Dr 
Weizmann was reaching a dead end in his talks with 
Palestinian Arabs that British plans for a meeting with Faisal 
(first suggested in February by Gen. Clayton) took shRpe. 
This offered Weizmann a convenient way out of the impasse 
which had been reached locally, and he proceeded to dismiss 
the "problem of our relations with the Palestinian Arabs" as 
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"an economic problem, not a political one", while looking 
forward to a "real political entente" with Faisal at their 
proposed first meeting in early June 1918.24 

Faisal, for his part, would soon be encouraged, both by his 
British advisers and by Weizmann himself, to look upon the 
Zionists as potential powerful allies. Although Faisal was 
extremely guarded at their first meeting, their British interp-
reter claimed that both leaders had understood quite clearly 
the lines of a future "exchange of services" and the mutual 
advantages to be expected. 25 This preliminary understanding 
was elaborated further in meetings held in London in 
December 1918 on the eve of the Paris Peace Conference and 
following the installation of Faisal's Arab administration in 
Damascus. 26 The terms of their agreement were ratified in the 
historic treaty dated January 3 1919.27 

Some of the short-term objectives of the Weizmann-Faisal 
agreement were easily put into effect during the Peace 
Conference. In his February 6th appearance before the 
Council of Ten, Faisal claimed full Arab independence, but 
was reported to have left the question of Palestine "on one 
side", in deference to its "universal character". 28 For his part, 
Dr Weizmann continued to argue, in their joint interest, for 
the abolition of the Sykes-Picot agreement. Rabbi Stephen 
Wise of the American Zionist delegation to Paris was able to 
arrange an interview for Faisal with President Woodrow 
Wilson. Still in the future lay the prospect that the soon-to-be 
independent Arab state would benefit from Jewish capital 
investment and loans.29 

Taken together, the British and Zionist records of their 
meetings and agreement would suggest that the interests and 
strategies of Weizmann and Faisal on the eve of the Paris 
Peace Conference were as follows: 30 

(1) Both Weizmann and Faisal felt their respective causes 
to be greatly dependent on British goodwill and diplomatic 
support. Both were prepared to go to great lengths to please 
their British patrons by signing the agreement, which was 
being encouraged by the energetic T. E. Lawrence. 

(2) Both leaders saw in the Sykes-Picot agreement a serious 
obstacle to the realization of their respective aims. By 
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reaching an accord of their own-under British guidance and 
inspiration-they might be helping to undo the objectionable 
Anglo-French agreement. (This would have coincided neatly 
with Britain's own attempts to evade fulfilment of that 
agreement.) 

(3) Weizmann, for his part, would have obtained the assent 
of the most prestigious Arab leader of the period to the terms 
of the Balfour Declaration and the exclusion of Palestine from 
the broader claims for an independent Arab state. In a 
practical sense, Faisal would have been called upon to use his 
influence to moderate the cries of the more militant elements 
in Damascus and in Palestine. 

(4) For the Arabs, Faisal would have obtained Zionist 
technical, organizational and financial support for his young 
administration, plus political/ diplomatic assistance from in-
fluential Zionists in Western capitals, especially in Paris, 
where difficulties were anticipated. 

(5) Faisal clearly saw his agreement with the Zionists as 
another weapon which would be needed to counter French 
pretensions to Syria-thus his important reservation that he 
would not "be bound by a single word" of the agreement 
should his demands for an independent Arab state not be 
granted. 

THE UNDOING OF THE WEIZMANN-FAISAL AGREEMENT 

February 1919 seems to have been the high-point of the 
usefulness and the credibility of the Weizmann-Faisal accord. 
Despite persistent Zionist hopes during the next year that the 
essentials of the agreement might still be put into effect, a 
series of internal and external contradictions began to under-
mine both men's ability to "deliver the goods" which each 
had promised. The March 1, 1919 letter from Faisal to Felix 
Frankfurter of the American Zionist delegation to Paris-
usually cited as an additional proof of the Amir's commitment 
to Jewish-Arab brotherhood and co-operation-must really 
be recognized as a dementi hastily extracted for the purpose of 
undoing some of the harm caused by Faisal's hostile com-
ments given in an interview to a French newspaper. 31 The 
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publicity given to this letter (the January agreement with 
Weizmann remained secret for several years) in turn 
provoked sharp Arab suspicion of the Amir, beginning a 
pattern which was to be repeated during the coming months. 
Several local Syrian and Palestinian leaders went on record as 
denouncing the concessions which Faisal appeared to be 
making to the Zionists.32 

In fact, within weeks of the signing of the Weizmann-Faisal 
agreement, members of Faisal's own entourage were already 
working at cross-purposes to the lines of its compromise. Awni 
Abd al-Hadi, a Palestinian nationalist then serving as Faisal's 
secretary in Paris, approached a member of the Zionist 
Delegation there in late January 1919. Reacting to the official 
Z.O. proposals to the Peace Conference, Awni explained that 
the Arabs were "troubled on the point of Zionist claims to 
British Trusteeship for Palestine as they believe[d] that such 
claim would strengthen the French claim for Trusteeship of 
Syria".33 What the Arabs really wanted, Awni claimed, was 
that "Syria should be an independent state under Arab rule", 
and that Jews and Arabs should "arrange matters between 
themselves in the most favourable way for both", i.e., putting 
aside the European powers. Within a proposed federation of 
Arab countries, he suggested, "all rights and liberties would 
be given to the Jews in Palestine on equal terms with the 
Arabs". The Zionist representative noted that such a scheme 
fell short of the Zionist programme, but promised to com-
municate Awni's views to Dr Weizmann. 

It is difficult to tell whether Awni was speaking unofficially 
for Faisal. In any event, no confederation scheme was 
formally proposed by Faisal to the Peace Conference. A 
reflection of the difficult position Faisal found himself in in 
Europe, the "Arab question" remained ambiguous enough 
for British, French and Zionists all to believe that Faisal 
would ultimately be able to harmonize his interests with their 
own. After Faisal's return to Damascus in the summer of 
1919, the ambiguities of his position persisted, leading one 
British intelligence officer to evaluate his agreement with 
Weizmann as being "nbt worth the paper it [was] written on 
or the energy wasted in the conversation to make it". On the 
other hand, he continued,34 
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if it becomes sufficiently known among the Arabs, it will be 
somewhat in the nature of a noose about Faisal's neck, for 
he will be regarded by the Arab population as a traitor. No 
greater mistake could be made than to regard Faisal as a 
representative of Palestinian Arabs ... ; he is in favour with 
them so long as he embodies Arab nationalism and 
represents their views, but would no longer have any power 
over them if they thought he had made any sort of 
agreement with Zionists and meant to abide by it. But it 
seems that he is capable of making contradictory agree-
ments with the French, the Zionists and ourselves, of 
receiving money from all three, and then endeavouring to 
act as he pleases. This is an additional reason why his 
agreement with Weizmann is of little or no value. 

Soon it became very difficult for Zionists to ignore the 
evidence of Faisal's inability to win his followers over to the 
proposed Zionist-Arab rapprochement. The Syrian Congress 
meeting in Damascus Ouly 2_1919) declared its opposition to 
"the pretension of the Zionists to create a Jewish common-
wealth in the southern part of Syria, known as Palestine", 
and to any "Zionist migration to any part of our country": 
"For we do not acknowledge their title but consider them a 
grave peril to our people from the national, economical, and 
political points of view". 35 Despite British satisfaction with 
Faisal's own moderation at this time, Dr Weizmann felt that 
the Amir's testimony before the King-Crane Commission was 
"not fair" and in flagrant violation of their understanding. 36 

When Faisal returned to Europe in the fall of 1919, he had 
considerably less room for manoeuvreY Once it became clear 
that the French expected the implementation of at least part 
of the Sykes-Picot provisions, the British, in effect, abandoned 
Faisal and Syria to French wishes. Weizmann and Faisal met 
again in London in September, but the Zionist diplomatic 
support once promised for the Arab cause amounted to 
nothing. Lacking British backing for the purpose, and 
themselves lobbying for French sympathy, Zionists were in no 
position to take up Faisal's claims against the French 
determination to occupy all of Syria.38 

In an interview with thejewish Chronicle of London in early 
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October 1919, Faisal had kind words for Dr Weizmann's 
"moderate" Zionist aims. But, when pressed by the inter-
viewer, he stated that he regarded Palestine not as an 
autonomous Jewish domain, but rather as a province of his 
future Arab kingdom.39 During one of several meetings sought 
by Zionists to obtain favourable "clarifications" to what they 
considered the "unfortunate impressions" left by this inter-
view, Awni Abd al-Hadi again spoke up for his version of 
Arab and Palestinian rights.40 He denounced the Balfour 
Declaration as a serious obstacle to Arab-Jewish understand-
ing, and "advised the Zionists, in their own interests to stop 
all talk of a Jewish Palestine": 

This manner of speech was very offensive to the Palestinian 
Arabs, who regarded Palestine as their country, having 
lived there for so many centuries .... Today the Jews were 
still in a very small minority, and it was to him unthinka-
ble that the Arabs could renounce their claim to Palestine 
in favour of the Jews. 

Completing his arguments, Awni further 

advised the Zionists in their own interests not to put blind 
faith in the British Government. He absolutely failed to 
understand why they had so much confidence in and 
friendship for Great Britain .... [T]he Zionists asked for the 
friendship of the Arabs, but what had they done for the 
Arab cause? 

In reply, the Zionist representatives proceeded to elabor-
ate the historical and contemporary reasons for their loyalty 
to Great Britain, and asked what sort of help Awni was 
seeking for the Arabs. Awni then repeated his earlier proposal 
that the Z.O. support a settlement of the Eastern question in 
which Palestine, Syria and Mesopotamia would be united in 
an "independent confederation with an Arab king, under the 
League of Nations", leaving only spheres of economic in-
fluence to England and France. The Zionists emphasized that 
this suggestion could "not be entertained for a moment" and 
reaffirmed their preference for a European-backed Zionist 
programme: 
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[T]he promise of a Jewish Palestine ... was made by all the 
Great Powers, and it was on the strength of that hope that 
the Jews would put forth all their energy and enthusiasm. 
If that hope were removed, ... the Near East would not be 
able to attract those Jewish elements [i.e., capital, technical 
expertise, etc.] which were indispensable. 

With these and other negative undercurrents to his deal-
ings with Europeans and Zionists, Faisal's ability to "say nice 
things" to the latter in public-as he had done in an 
interview with the London Times and in his letter to 
Frankfurte:r-41-was now reduced to almost nil. One of the 
reasons, as Faisal himself confessed to Nahum Sokolow, was 
his deference to "the feeling among Arabs in Palestine".42 In 
private, however, Zionists and Faisal kept up their cordial 
relations, maintaining the evident discrepancy "between 
Faisal's public utterances and his readiness to bargain with 
the Zionists behind the scenes-where he was safe from 
possible detractors". 43 

Faisal soon found himself unable to provide the Zionists 
with the requested calming influence over the mounting 
anti-Zionist campaign waged by the Palestinian Club and 
other nationalist circles in Damascus. In January 1919, Sir 
Mark Sykes had personally intervened to scold Damascus 
politicians not to interfere in Palestinian affairs;44 notwith-
standing his efforts, anti-Zionist agitation there increased 
throughout 1919 and the first half of 1920. Anti-Jewish riots 
and a general uprising were feared in March 1919; northern 
Palestine experienced insecurity and raiding in late 1919; 
peaceful demonstrations were followed by full-scale rioting in 
Jerusalem in the spring of 1920.45 

Whatever his earlier intentions regarding an agreement 
with the Zionists, Faisal was soon at the head of an 
anti-European and anti-Zionist wave of nationalist feeling in 
Syria and Palestine. In an attempt to pressure the European 
powers with a fait accompli, the Syrian Congress in early 
March 1920 proclaimed Faisal King of an independent and 
united Arab Kingdom, which included Palestine, and 
declared its strong opposition to Zionist aims.46 Most British 
reports during this period portrayed Faisal as a moderate 
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being swept along by radical forces, while Zionist reports 
indicated that the new King was still secretly hoping for 
Jewish financial and political support in the context of an 
Arab-Zionist agreement.47 

But it is difficult to believe that anyone could have 
seriously contemplated a successful Arab-Zionist agreement 
at this time. Despite British reports of Faisal's professions of 
continued friendship and of the likelihood of his not opposing 
the Jewish national home if certain concessions were granted 
to him, 48 Faisal's public pronouncements on the Zionist quest-
ion were categorical enough. He protested the appointment 
of Sir Herbert Samuel as first High Commissioner for Pale-
stine as a step leading to the formation of a "Jewish govern-
ment" there.49 He called for an Arab government in Palestine, 
to be linked with Syria in a decentralised relationship, with an 
end to Jewish immigration and land-purchase.5° For the 
purposes of "calming the people who [were] in a most agitated 
state of mind and spirit", he requested the British to issue a 
"satisfactory declaration" to the effect that no British-Zionist 
commitments stood in the way of Palestine being considered a 
part of greater Syria. And, as for the question of his alleged 
"acquiescence in the creation of a national home for Jews in 
Palestine", he explained in a letter to General Allen by: 

I believe there is some misunderstanding. All that I have 
admitted is to safeguard the rights of the Jews in that 
country as much as the indigenous Arab inhabitants are 
safeguarded and to allow them the same rights and 
privileges. 

The Arabs of Palestine, both Christians and Moslems, 
have repeatedly availed themselves of every opportunity to 
protest against any agreement or pledge that would make 
their motherland a national home for the Jews. 51 

Notwithstanding the "correctness" of Faisal's official pron-
ouncements on the Zionist question, Arab nationalist suspi-
cions were aroused by persisting ambiguities. Reacting to 
rumours that some Syrian officials were in fact holding secret 
talks with Zionists in June 1920 (cf. pages 67-8 below), a 
Palestinian representative in the Syrian Congress made the 
following declaration:52 
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in the future we will be unable to be silent and will not 
agree to Palestine's being sacrificed on the altar of [Syrian] 
independence .... The Government must deny the reports 
which have spread ... and deliver specific instructions to its 
emissaries to reject all the rumours connected with the 
Zionist question .... The Palestinians have been silent until 
now because of the honour of the Syrian state; but 
wretched Palestine has been devastated. 

Throughout this episode it was not only Faisal who proved 
unable to "deliver the goods" foreshadowed in the tentative 
agreement. Dr Weizmann, as we have noted, was unable to 
apply any pro-Arab pressure on the French; when one Zionist 
made the suggestion that American Jews might assist Faisal 
by influencing their government not to recognize the French 
claim to Syria, his idea was considered too dangerous to 
Zionist-French relations to be acted upon.53 The financial 
support anticipated by Faisal also came to naught. On the 
one hand, Zionist funds were not easily forthcoming for 
purely Zionist purposes in Palestine. Given its instability and 
bankruptcy, the declining Arab administration at Damascus 
offered little attraction for Jewish investors, who could not 
fail to notice the hardening anti-Zionist line which animated 
political circles there. 54 

The final act in the undoing of the Weizmann-Faisal 
agreement coincided with the French military advance and 
Faisal's downfall in the summer of 1920. Although Dr 
Weizmann seems to have been tempted momentarily to 
accept an invitation to meet with Faisal at this time, he was 
discouraged from doing so by a combination of several 
factors. It is likely that he was influenced by British advice 
that a visit to the independent Damascus regime might have 
implied "recognition", while his own personal appraisal 
could not have doubted Faisal's real impotence to carry out 
an agreement. At the same time, the decision of the powers at 
San Remo, which had accorded the Palestine Mandate to 
Great Britain under the terms of the Balfour Declaration 
(and the Syrian Mandate to France), was a major political 
victory for the Zionists; this, no doubt, made an agreement 
with Faisal seem less urgent than previously.55 
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When their one-time ally was expelled from Syria on July 
24, 1920 by the French, Zionists seemed relieved rather than 
disappointed. From their point of view, Faisal had proved 
incapable of providing a minimum of order and stability, 
whatever his intentions or goodwill; the arrival of the French, 
at the very least, would mean an improvement of the security 
situation in the north. The extent of Zionist sympathy for 
Faisal on his expulsion comes out clearly from the record of 
the meeting which took place in Haifa on August 6th between 
the deposed King and Dr M. D. Eder of the Z.C.56 Dr Eder 
took the opportunity to scold the Amir for having tried to be 
"too clever" and suggested that he might have been more 
successful with a "straightforward policy". Faisal, for his part, 
was already thinking ahead to his return to Syria and was 
enquiring about political support from Zionists in Western 
capitals, and from "the Jewish press, which was so powerful". 
Eder replied that any future collaboration would take place 
only on condition that Faisal (a) win uncontested recognition 
as the leader of "a united Arab nation, outside the limits of 
Palestine", (b) "use his influence with the Arabs to stay their 
anti-Zionist propaganda", anlfl (c) "recognize fully the Zionist 
influence in Palestine, stopping all cries of United Syria". 

On this note ended the famous Weizmann-Faisal negotia-
tions. Despite their ultimate failure, Dr Weizmann would 
look back, in 1930, to his relations with Faisal and describe 
them as "a landmark of the ground which has been lost in 
these ten years",57 Indeed, the unconsummated Weizmann-
Faisal agreement was to become a model for future Zionist 
suggestions for solving the Palestine problem, as well as a 
formative experience for Dr Weizmann's own personal diplo-
macy with Arab leaders.sa 

The episode was also valuable in providing some imme-
diate lessons in the processes of Arab-Zionist diplomacy: 

( 1) It underscored the distinction between the local Pales-
tinian, and the wider pan-Arab, dimensions of Arab-Zionist 
negotiations. 

(2) Given the tenuousness of the pan-Arab ideal, the 
inability of a single Arab leader to consolidate an effective 
leadership over all Arabs (including Palestinians), and the 
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"hard line" adopted by local Palestinian leaders on the 
Zionist question, there was little real chance for a successful 
Zionist-Arab "exchange of services" along the lines of the 
Weizmann-Faisal agreement. 

(3) Even if the above handicaps had been overcome, it was 
essential for any Arab-Zionist agreement to coincide with the 
interests and plans of the great powers in the area-i.e., both 
Great Britain and France at this time. Neither Arabs nor 
Zionists could be considered free bargaining agents. A major 
attraction of an agreement for Zionists and Arabs alike lay in 
the positive effect that each side felt an accord would have on 
its relations with one or both of the great powers. 

(4) Neither Arabs nor Zionists were really capable of 
providing what the other needed most at the' time. Just as 
Faisal had proven unable to "deliver" his part of the 
agreement, so too had Dr Weizmann. Both parties found that 
the European powers were the effective donors or withholders 
of what each was seeking. The Zionists wanted nothing less 
than the application of the Balfour Declaration policy to 
Palestine, while the Arabs sought a maximum degree of 
independence in most of the Fertile Crescent. Only the 
British and the French were in any position to assure these 
goals for either party. 

(5) In a sense, a full political entente between Arabs and 
Zionists was of incidental importance, both to the principal 
antagonists and to the great powers. The latter lent their 
support to the lofty ideal of an accord only when it was 
considered useful to their more urgent pursuits. 



CHAPTER3 

High-Level Meetings in the Early Twenties 

ANOTHER PALESTINIAN-ZIONIST ENCOUNTER 

As we have already noted, the first results of the post-war 
settlement announced at San Remo were much to the 
satisfaction of the Zionists, and hardly to the satisfaction of 
the Arabs, least of all to the Arabs of Palestine. Negotiation 
attempts in 1921-1922 were situated primarily in this context. 
Apart from the serious rioting of May 1921, Zionists were 
faced with the nuisance value of Arab opposition and the 
possibility that unfavourable Arab reaction might adversely 
affect the terms of the draft Mandate for Palestine, which was 
to receive final approval from the League of Nations in July 
1922. Lobbying for European support was thus accompanied 
by Zionist diplomatic activity aimed at disarming or muting 
Arab opposition, while the Arabs tried to use negotiating 
opportunities to reverse some of the gains of the new 
European mandatory powers and of the Zionists. 

The consolidation of Zionist success after San Remo 
seemed to be well under way when Sir Herbert Samuel was 
named Palestine's first High Commissioner (H.C.), putting 
an end to the military administration, whose relations with 
the yishuv had become strained to the breaking-point. 
Following Samuel's arrival in Palestine on June 30, 1920, 
significant improvements in the atmosphere were felt 
throughout the country, while the fall of the Arab regime in 
Damascus added to the new feeling of peace and security.1 By 
March 1921 Palestine appeared as the only Middle Eastern 
country where England had no worries. When the new 
Secretary of State for the Colonies, Winston Churchill, visited 
there, he received a memorandum from the Jewish community, 
expressing profound gratitude to Great Britain, singing 

47 



48 FUTILE DIPLOMACY 

the praises of Sir Herbert Samuel, and ringing with optimism 
about a peaceful and prosperous future. In contrast, the 
Executive Committee of the Arab Congress held in Haifa 
(December 1920), known as the Arab Executive (A.E.), 
presented a lengthy catalogue of Arab objections to the 
Jewish National Home policy on legal, historical, moral, 
economic and political grounds. Neither Mr Churchill nor 
the H.C. had any hesitation in dismissing the memorandum 
(inspired by "The Jewish Peril") as an exaggerated portrait of 
gloom and doom.2 

The rioting3 which erupted five weeks later (May 1st) in 
Jaffa and which spread to neighbouring settlements came as a 
shock to Jews and British alike, but especially to Sir Herbert 
Samuel. Samuel's reaction-based on a new conviction that 
the Zionists had to prove by their deeds (economic develop-
ment) and by their words (conciliatory statements) that they 
had no intention of harming Palestinian Arab interests-
quickly lost him the esteem of the Zionist camp, which looked 
upon him as lacking the backbone needed to stand up to 
Arab violence and political blackmail. 

Although it did heighten Zionist concern for, and produce 
deeper analyses of, their "Arab question",4 the crisis of 
May-June 1921 did not lead to any direct Arab-Zionist talks. 
As in the case of the previous rioting of April 1920 in 
Jerusalem,5 the aftermath of such an event was hardly the 
proper "psychological moment": any rapprochement, 
declared one Zionist observer, was "forbidden alike by Jewish 
self-respect and by Arab self-confidence".6 

Sir Herbert Samuel, aware of Zionist disappointment in his 
chosen policy of conciliation, nevertheless insisted that "Un-
less there [was] very careful steering it [was] upon the Arab 
rock that the Zionist ship may be wrecked." 7 Largely in 
response to this kind of urging, the Zionist Congress meeting 
in Carlsbad in September 1921 passed a resolution solemnly 
declaring its 

determination to live with the Arab people on terms of 
concord and mutual respect, and together with them to 
make the common home into a flourishing Common-
wealth, the upbuilding of which may assure to each of its 
peoples an undisturbed national development.8 
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Also in response to Samuel's pressure, a meeting was 
arranged between members of the Palestine Arab Delegation 
visiting London9 and Dr Weizmann of the Zionist Organisa-
tion (Z.O.) at the Colonial Office. Neither Weizmann nor 
Musa Kazim al-Husaini, who headed the Arab Delegation, 
seemed enthusiastic about the meeting, but neither was in a 
position to resist the pressures being exerted by the Colonial 
Secretary, Winston Churchill, and the Head of the C.O. 
Middle East Department, Sir John Shuckburgh. 10 

We have three sets of minutes of the meeting of November 
29, 1921, and all illustrate the frustrations and futility of the 
discussions." According to the British record, Dr Weizmann 
began his statement in a conciliatory tone, offering to discuss 
with the Arabs the two main points proposed by the British as 
a basis for discussion: (a) Arab fears of Jewish immigration, 
and (b) Arab fears of Jewish political ascendancy. He 
"professed to disregard all the events of the last six months 
[i.e., Jaffa riots] and the pin-pricks of earlier periods". 
Although the point could have had little, if any, positive 
effect on the Palestine delegation, Weizmann justified his 
position by recalling "that his views had been completely 
understood by the Emir Faisal and had been accepted by him 
as the representative of the Arab world". 

Musa Kazim, speaking for the Arab Delegation, seemed to 
ignore Dr Weizmann's statement, and went directly to an 
attack of the proposed British Mandate and the Balfour 
Declaration. It was as though he did not wish to recognize the 
Z.O. as a party to his dispute with Great Britain. Perhaps he 
was offended by Dr Weizmann's tone during the encounter, 
which was described by one British observer as "unfortun-
ate", as though he were "a conqueror handing to beaten foes 
the terms of peace". 12 Indeed, Weizmann's attitude was 
offensive enough to become legendary, and was recalled (forty 
years after the event) by Jamal al-Husaini in the following 
terms: 

Dr Ch. Veitzman [sic] said to the Delegation ... that they 
should better take heed of the power of the Jews. He said 
because Russians had pogroms against Jews, the Jewish 
people were able to destroy Russia and that anyone who 
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stands against their interests will similarly be destroyed. In 
protest against this threat, the delegation withdrew from 
the meeting. 13 

From the Zionist leader's point of view, the meeting had been 
"rather humiliating"; he saw the Arabs as being "in a very 
strong position" and "exceedingly well coached by their 
British advisers". 14 

Thus ended this rare British-sponsored meeting which 
aimed at a direct conciliation between Zionist and Palestin-
ian leaders. A few private meetings were subsequently held 
between Zionist representatives and individual members of 
the Arab Delegation who were considered to be more 
"moderate". Weizmann himself met with Mu'in al-Madi, 
while other meetings included one with Ibrahim Shammas, 
where a possible trade-off between the Arab demand for a 
"national government" and the Zionist insistence on non-
interference with immigration was considered. But none of 
these meetings produced any breakthrough to an accord on 
the proposed Mandate or the future constitution of Pales-
tine.15 

It seems that by this time the tactic of boycotting the 
Zionists was already a cornerstone of the Palestinian Arab 
approach. 16 This was reflected in (a) the firm and repeated 
rejection of the Balfour Declaration or any document (Pales-
tine Mandate, Palestine Constitution) which incorporated it; 
(b) the successful Arab boycott of the elections for the first 
Legislative Council (1922-1923); and (c) the rejection of the 
successive British proposals to create an Advisory Council 
(summer 1923) and an "Arab Agency" to be considered 
parallel to the jewish Agency (November 1923).1' 

The official Arab position at this time, as defined by the 
Haifa Congress resolutions of December 1920, included the 
annulment of the Balfour Declaration and the creation of a 
representative "national government". 18 There was no possi-
ble deal with the Zionists, on terms acceptable to the latter, 
which could have helped to advance these goals. The 
Palestine Arab Delegation left London in mid-1922 after 
rejecting the new Statement of British Policy (Churchill 
White Paper, June 1922) and, subsequently, the Mandate 
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approved by the League ofNations.19 The Zionists, on the other 
hand, accepted these two documents as the basis of continuing 
their activities in Palestine, and turned increasingly to the 
British for sympathetic implementation of their obligations to 
the Jews, if need be without the desired Arab assent.2° 

EARLY RELATIONS WITII AMIR ABDALLAH 

At this stage there appeared to be no common ground on 
which Zionist or Palestinian leaders could meet with a view to 
a political entente. Meetings such as the last one described no 
doubt confirmed the Zionist tendency to put aside the 
Palestinians as a political factor in favour of "pan-Arab" 
diplomacy. Since 1918, Zionist Arab policy seemed to prefer 
maintaining social and economic relations with certain 
amenable Palestinian Arabs, while shunning any political 
dealings with M.C.A. or Haifa Congress leaders-i.e., boycot-
ting, in effect, a significant sector of the local leadership. This 
tactic neatly complemented the weapon being perfected by 
the latter Palestinian leaders, to produce the now-familiar 
pattern of mutual non-recognition. 

Happily for the Zionists, relations with Arab leaders 
outside Palestine had not yet reached this point, and in the 
post-war period important talks were held with Abdallah Ibn 
Husain, as well as with Syrian nationalists. While Zionists 
had foresaken Faisal's sinking ship in 1920, they were 
nevertheless reluctant to abandon completely the quest for 
good relations with the "one great leader" who could be 
considered representative of the Arab world as a whole. As 
early as November 1919, Dr Weizmann had come to the 
conclusion, on the basis of his experience with Faisal, that the 
"main difficulty" in the Arab question was "the fact that 
there [was] no responsible head of the Arab nation with 
whom one can deal".21 Other Zionists shared this view, which 
implied that an agreement with the Arabs was dependent less 
on their own willingness or on the possible terms, than on 
internal conditions within the Arab world. In order for any 
negotiations to succeed, Zionists felt, the Arabs would have to 
present a common front under a single, undisputed leader 
whose diplomacy was unlikely to be repudiated.22 
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While on several occasions (1922, 1925 and 1930) Dr 
Weizmann did entertain some hope of reviving his "exchange 
of services" with Faisal, who became King of Iraq in 1921,23 
more serious attention was soon devoted to Abdallah, Faisal's 
elder brother, who was installed in Transjordan by Winston 
Churchill in March 1921. Contacts which began later that 
year were to continue until Abdallah's assassination by a 
Palestinian in July 1951. By looking at the early phases of 
Zionist-Abdallah relations, it is not difficult to see a resemb-
lance to the Weizmann-Faisal episode, both in terms of the 
mutual expectations and the seeds of failure. 

The creation in 1922 of the Emirate of Transjordan, 
separate from Palestine west of the Jordan River and 
excluding the application of the Jewish National Home 
provisions of the Mandate, was a blow to all Zionists. But, 
ironically, it gave them and the Amir Abdallah a common 
interest: the reunification of Transjordan with western Pales-
tine-although each party had a distinctly different vision of 
the nature of the reunited country. For Abdallah it was to be 
the first step toward his dream of ruling a united Arab 
kingdom which would include Syria, Transjordan, Palestine 
and lraq. 24 For Zionists it was to be a return to the original 
scope of the land "promised" at the time of the Balfour 
Declaration. 

Abdallah's ambitions were evident when, in late October 
1921, he made friendly overtures to Zionist representatives in 
Palestine, seeking a loan and helping to spread rumours that 
the French might consider having him rule at Damascus. The 
suggestion was made that if the Zionists would help him win 
French approval, then the Amir would be "well disposed" to 
Zionism in Palestine. Zionists expressed relief when nothing 
came of these "fantastic" rumours.25 

A year later Abdallah travelled to London to negotiate a 
new treaty with Great Britain. While in London, the Amir 
held at least five secret meetings with Dr Weizmann. 
Although the precise details of these talks are not known,26 it 
seems likely that the two leaders explored the possibility of 
Zionist financial assistance for Transjordan, and Abd~llah's 
recognition of the Jewish National Home in exchange for his 
becoming the ruler of a reunited Palestine. 
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The Weizmann-Abdallah talks appear to have been preli-
minary only, but once word had leaked out that they had 
taken place, both leaders found themselves facing strong 
internal criticism. A number of Palestinian leaders found this 
the first of many occasions to suspect the motives and 
manoeuvres of their new Hashemite neighbour, who seemed 
all too willing to advance his own personal projects at their 
expense.27 On the Zionist side, rumours of Abdallah's "expan-
sionist" ambitions caused much alarm.2s Suspicion, hostility 
and cries of "sell-out" were directed at Dr Weizmann when 
press reports implied that official Zionist circles favoured a 
strong Arab state under Abdallah. David Ben-Gurion led the 
critics of this "secret diplomacy", declaring that only a 
Zionist Congress was empowered to take such an important 
step; Dr Weizmann, he warned, having already "failed once 
with Faisal ... must be careful not to do the same this time" 
with Abdallah.29 In defence of Weizmann's position, Col. 
F.H. Kisch of the Palestine Zionist Executive (P.Z.E.) ex-
plained that, in all their' negotiations, Zionist leaders were 
insisting on terms which would leave Palestine one day 
"qualitatively and quantitatively Jewish". As for their atti-
tude to Arab unity proposals, Kisch saw "diplomatic 
sympathy" as a small price to pay for the likely advantages of 
Arab goodwill and, in British eyes, "the credit for having 
shown ... good-will towards the Arabs" ,3o 

Whatever had been Weizmann's first assessment of the real 
possibilities of a deal with Abdallah when they talked in 
October 1922, the Zionist leader had reached a decidedly 
negative conclusion following a visit to Palestine. It was, he 
reported in February 1923, "very doubtful whether the Emir 
carries any weight in Palestine or even in Trans-Jordania 
itself, and whether his promises and guarantees do represent 
an asset of any real value". Furthermore, Dr Weizmann was 
forced to admit that "Jewish opinion in Palestine and in the 
World generally ... would no doubt resent such a project", 
i.e., Abdallah enthroned over a reunited Palestine. 31 Despite 
the fact that British officials were never attracted to the idea,32 
the rumour-mill periodically suggested that Abdallah was on 
the verge of winning British support for his reunification 
scheme,33 which had the predictable effect of exciting 
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Jewish suspicion of British intentions and accusations of lack 
of vigilance directed against their own leaders. 

In their future dealings with Abdallah, Zionists would 
often find the Amir's dream of reuniting Palestine lurking 
behind his friendly smile. But, owing to Jewish public opinion 
and the uncertain authority of the Amir, there were no 
further serious negotiations with Abdallah until the 1930s. 
Good relations were continued, however, on an informal, 
non-political basis, marked by ceremonial visits and ex-
changes of friendly greetings,34 and undaunted by the occa-
sional anti-Zionist public statements by the Amir.35 

SYRIAN NATIONALISTS 

Although the Zionist leadership would have much preferred 
to deal with a single respected Arab leader, they could not 
afford to exclude other options, such as lesser politicians or 
nationalist circles. While a number of overtures were easily 
sidestepped once the status or motives of the Arabs proved 
doubtful, there was one group which in 1922 appeared 
worthy of serious consideration and Dr Weizmann's personal 
attention. In November 1921, while the Palestine Arab 
Delegation was in London, meetings were arranged between 
Dr W eizmann and Riad as-Sulh, the exiled son of a former 
minister in Faisal's Damascus government and a future Prime 
Minister of the Lebanon. Riad was also a personal friend of 
two yishuv activists, H.M. Kalvaryski and Ittamar Ben-Avi 
(editor of the paper, Doar ha-Yom), and had hoped to serve as 
a go-between for talks between Palestinians and the Z.O. in 
London.36 While failing to serve any useful function between 
the two principal antagonists, Riad did take part in private 
discussions with Dr Weizmann, James de Rothschild and 
Ittamar Ben-Avi.37 

The basis for these discussions was a document drafted by 
Ben-Avi, entitled "Proposed Arab-Jewish Entente"38 and 
framed in the spirit of the recent "common-home" resolution 
passed by the Zionist Congress (page 48, above). The pro-
posed entente had the following provisions: (1) an endorse-
ment and interpretation of the Balfour Declaration; (2) equal 
recognition of Jewish and Arab nationalities in Palestine, 
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with respect for minority rights in mixed areas; (3) support 
for the development of self-government; (4) the gradual 
introduction of native Palestinians into all but the highest 
civil service posts; (5) Jewish immigration limited only by the 
economic absorptive capacity of the country; (6) a law of 
citizenship and nationality; (7) Zionist "moral and material 
support" for Arab states and "the Arab people in its efforts to 
realize its legitimate national aspirations", with Arab support 
for the Jews in establishing their national home; (8) mutual 
respect for religious rights, customs and holy places; and (9) 
Arab participation in Zionist economic undertakings in 
Palestine. 

Everyone seemed pleased with the draft, with the exception 
of Riad's desire to include a clause specifically repudiating 
any future Jewish state. Dr Weizmann preferred to "let 
sleeping dogs lie", and suggested that Riad reconsider his 
reservations. Contacts were resumed in Cairo in March 1922, 
with Dr Weizmann unable to attend. The Zionist delegation 
was headed by Dr Eder of the P.Z.E., and included Baron 
Felix de Menasche (an Egyptian banker) and Ascher Saphir 
(Ben-A vi's colleague on Doar ha-Yom). Riad as-Sulh was joined 
by Rashid Rida (above, p. 17), Kamil al-Qassab and Emile 
Khouri, who represented themselves as the Executive Com-
mittee of the "Syrian Union Party". 39 

The Arab and Zionist negotiators opened their March 18th 
meeting by recognizing each other as "a power with whom it 
was highly desirable and particularly useful to reach com-
plete understanding". The Arabs went further to accept the 
Jews as a "nation, originating in the East ... historically 
related to the Arabs", and as "the agents of the external 
civilisation of which the Arabs are in need". The Arabs 
suggested that neither party should invoke the Balfour 
Declaration or the McMahon-Husain correspondence, but 
insisted that "Arabs andJews must discuss today, as nation to 
nation, make mutual concessions and must recognize one 
another's rights". They also made it clear that "it was not 
their intention to ask the Jews to declare themselves against 
any foreign power". 

In reply to the Arabs' opening statement, the Jews set out 
their position clearly. What they required was: 
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( 1) Peace and tranquillity in Palestine. 
(2) The cessation of all hostilities against the immigration 
and settlement of the Jews in Palestine, within the scope of 
the economic capacity of the country. 
(3) The cessation of anti-Jewish propaganda by the Arab 
press and the Arab Committees in Palestine [i.e., the 
M.C.A.] and abroad [i.e., the Palestine Arab Delegation]. 

In exchange for this, the Jews will place at the service of 
the Arabs all the resources of a political, economic and 
propaganda nature which are at their command. In a 
word, they will collaborate sincerely with the Arabs 
towards the realisation of the final object .... 

This "final object" was given the following definition during 
the second day of talks: 

Complete independence of the Arab countries, with Pales-
tine as the Jewish National Home where Jews and Arabs 
will constitute a Palestinian national unit with equality of 
rights and obligations. Jewish culture and civilization will 
develop freely in Palestine for the common good. 

Discussion then turned to the guarantees which each party 
would require, and the proof of the authority of each to sign 
and execute an agreement. 

It is easy to understand the attractiveness of the proposed 
entente, particularly for the Jews. Dr Eder, reporting to Dr 
Weizmann on these meetings, was fired with new hope for an 
honest and far-reaching accord with the Arab world. He 
regarded the proposed exchange of services as similar to the 
Weizmann-Faisal agreement. The Jewish delegates were im-
pressed with the sincerity of the Arab representatives, and 
obviously flattered to be negotiating as "equal nations". 
"They would like us to recognize the Arabs as the power in 
the Near East", wrote Eder, "and receive a Balfour Declara-
tion from them." Finally, Eder was pleased that the entente 
under consideration was "on [the] lines of [the "common-
home"] Congress resolution-which did not call for Jews 
alone in Palestine".4o 

Three lessons of the Faisal affair were quickly apparent to 
those who were subsequently informed of the secret talks. 
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Eder himself immediately raised two questions with regard to 
the Arab committee: "Will Palestine [Arabs) recognize 
them?" and "Can they deliver the goods?" Other Zionists 
raised a third, and perhaps more decisive, question: Would 
an agreement with this group be compatible with Zionist 
loyalty to British and European interests in the Middle East? 

At the March 26th meeting of the P.Z.E.,41 no one 
expressed outright hostility to continuing the talks, but all 
were emphatic on the need to ascertain very carefully how 
"representative", responsible and sincere these Arabs were. 
Dr Arthur Ruppin (p. 11 above), while welcoming the new 
orientation as corresponding to his own views, was nevertheless 
opposed to signing any specific agreement: 

if the Arabs wished to make use of this diplomatic step for 
their own ends ... , then the whole thing would be not only 
valueless, but actually fraught with danger, for we would 
under such circumstances not only not get the sympathy of 
the Arabs, but we would most likely lose the confidence of 
the British .... 

David Yellin, one of the few yishuv leaders to be taken into 
the confidence of the P.Z.E. on these talks, felt "doubtful 
about" the Arab representatives for a very specific reason: 

The Palestinian Arabs had not wished to start these 
negotiations fearing that they would have to make compro-
mises. The Arabs in Mesopotamia, Syria, Egypt could 
achieve some positive results with the support of the Jews 
and were not afraid of losing anything. It was therefore 
necessary, before coming to a decision, to find out to what 
extent these Arabs could wield influence upon the Arabs of 
Palestine. 

After receiving Dr Weizmann's approval,42 the Cairo talks 
were resumed on April 2nd. At this meeting the Zionist 
representatives pressed the Arabs for more specific proofs of 
their authority to speak on behalf of the Arab world; for the 
inclusion of a Palestinian in future talks; and for a renewed 
assurance that the proposed entente would be consistent with 
"a policy of friendship towards the Great Powers". In reply, 
the Arab delegates willingly offered to provide all necessary 
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documents to prove their authority, and referred the jews to 
their explicit assurances already given on the question of the 
Great Powers. But they rejected the Zionist suggestion for 
altering "the constitution of our Executive", i.e., for the 
inclusion of a Palestinian. In a personal message to the April 
4th meeting, Dr Weizmann (who was then in Rome) invoked 
his own negotiations with Faisal as proof of his desire to 
collaborate with the Arabs and expressed his eagerness to sign 
a suitable agreement as soon as possible. A Joint Commission 
was to continue meeting to work out details, and the 
delegates parted amid words of mutual esteem and good-will. 

COLLAPSE OF TilE CAIRO TALKS 

Zionists were thus continuing the Cairo talks, but with some 
uneasiness on at least three points: (a) uncertainty as to the 
authority and influence of the Arab negotiators; (b) the 
unwillingness (or inability) of their negotiating partners to 
invite Palestinian representatives into the discussions; and (c) 
concern about endangering the Zionist-British connection. 
The lack of Palestinian involvement may well have reflected 
the Syrians' wish to avoid a scandal; for, indeed, when word 
of the talks subsequently leaked out, the Haifa newspaper, 
al-Karmil, reacted violently:43 

There is a group of Syrian Arabs who believe that 
moderation on the problem of Palestine will evoke the 
affection of Britain and the Zionists with respect to the 
problem and especially the Syrian problem. . . . Any-
one who thinks that the sacrifice [of Palestine] is likely to 
help save another spot is suffering from a repugnant brain 
disease and should stay out of the world of Arab politics 
until he gets well. 

But the most serious reservations held by the Zionists were 
related to their "British connection". None of the Zionist 
leaders doubted for a moment that some form of "green 
light" from the Colonial Office would be indispensable for the 
continuation of the Cairo talks.44 While there seemed to be 
some justification for optimism after initial consultations with 
British officials in Jerusalem and Rome,45 subsequent advice 
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from Sir John Shuckburgh at the Colonial Office effectively 
dampened the original Zionist enthusiasm for the proposed 
entente. In a personal and private letter to Dr Weizmann, 
Shuckburgh explained the reasons why he "felt very dubious 
about the whole business". These reasons included the 
questionable status of the Arab representatives, and the 
distinct possibility of arousing French criticism and wider 
European resentment: "There would be much talk of a Jewish 
intrigue to rob the Western powers of the fruits of victory."46 

From Jerusalem, too, came Chief Secretary Wyndham 
Deedes' more pointed analysis of the anti-European dimen-
sions of the talks: 

If England could be represented as secretly encouraging 
the Jews to co-operate with those who desire to be quit of 
French rule in Syria, it may be hoped, by these Syrian 
Nationalists, that a breach between England and France 
might be effected and, consequently, that French and 
English co-operation and mutual support in regard to local 
Nationalist movements may be weakened. 

As for Zionist interests (with which he was sympathetic), he 
felt that these were "unlikely to concern [the Syrians] very 
deeply except insofar as [they] may be made temporary use 
of in the attainment ofwhat is sought".47 

Largely as a result of such warnings, Eder was soon given 
the order to "temporise" as much as possible, and by June 
1922 the negotiations had reached a standstill. Although he 
was most unhappy about the reasons for the suspension, Eder 
was of course aware that the contradiction between European 
and Arab interests was becoming a serious one. He himself 
admitted that the Syrians "intend[ ed] to do everything to 
make the French Mandate difficult to obtain", and as part of 
their mutual understanding he had seen no objection to the 
Arab suggestion that the Zionists abstain from supporting any 
Mandate other than the one for Palestine.48 

But the mere fact of maintaining contact with these Arabs 
was beginning to put the Zionists in the anti-French "camp", 
and a choice soon had to be made. In spite of his commitment 
to a global Zionist-Arab agreement, Dr Weizmann felt 
emphatically that "on no account" could the Zionists do 
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anything which might be interpreted as anti-French.49 Thus, 
by June 1922, the openly anti-French propaganda of the 
Syrians had the effect of forcing the Zionists to keep their 
distance. 50 

Once again, Zionists found themselves caught between 
maintaining their "British (and/or French) connection" and 
responding to overtures from the Arab side. The situation in 
the summer of 1922 recalled the Zionists' talks with Awni 
Abd al-Hadi in 1919 (above, pp. 39£). The final nail in the 
coffin of the Cairo talks came from Nahum Sokolow. Then in 
the United States, Sokolow had been kept informed of the 
progress of Dr Eder's negotiations. His correspondence reveals 
the same ambivalence expressed by Dr Rupin and others. 
While warning of the anti-European implications of the talks, 
Sokolow nevertheless encouraged Eder to "use every oppor-
tunity for talking friendly with the Arabs", but without being 
"too hasty" about signing agreements. 51 He well appreciated 
that any public Zionist support for the French mandate over 
Syria would be considered by the Arabs as "an act of 
hostility". 

But Sokolow soon found that ratification of the French 
Mandate was "an indispensable condition for the confirma-
tion of the Palestinian Mandate." By mid-July, press reports 
reached Palestine describing Sokolow's active role as a 
lobbyist in the U.S. on behalf of the French claim to Syria. Dr 
Eder cabled for an official denial of the report, which had 
produced "fresh unnecessary ill-feeling" among the Arabs 
with whom he was still in contact. He subsequently reported 
angrily on the "very disastrous" results which Sokolow's 
American activities had had in Palestine. 52 

Despite the suspension of these talks in summer 1922, Dr 
Weizmann did resume contact with Riad as-Sulh and others 
in December, while Kalvaryski and Saphir held other meetings 
with Ihsan al-Jabiri, Shakib Arslan, Habib Lutfallah and 
others in Europe. 53 But the same three drawbacks encountered 
in earlier talks-viz., uncertain ability of the Arabs to 
"deliver the goods", exclusion of Palestinians, and Zionist fear 
of alienating British opinion-were still present. "In any 
case", comments Ben Halpern, "by the end of 1922 the 
division of the Middle East into distinct political entities was 
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too final an act for Jewish-Arab negotiations to be conducted 
with a view to reversing it." In Professor Halpern's analysis, 
there were a number of clear-cut reasons for the failure of the 
1922 negotiation attempts: 54 

If the creation of a federal Arab state, covering both the 
French and British mandated territories, were to be a 
condition of Arab acceptance of the Jewish national home 
[cf. page 56, above]-as it had been in the case of the 
Faisal-Weizmann agreement-it was a condition that the 
Jews had no power to meet. On the other hand, the Jews 
could hardly accept the suggestion that they abandon legal 
titles like the Balfour Declaration and the Mandate ... for a 
still-to-be-defined title to Jewish autonomy in Palestine 
that depended on Arab success in establishing a single 
federal state from Palestine to Mesopotamia. Finally, the 
authority of the Arab negotiators to speak for a united 
pan-Arab national movement was not beyond question. 



CHAPTER4 

Grass-Roots Contacts during the Twenties 1 

Mter the initial flurry of postwar Arab-Zionist negotlatwn 
attempts, the confirmation of the Mandate brought a halt to 
any further efforts to tackle any large political questions. 
Neither the Arabs nor the Zionists had it in their power to 
provide what the other was really after. The Palestinian 
Arabs' campaign to subvert, or at least freeze, the implemen-
tation of the Jewish National Home policy confined itself to 
protests and pressure directed at the British authorities and 
the League of Nations Mandates Commission. For their part, 
the Zionists now concentrated their efforts on obtaining from 
the British a firm attitude toward any possible unrest, and a 
sympathetic approach to Zionist immigration, land-purchase 
and settlement. With the Arabs it now appeared sufficient for 
Zionists to have "normal", friendly day-to-day relations in an 
atmosphere of peace and prosperity, while touchy political 
issues would be best left to one side. The Arabs, too, found 
limited intercourse with the Jews tactically or materially 
useful. 

Given the absence of official Zionist-Arab negotiations after 
1922, an examination of the grass-roots contacts during the 
1920s may help to shed additional light on the nature and 
quality of Arab-Jewish relations in Palestine. For the Zionists, 
this lower-level "diplomacy" often had very practical pur-
poses. 

(1) «Preventive Diplomacy". For the Zionists, the violence of 
April 1920 and May 1921 gave rise, predictably, to height-
ened concern for hag ana and for a firmer attitude on the part 
of the British. But, beyond this, contacts with Arabs in 
Palestine and in the neighbouring countries were also consi-
dered important for the purposes of better "public-relations" 
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and, more urgently, intelligence-gathering.2 Such contacts 
usually fell short of full-fledged "negotiations" with authori-
tative Arab spokesmen, but even political negotiations were 
sometimes seen as a device for forestalling an expected 
calamity.3 

(2) Press and "Public-Relations" Work. Another frequent 
Zionist motive for contacts in the 1920s was the work of 
gathering signatures on petitions ("mazbatas") in support of 
Zionism. These signatures were obtained from villages for 
small sums, and were then used for external propaganda to 
show that the Arab population was not unanimously hostile 
to the Zionist presence in Palestine.4 In the struggle for a 
favourable public image inside Palestine itself, Zionists found 
themselves attempting to counteract hostile newspaper com-
mentaries by encouraging the appearance of "friendly" or 
"moderate" Arab statements on the Zionist question.5 After 
more than eight years of direct (and frustrating) experience, 
Col. Kisch of the P.Z.E. described the situation as follows: 6 

This is a simple matter of money. No single Arabic paper 
pays its way and all are subventioned from one hostile 
source or another. Whatever else we may do for improving 
relations, ... the first essential is that we should stop this 
incitement wherever we can, and the way to stop it is to 
acquire an interest in as many of the papers as possible by 
a contribution to their monthly budget. This is a perfectly 
legitimate step-in fact I think that to neglect it is a crime. 
With the regular expenditure of £100 a month, the whole 
tone of the Palestinian press would be changed. 

If only such funds were made available to him, Kisch argued, 
he felt sure he could get "results". 

Such results would not only mean the reduction of 
incitement to crime, and consequently less crime, but 
would also make it much easier for well-disposed Arabs to 
favour reconciliation and understanding. 

But, even when the required funding was available, the 
subsidizing of editors or writers almost never brought satisfac-
tory, enduring results.7 

Another project which was designed to contribute to good 
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relations with the Arab population was the sharing of Jewish 
medical services with neighbouring Arab villages. Gratitude 
and respect were the expected rewards, and this helped to 
cement good social and economic relations, but only so long 
as thorny political questions were kept to one side. Likewise, 
Hadassah medical work and anti-malarial efforts had a 
positive effect. Suggestions were often discussed in Zionist 
circles for the extension of Jewish credit, social or educational 
facilities to Arab friends, or for involving individual Arabs in 
specific Jewish economic undertakings. 8 

(3) Support for Arab «Moderates". Beginning with the 
premise that the vast unorganized majority of the Arab 
population was a neutral factor subjected almost exclusively 
to the "negative" influence of political agitators, Zionists 
quickly saw the need to devote special efforts to winning the 
friendship of this neutral factor. What was required, it was 
felt, was that the Zionists and the Government should provide 
the proper organizational tools and political support for the 
creation of a party or association which would make its 
"positive" influence felt in Palestinian politics.9 

During the 1920s, the P.Z.E. attempted to create and/or 
support three such parties: the Muslim National Association 
(M.N.A.), the Palestine Arab National Party and several 
regional "Farmers' Parties". 10 These organizations suffered 
from many liabilities, chief among which were: (a) their 
reliance on Zionist funds, which were not always available in 
ample supply; (b) the widespread public knowledge that they 
had been "established largely owing to Jewish influence";" 
(c) the failure of the British authorities to show these groups 
any signs of favour 12 (largely owing to (a) and (b)); and (d) 
the dubious level of dedication of their members to the ideal 
of Arab-Zionist co-operation. Despite much Zionist fostering, 
none of these associations emerged as a strong "Moderate 
Party" capable of dominating the local political scene and of 
destroying, once and for all, the power of the "extremists". 
Instead, Zionists had to measure the success of such ventures 
in terms of the fact that the activities of the "extremists" were 
devoted to "defending themselves against the ["moderate"] 
party rather than attacking us." 13 Indeed, from late 1923 
onwards, the hold of the Muslim-Christian Association 
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(M.C.A.) over the Palestine Arab community was visibly 
weakened, owing mainly to internal feuding with rivals, 
many of whom had received moral and material support 
.from the P.Z.E. 

LOCAL ZIONIST PROPOSALS FOR AN AGREEMENT 

As we have indicated above, local contacts initiated by 
Zionists were usually of a limited or defensive variety, aiming 
chiefly at keeping Arab animosity from developing too far, 
but without attempting to define the terms of a specific 
entente to be signed by the recognized leaders of each side. 
There were, however, exceptions to this rule, and our 
discussion of four exceptional cases will reveal several 
difficulties which would recur throughout the Mandate 
period: (a) the problems associated with appealing to the 
so-called "materialistic instincts" of the Arabs; (b) the official 
Zionist leadership's difficulty in controlling the unauthorized 
peace attempts of persistent individuals; and (c) the limited 
nature of even the short-term benefits which either side could 
offer to the other. With respect to the latter, the situation was 
already like the one which Arthur Ruppin was to describe in 
1931: "What we can get (from the Arabs) is of no use to us, 
and what we need we cannot get from them." 14 

I. Let us begin with a detailed account of one of the few 
far-reaching attempts to reach a global agreement. In July 
1919, H. M. Kalvaryski outlined before the Vaad Zmani (V.Z.: 
Provisional Council of the Jews of Palestine) a seven-point 
plan. Kalvaryski sought that body's official endorsement of 
the plan, which he had already begun discussing with Arab 
notables in Syria and Palestine. 15 

His Programme for an Arab-Jewish Entente-which was 
the first of several similar versions he was to elaborate over 
the next twenty years-contained a faint embryo of later 
"hi-nationalist" proposals, starting from the premises of Jews 
and Arabs being semitic kin and of Palestine being the 
homeland of all its inhabitants, whether Muslim, Christian or 
Jewish. Free Jewish immigration and the principle of a Jewish 
National Home were to be recognized by the Arabs, in 
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exchange for the opening up of Jewish economic and other 
institutions (under Arab suspicion of being "exclusivist") to 
all members of the population. Hebrew and Arabic were to 
be taught as compulsory languages in state-run schools, and 
civil-service recruitment would favour bilingual candidates.t6 

Several V.Z. members were quick to pounce on the obvious 
contradictions between this programme and the yishuv's own 
"National Demands". 17 Some reacted sharply to the criticism, 
expressed or implied by Kalvaryski and his supporters, that 
the Jews were treating (or might treat) the Arabs unjustly in 
the pursuit of Zionist aims. Several speakers saw in this an 
"exaggerated" concern for Arab interests and a corresponding 
weakening of the Jewish national position, and they replied to 
Kalvaryski's ideas by stressing that it was important to "let 
the Arabs know" the situation clearly. Since Arab nationalists 
were then demanding a greater Arab kingdom which was to 
include Palestine, Y osef Sprinzak urged his colleagues to 
avoid misleading the Arabs: 

The "agreement" must be clear, with no nonsense. We 
must receive Palestine without limitation or restriction ... . 
We must receive Palestine within defined boundaries ... . 
There is room for half a million Arabs in a greater Jewish 
Palestine, but there is no room here for an Arab kingdom. 
It is best that this conflict be sharp from the start, so that 
the matter will be clear to Arab psychology, and to all 
human psychology. 

The V.Z. thus clearly opposed any Jewish initiative to try 
to win over the Arabs, and rejected Kalvaryski's programme 
for an entente. Looking back with some bitterness twenty 
years later, Kalvaryski attributed the decision to 

the same reason that [had] foiled the first attempt in 1914: 
[the Yishuv's] contempt for the Arab national movement 
and the Arab people (which were dismissed as unimpor-
tant), and an exaggerated appraisal of our own strength 
and the [anticipated] help from Europe and America. 18 

There is certainly some truth in this assessment, for at this 
time the Yishuv did explicitly choose to put aside any "peace 
offensive", preferring instead to "win over" the 
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Arabs by a combination of the anticipated long-term econo-
mic benefits of Zionist development and a firm endorsement 
of the Balfour Declaration policy by the Powers. This 
reluctance about embarking on a peace offensive, however, 
reflected more than a low estimation of the importance of the 
Arab factor; it also reflected a significantly pessimistic 
appraisal of the possibility of ever winning Arab assent, whatever 
its desirability or importance. 

Undaunted by such rebuffs from within his own camp, 
Kalvaryski nevertheless went on to present his proposals to· 
Arab leaders in his name alone. But what, we may ask, was 
the Arab reaction to Kalvaryski's overtures of 1919 and 1920, 
and was he justified in singling out yishuv attitudes as the 
cause for his failure to produce an Arab-Zionist entente at this 
time? 

A close look at the evidence seems to point to the 
conclusion that-notwithstanding Kalvaryski's claims to the 
contrary-his programme did not win any significant Arab 
support. The programme appears to have been presented to 
Arabs on at least three occasions: (1) prior to the V.Z. debate 
discussed above; (2) soon after that debate (August 1919); and 
(3) in the last days ofFaisal's reign at Damascus (June 1920). 
We have only Kalvaryski's own accounts of a positive 
reception on the first two occasions. 19 But for the third there 
are several independent sources which tell a different story. 

Kalvaryski's own reminiscences (1937) of the June 1920 
meetings refer to discussions organized by Mu'in al-Madi (a 
Palestinian) and Riad as-Sulh (Kalvaryski's Lebanese friend; 
cf. pp. 54f above), with the participation of three Syrians 
(lhsan al-Jabiri, Adil Arslan, Hashim al-Atassi) and another 
Palestinian (Rafiq Tamimi). After "long discussions", Kal-
varyski claims that his programme received Arab approval.20 

From the Hebrew press of the period and the despatches of 
another Zionist agent in Damascus, it appears that talks with 
Palestinians there broke down on the issues of Jewish immi-
gration and Arab recognition of the Jewish National Home. 21 

A rare Arab report of a meeting between Kalvaryski and S. 
Felman (representing the Zionists) and Rafiq Tamimi, Mu'in 
al-Madi and Amin al-Husaini (the future Jerusalem 
mufti) gives a detailed account of the Arabs' rejection of the 
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Kalvaryski programme. 22 After dealing with the programme 
point by point, the Arabs insisted that any further negotia-
tions be carried out on a more official level, by the "author-
ized representatives of the Jewish institutions" in Palestine, 
and under the following conditions: 

No Arab would negotiate ... unless (the Z.C.] agreed to the 
following conditions: 1. Palestine is a part of independent 
Syria. 2. The idea of the Jewish National Home is 
unacceptable. 3. Hebrew cannot be an official language. 4. 
Jewish immigration is not acceptable. 

The hostile tone of the above report, submitted to the 
Syrian Congress, may well have been exaggerated for "nation-
alist" consumption. According to Zionist sources, talks did 
continue in utmost secrecy. But when news of the ongoing 
negotiations leaked out, Rida as-Sulh was forced to resign his 
ministry in Faisal's cabinet because of his son's involvement. 
When the contacts were finally broken off, the Arab delegates 
had still not agreed to recognize the principle of the Jewish 
National Home.23 

Thus, our examination of the Kalvaryski programme and 
the reactions it received from both sides would seem to reveal 
how distant Kalvaryski was from the mainstream of political 
thinking in both the Zionist and the Arab camps. U nfortuna-
tely, his conviction regarding the need for an agreement, and 
his persistence in trying to persuade both parties of this, were 
not enough to bridge the gap between the strongly-held 
positions of Zionists and Arabs. 

* 
II. Simultaneous with Kalvaryski's efforts in Damascus, a 
similar Zionist-Arab agreement was actually concluded on 
March 6, 1920 between Yehoshua Hankin (a land-purchase 
agent and Arab "expert") and three Lebanese politicians: 
Najib Sfeir, Dr Rashid Karam and Yusuf Mu'azzin (who 
claimed also to sign on behalf of Najib Hashim and Dr 
Antun Shihade). 24 The Arabs presented themselves as the 
"Nationalist Group in Syria and Lebanon", and sought to 
pave the way for fruitful tri-lateral relations between the 
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future independent states of Syria, Lebanon and Palestine. 
The tone and contents of the agreement were quite similar to 
Kalvaryski's plan, giving perhaps more stress on Arab recog-
nition of the status of the Jewish National Home. Such an 
agreement, had it been discussed by yishuv representatives, 
might have proved slightly more palatable than Kalvaryski's 
programme. But the entente was, in fact, never discussed 
publicly or revealed. It remained an inoperative piece of 
paper, largely because of the lack of authority of the Arab 
signatories, who would surely have been denounced by the 
advocates of a "Greater Syria" in Damascus. One Jewish 
observer further suspected that these Arabs were insignificant 
journalists "eager to milk the Zionist cow".25 Indeed, one 
concrete requisite of the agreement was to have been the 
setting up of an Arabic newspaper, for which purposes the 
Zionist Organization was solicited to subscribe LE. (Egyptian 
pounds) 6000.26 

* 
III. Two further Zionist initiatives serve to illustrate the 
limited usefulness of reaching an understanding built on a 
"bridge of silver". The first case was Kalvaryski's relations 
with Musa Kazim al-Husaini, the President of the A.E., and, 
in the mind of most Jews, the symbol of Palestinian "extre-
mism" and "intransigence". In November and December of 
1922, Kalvaryski met with members of the Palestine Arab 
Delegation in Lausanne, during the latter's futile mission to 
reverse some of the diplomatic results of the peace settle-
ment. While Kalvaryski had indeed found members of the 
Delegation unyielding, he was able to report that their leader, 
Musa Kazim, had indicated in a private conversation that 
"his attitude towards us is in our hands". After underlining 
this phrase in a letter to London, Kalvaryski continued: "I 
understood what his words were hinting at. I believe that if 
we know how to get on with him we can bring him over to 
our side .... " 27 

Kalvaryski's hunch was indeed correct. Upon receipt of a 
sum of money from the Zionist Central Office in London, 
M usa Kazim reportedly pledged to use his influence to 
prevent bloodshed in Palestine. For a time, Kalvaryski 
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accepted various minor proofs of Musa Kazim's new "moder-
ation", and hoped that this would be the first step in 
eventually winning over the entire M.C.A. leadership. But 
there were soon too many inconsistencies in Musa Kazim's 
behaviour for Kalvaryski to ignore, and when confronted by 
the latter in mid-1923 the Arab leader proudly claimed that 
he was still a patriot and had not sold himself or his people 
over to the Zionists. 2a 

* 
IV. Another similar deal between Zionists and Arab 
notables in Palestine revolved around the British attempt to 
set up an appointed Advisory Council, to provide for Arab 
participation in the administration. The P.Z.E. took an active 
interest in helping Government officials to register a victory 
over the M.C.A., which attempted to block the formation 
of the Council by pressure and threa(s against nominees. 
Col. F. H. Kisch of the P.Z.E., together with Kalvaryski, 
held several meetings with some of the Arab nominees 
and attempted to convince them to resist the public cam-
paign being mounted against their participation on the 
Council.29 

But both Zionists were quick to realize how ineffective they 
were by using verbal arguments alone. At a cost of £800, they 
obtained the temporary "moderation" of two prominent 
Arabs: ArifPasha ad-Dajani and Raghib Bey an-Nashashibi. 30 

But this was not enough to have the Government's Advisory 
Council established. Once it became clear that the required 
number of willing Arab nominees could not be found, the 
scheme had to be dropped.3I 

ARAB INITIATIVES FOR AN AGREEMENT 

In most of the preceding pages, we have concentrated on the 
Zionist view of Jewish-Arab contacts. Arab motives for certain 
kinds of co-operation with Zionists have been touched on in 
the context of Arab reactions to, and participation in, 
endeavours initially proposed by the Jews. An examination of 
several Arab-inspired schemes for some sort of Jewish-Arab 
"agreement" on limited issues will help to complete our 
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picture of Arab motives and attitudes in their contacts with 
the Jews. 

I. We have already seen evidence of the mercenary interest 
of some Arab leaders, and the first case under discussion here 
illustrates this aspect even more clearly. In late 1920, a local 
Jewish committee was given the task of "seeking an under-
standing with the Palestinian Arabs". 32 Its efforts seemed to 
be rewarded in early 1921 when several leaders of the Haifa 
Congress (December 1920) approached its members (H. M. 
Kalvaryski, S. Tolkowsky and M. Dizengoff) "with the 
intention to come to a definite understanding between Arabs 
and Jews". Unlike some previous approaches, the personali-
ties now involved were influential leaders. While the exact 
terms of the proposed "understanding" are not known, 
constitutional issues and land-sales to Jews were discussed. 
The financial angle of the talks, however, seems to have been 
the predominant one. The yishuv committee urgently 
requested the London Zionist Executive to grant it £5000 for 
"expenses", and to arrange facilities with the Anglo-Palestine 
Bank for granting loans up to a total of £10,000 "which may 
be in part lost". 

But this opportunity of coming to an"understanding" with 
the Haifa Congress leaders, described at the time as "a new 
situation ... rich in the greatest possibilities", came to nothing, 
because (as Dizengoff complained bitterly after the May 1921 
riots) the committee's urgent request for funds had received 
no reply from London.33 All along, members of the 
committee had been working almost entirely at their "own priv-
ate expense", and the "scope and effectiveness" of their work 
had been "greatly restricted", owing partly to the fact that 
conditions had "not been favourable for important political 
work, but chiefly owing to the lack of financial resources". 

Although written evidence of opinions on this delicate 
subject is understandably rare, we may be sure that Tol-
kowsky, Kalvaryski and Dizengoff were not the only Jews 
who based their activities on the belief that Arab "mater-
ialism" held the key to many difficulties in Arab-
Jewish relations. 34 Very few Arabs or Jews took a moralistic 
approach to this question. For the Zionists, at least, the 
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matter was an eminently practical one: on the one hand, they 
were faced with an apparently obstinate and noisy group of 
opponents, whose motives and representativeness seemed to 
them doubtful, while, on the other hand, there appeared to 
be no shortage of Arabs who were ready to sell their loyalties 
or their services to the highest bidder, or to profit from 
land-sales to Jews, however unpatriotic. 35 Under such circum-
stances, the buying-off of opposition appeared a natural and 
effective way of dealing with that opposition. 

* 
II. In the three remammg cases to be discussed in this 
chapter, the ulterior motive of the Arab initiators was purely 
political: in two cases, Jewish-Arab agreement was broached 
in manoeuvres vis-a-vis the British regarding the Legislative 
Council, while in the third the Husaini clan proposed an 
electoral alliance with the Jews of Jerusalem in an attempt to 
defeat rival candidates of the Nashashibi family. In none of 
the three cases was the ultimate objective a lasting agreement 
with the Zionists. 

Following the successful boycott of the elections to the 
proposed Legislative Council (February-March 1923) and the 
refusal of Arabs to accept nomination to an Advisory Council 
Qune-July 1923), the British had proposed the establishment 
of an "Arab Agency", to be considered parallel to the Jewish 
Agency. In regretfully acknowledging the Arabs' rejection of 
this third proposal, the British Government then announced 
that no further attempts would be made to involve the Arabs 
in the constitutional government of the country. Palestine 
would be ruled by the High Commissioner and an Executive 
Council of senior British officials. Practical consideration of 
any new proposals regarding self-government would be 
resumed only when the Arabs themselves took the initiative 
and expressed their "readiness to participate". 36 

Although the Palestinians' rejection of proposals which 
would have implied their recognition of the Jewish national 
home policy was ideologically linked with their basic 
demands, it was not so blindly adhered to as is sometimes 
suggested. Members of the A.E. were quite capable of tactical 
manoeuvres on this issue, and a few of them soon began 
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working for the re-opening of discussions on the question of 
representative government.37 The rejected Legislative Council 
proposal, with all its inadequacies, had been, after all, closer 
to the desired form of "national government" than govern-
ment by an Executive Council of colonial officials, which 
began operating in December 1923. 

Thus, in late 1924,Jamal al-Husaini discussed constitution-
al questions with H. M. Kalvaryski, and made the following 
suggestion: the A.E. would withdraw its demand for complete 
"national self-government" in favour of a Jewish-Arab agree-
ment on a bi-cameral Legislative Council, with a lower 
chamber elected on a proportional basis and an upper 
chamber formed along the lines of the British proposal of 
1923 (i.e, 10 officials, 8 Muslims, 2 Christians, 2 Jews). The 
upper house would have to confirm all decisions of the lower, 
and an immigration committee of 2 Jews, 1 Muslim, 1 
Christian and a British chairman would be formed. As a 
further safeguard to Jewish interests, Jamal was reportedly 
willing to agree that the High Commissioner could maintain 
a right to veto any legislation.38 

Kalvaryski enthusiastically reported his conversations to 
the P.Z.E., and proposed that Col. Kisch meet with Jamal. 
Kalvaryski himself found the terms quite generous, and was 
anxious not to lose this opportunity for an accord with the 
A.E.39 But Kisch received the plan coolly. Whatever the 
motives of the A.E. in making these proposals, he saw such a 
bi-cameral situation leading to an inevitable clash between 
an appointed upper house and a popularly-elected, and 
ultimately more legitimate, lower chamber. Jewish public 
opinion in Palestine was even more hostile to any revival of 
discussions regarding a legislative assembly, and rejected the 
suggestion out-of-hand. Kalvaryski also discussed the plan 
with Sir Herbert Samuel, but the High Commissioner was 
sceptical for his own reasons (see below). In the end, this Arab 
initiative was dropped from lack of response. 

It is interesting to speculate on the motives of the A.E. in its 
secret approach to the Jews with such a plan. On the surface, 
it seemed to indicate a shift from attempts to turn back the 
clock, at one go, to the pre-Balfour Declaration days. While 
not signalling any change in the basic Palestinian goals, this 
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overture to the Jews was evidence of a pragmatic approach: 
accepting and working with whatever tools were available to 
thwart, and perhaps contain, the growth of the Jewish 
national home. 

But why did Jamal need to approach the Zionists for this, 
when it was the British who had the power to create the 
desired self-governing institutions? One possible explanation 
is that it was important for the prestige of the Arab Executive 
to make it appear that renewed suggestions for a Legislative 
Council were coming from the Zionist and/or British sides, 
and were not the result of the Arabs giving in to conditions 
dictated by the Government. Hence, Kalvaryski and others 
were in fact used by Jamal to test the reactions of the High 
Commissioner. The interviews which Kalvaryski and Sulai-
man Bey Nasif (a recognized "moderate") had with Samuel 
were, in fact, the result of Jamal's suggestion, and the latter 
afterwards tried to create the appearance that it was the 
British who were initiating discussions for a Council-a false 
impression which Samuel was eager to remove.40 

* 
ill. The next instance of a local Arab overture to make a 
deal with theJews involved the Jerusalem municipal elections 
of 1927.41 The peculiar nature of the 1926 Municipalities 
Ordinance provided for proportional representation for the 
Muslim (5 seats), Jewish (4 seats) and Christian (3 seats) 
communities of Jerusalem, but did not provide for separate 
communal ballots. Each voter could cast a vote for all twelve 
posts, and thus each community had the opportunity of 
affecting the results of the other communities. Both the Jews 
and the Husaini faction had opposed this arrangement, 
preferring separate communal lists, but their objections had 
not been heeded by the British. 

The incumbent mayor, Raghib an-Nashashibi, who had 
been appointed by the military authorities in 1920, had 
developed among the Jews the reputation of being a poor 
administrator. But, despite the fact that he had drawn 
frequent criticism from the Jews of Jerusalem for his poor 
treatment of their community, it seemed likely that he would 
profit against his Arab rivals from Jewish votes, simply 
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because he belonged to the anti-M.C.A., anti-Husaini camp 
-and was, therefore, dubbed a "moderate". The Husainis set 
out to prevent the election of their hated rival, and were 
prepared to do almost anything-even make a deal with the 
Jews-to accomplish this end. 

Jamal al-Husaini met with Col. Kisch of the P.Z.E. in 
January 1927 and attempted to persuade him of the advan-
tages of encouraging the Jewish electors of Jerusalem not to 
cast any votes for Arab candidates.42Jamal had little concrete 
to offer, apart from the veiled threat of incurring the wrath 
of the Husainis, coupled with the vague incentive that, al-
though "any understanding now reached for the purpose 
of the elections should not be assumed as implying an 
understanding on other points", it would nevertheless 
be "regarded ... as a sign of good-will and as a step towards 
co-operation". 

Shortly afterwards, the Jewish judge and native Jerusale-
mite, Gad Frumkin, was honoured by a surprise visit from no 
less a personage than Hajj Amin al-H usaini, the Grand Mufti, 
accompanied by two members of the Supreme Muslim 
Council, Abdallah Dajani and Hajj Sa'id Shawa.43 On this 
occasion, Frumkin was also urged to persuade the Jerusalem 
Jewish community to co-operate in blocking the election of 
Raghib Nashashibi. This time two advantages for the Jews 
were more clearly spelled out: (a) more favourable treat-
ment for the Jewish community by the future (Husaini) ad-
ministration of the municipality, and (b) a concession in 
the A.E.'s official demand for national self-government-
namely, that the subjects of immigration and land-purchase 
might be excluded from the competence of a Legislative 
Council. 

Whatever the attractions of a Zionist-Husaini alliance for 
some people, the majority of Jerusalem Jews decided to use 
their votes to prevent the Husaini/M.CA.-backed candidates 
from gaining a foothold in their municipality. TheJerusalem 
Jewish Community Council succeeded in organizing a single 
slate of candidates, who were acclaimed, while giving the mot 
d'ordre to Jewish voters to work for a Nashashibi victory. 
Given the choice, they clearly felt their interests better 
protected by voting for "Raghib al-Nashashibi's wretched 
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administration and not for their national enemies".44 Ragh-
ib's personal victory was supplemented by the election of five 
supporters and two Husaini candidates, including Jamal 
al-Husaini. As many interpreted it at the time, "the result was 
that the Husainis never forgave the Jews for helping their 
biggest rival, Raghib Nashashibi, while Raghib was not at all 
happy that they had brought his greatest adversary, Jamal, 
into his municipal council as a watchdog".45 But, belying 
this exaggerated appraisal of ''Jewish power", the Jewish 
vote had had, in fact, no real impact on the outcome of the 
election.46 

* 
IV. Prior to the outbreak of riots in August 1929, some 
Palestinian leaders were again working to have the British 
re-open the question of self-governing institutions.47 At this 
time, Zionist opposition to any form of legislative council was 
as clear and unanimous as ever, and several Arab leaders felt 
it advantageous to couple their pressure on the British with an 
attempt to soften the Zionist stand on this question. Thus, 
when the Syrian nationalist, lhsan al-Jabiri, was in Jerusalem 
in 1928, he and H. M. Kalvaryski held talks together with 
Palestinian leaders, including Rashid al-Hajj Ibrahim and 
Awni Abd al-Hadi.48 As a step towards ending the Jewish-
Arab feuding, the Arabs offered to phrase the resolutions of 
their forthcoming Congress in such a way as to avoid explicit 
denunciation of the Mandate or the Balfour Declaration. The 
offer was duly implemented, as the resolutions of the Vllth 
Palestine Arab Congress Oune 20, 1928) merely re-affirmed 
previous Congress decisions in general terms.49 

According to Kalvaryski, this gesture was to have been 
followed by Zionist-Arab talks. Indeed, in the wake of the 
Congress, the Arab leadership, through its official organs, 
sounded a note of "moderation" and taunted the Jews to 
abandon their opposition to representative government. 50 

But the P.Z.E. was reluctant to pick up the challenge, 
leading Kalvaryski to blame the Zionist leadership 
for another "missed opportunity" for an accord with the 
Arabs. 

In point of fact, the P.Z.E. was quite determined to avoid 
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re-opening the question of representative institutions, wishing 
neither to negotiate with the Arabs on this issue, nor to give 
the impression to the British that the Zionists were softening 
their opposition to an elected assembly.51 In any case, the 
build-up in tension over Jewish rights at the Western Wall 
after September 1928 (cf. Chapter 5, below) pushed any 
prospect of Zionist-Arab negotiations even further into the 
background. 

ARAB AND JEWISH MOTIVES FOR CO-OPERATION 

The foregoing overview of the various episodes of Jewish-Arab 
grass-roots contacts in the decade after World War I reveals a 
variety of motives for local co-operation. As we have seen, the 
search for a global peace agreement was not a primary motive 
for local Arab-Jewish contacts during this period. Neverthe-
less, there were real forces operating to bring Jews and Arabs 
into contact with each other. Zionists still needed to have 
"normal", friendly day-to-day relations with their neighbours 
in an atmosphere of peace and prosperity. Arabs, too, found 
limited intercourse withJews tactically or materially useful. 

The major objective of the Zionists appears to have been 
"preventive diplomacy"-the buying of a temporary peace, 
while hoping for the continued growth of the Jewish National 
Home through immigration, land-purchase and economic 
development. In their attempts to find Arab "friends" who 
would overpower their Arab "enemies", the Zionists found 
internal divisions within Arab society of distinct advantage. 
In the clan rivalry between Husaini and Nashashibi, Zionists 
leaned towards the latter. Inherent Muslim-Christian rivalry, 
which was partially submerged in the anti-Zionist M.C.A. 
coalition, usually led the Zionists into tactical alliances with 
Muslims, discreetly fostering the latter's suspicions of the 
powerful Christian minority.52 On other occasions, local 
"friends" were found through the promotion of relations with 
minority non-Muslim sects, such as Samaritans, Druze and 
Circassians. 

Similarly, Zionists found a basis of co-operation in the 
countryside notables' resentment against the townfolk. 
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Whether Jewish workers supported "fellahin" against "effen-
dis", or whether yishuv "capitalists" sought good relations 
with the latter53- in all cases, the Jews found, at best, only 
small pockets of"friends" in the Arab community. 

Invariably, the Jews sought to prove to the Arabs that-at 
least from an economic point of view-the coming of Zionism 
to Palestine was in their interests as well. In deference to what 
they considered to be a "natural instinct" of the Arab, 
Zionists employed subsidies, gifts and easy loans for selected 
individuals. As much as they may have wanted to believe 
otherwise, Zionists knew that the distinction between 
"moderate" and "extremist" Arabs was a dubious one.54 The 
need for baksheesh to buy moderation, whatever its short-
term advantages, indicated to many that the relationship 
between Arab and Jew in Palestine was fast becoming one 
based on mutual contempt. More significantly, the fact that 
baksheesh was often the only way of winning "friends" was a 
telling indication of the slim chances of the Arabs ever 
coming to accept Zionism in a way that could be embodied in 
an enduring political agreement. 

Most co-operation evinced by Arabs towards Jews in 
Palestine could not be equated with any form of accept-
ance of the basic goals of Zionism. It was usually for 
some short-term economic or political advantage that 
we find Arabs willing to co-operate in one of the various 
activities initiated by Jews. The Arab desire for western edu-
cation or training, or for an administrative post, was often 
behind the expressed interest in collaboration with the 
Jews. Even so prominent an adversary as Musa Kazim 
al-Husaini, who was almost "bought" by the Zionists in 
1922-23, had apparently offered in 1920 to "be friendly 
to the Zionists" in exchange for a post in the Waqf admin-
istration. 55 

The quest for financial backing for the publication of a 
newspaper was another frequently recurring Arab motive for 
co-operation, while land-owners sought purchasers, and vice 
versa, on the open market. The myths ofJewish power,Jewish 
wealth or Jewish international connections also played their 
part in attracting Arab interest. In addition, politically-astute 
Arabs learned how certain dealings with Zionists could be 
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useful in attempts to outflank the British on given occasions, 
or to outmanoeuvre an Arab rival on others. 

When looking at the period after 1928, we shall see how the 
same Arab and Zionist motives reappear, both at the level of 
grass-roots contacts and in the cases of higher-level diplo-
macy. 



CHAPTERS 

Relations in the Wake qfCrisis) 1929-1931 

NEGOTIATING OPPORTUNITIES AND THE 

WAILING WALL DISPUTE 

The riots of August 1929 provided a security and political 
crisis which put into question the very foundations of 
Zionist-Ab-British relations in Palestine. On Yom Kippur, 
23-24 September 1928, an apparently trivial incident 
touched off a chain of events which was to result in rioting 
and bloodshed in August 1929. 1 The sensitive question of 
maintaining the status quo with respect to Jewish rights of 
worship at the Muslim-owned Western ("Wailing") Wall in 
Jerusalem2 unleashed a public controversy, which was fanned 
primarily by the leading Muslim authorities in Palestine 
-the Supreme Muslim Council (S.M.C.) under the Presi-
dency of Hajj Amin al-Husaini, Mufti of Jerusalem-and by 
Revisionist Jews, who combined to elevate the controversy 
from one involving religious rights to one of national pres-
tige.3 

On paper, at least, there existed provisions for the media-
tion of religious disputes in Palestine through the "good 
offices" of the British. But this particular conflict quickly took 
on passionate national and political dimensions. The situa-
tion progressively worsened without any mediation proce-
dures being either applied by the British or pressed for by 
Muslim or Jewish authorities.4 

Neither is there, during the eleven months of mounting 
tension, any evidence of either Jewish or Muslim leaders 
(religious or lay) seeking to de-fuse the situation through 
direct contacts or negotiations with their counterparts. A few 
isolated Jewish suggestions to settle the question by "friendly 

80 
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talks" with Muslim leaders5 were soon buried beneath 
the emotional propaganda and counter-propaganda issued 
by the committees which were launched in defence of 
their respective Holy Places. Each party turned to the 
British not to mediate, but rather to vindicate its own 
exclusive claim by denouncing the pretensions of the other 
side. 

There was, however, one futile attempt at Zionist-Arab 
negotiation, under the guise of British "mediation", with a 
view to preventing the rioting which was to erupt on August 
23, 1929. This was an eleventh-hour meeting, called by the 
Officer Administering the Government, Harry Charles Luke, 
acting on a suggestion made several days earlier by a member 
of the P.Z.E.6 The style of the meeting was a familiar one in 
Palestine, one which had been used, for example, to calm 
passions after the outbreak oftheJaffa riots in May 1921.7 On 
the evening of August 22nd, six local notables met at Luke's 
house: Awni Abd al-Hadi, Jamal al-Husaini and Subhi 
al-Khadra, members of the A.E., and Yitzhak Ben-Zvi, 
Isaiah Braude and Dr Yitzhak Levy, representing the Jewish 
side. 

The meeting began with a discussion of two parallel 
declarations of intent which had been drafted; these were to 
be published in an attempt to calm the two excited commun-
ities. After some thought, the Jewish representatives decided 
that they could not sign their half of the proposed statement 
on the grounds that the ambiguous wording might have 
prejudiced Jewish claims which were still to be decided. 
Instead, the Jews then proposed a second draft commun-
ique-a single proclamation, to be signed jointly, which 
stated that 

at a joint meeting between us we came to the conclusion 
that the present excitement among Moslems and Jews is 
chiefly due to misunderstanding. We are convinced that by 
goodwill the misunderstanding can be cleared up and for 
this purpose we demand of both Jews and Moslems to do 
their utmost to endeavour to attain peaceful and quiet 
relations. We all deprecate any acts of violence to each 
other, and we appeal to everyone to assist their supreme 
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institutions in the sacred work of obtaining peace between 
both nations.s 

This draft the Arab representatives refused to sign. It 
was finally decided that the matter should be postponed 
for several days, during which time, the Arabs assured 
their Jewish counterparts, the Arab community would be 
urged in the direction of peace and restraint. Despite the 
"friendly feeling" with which one Jewish representative 
left the meeting, rioting broke out in Jerusalem the next 
day. 

Despite the conclusions of the Shaw Commission that the 
"disturbances" were not premeditated, it seems likely that 
there were forces working towards a violent outbreak-
whether at the behest of the Mufti or in spite of his efforts at 
pacification.9 The three Arab spokesmen, if we accept their 
sincerity in wanting to maintain law and order, were 
probably in no position to reverse the scheduled course of 
events. Even had the six local leaders been able to agree upon 
the text of a pacifying communique, it is doubtful whether its 
publication would have done much to prevent the violence 
which erupted on August 23rd. 

News of the Jerusalem riots-usually in the form of 
rumours that Jews had bombed or attacked the mosques10 

-sparked off attacks on Jews in other parts of the country, 
including the brutal massacre of sixty orthodox men, women 
and children in Hebron on August 24th, and the ransacking 
of the Jewish quarter of Safed (with the loss of 18 lives and 
80 wounded) on August 29th. 11 During these troubled 
events, one successful local Arab-Jewish encounter did result 
in the publication of parallel proclamations urging peace 
and restraint in Tiberias. 12 Partly because of this, Tiberias 
was one of the towns which were spared during the week 
of unrest and which were less subject to the agitation 
which continued for several months after the actual riot-
ing.I3 

Just as the negotiating process had done little to prevent 
the outbreaks of August 1929, so too was its role negligible in 
settling the religious dispute over rights at the Wailing Wall. 
Several offers to mediate the dispute came from prominent 
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non-Palestinian Muslims and Arabs,!'' including some general 
suggestions for resolving the wider Palestine dispute from 
King Faisal of Iraq. 15 But none of them was taken up 
seriously by any of the parties in deadlock. In Palestine, 
Zionist representatives sought to encourage Arabs who op-
posed the Mufti to issue a conciliatory statement which 
would have softened the official Muslim stand on the Wall 
issue; 16 but this plan came to nothing, as did all attempts to 
resolve the matter amicably through secret face-to-face nego-
tiations.17 

The question of the Holy Places, which had been turned 
over to the League of Nations, became the subject of a special 
Commission which visited Palestine and received submissions 
from religious leaders in June and July of 1930.18 The Report 
of this special Commission 0 une 1931 ), although not well 
received by either party, did nevertheless contribute to the 
removal of the issue of religious rights from its provocative 
prominence. 19 

UNCERTAINTIES OF BRITISH POLICY 

The riots of 1929 had, of course, raised more than the 
question of rights at the Holy Places of Jerusalem. The whole 
question of Zionism and Arab-Jewish relations in Palestine 
remained in abeyance in the years following the riots. How 
were "normal" relations to be resumed? And, were there to be 
major changes in British policy? 

While events certainly convinced Zionist leaders of the 
need for improved security and for greater activity on the 
"Arab front",20 feeling was near-unanimous that overtures for 
negotiation with their erstwhile assailants were out of the 
question at this time.21 "Even those Jews who held advanc-
ed pacifist views", noted Dr Leo Kohn (later a senior offi-
cial in the Jewish Agency Executive U.A.E.]), felt that 
any approach to the "momentary spokesmen of the Palestin-
ian Arabs" 

would inevitably be interpreted as a sign of weakness: 
negotiations would necessarily involve concessions and the 
natural inference would be that if the killing of one 
hundred Jews could yield such results as would now be 
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obtained, the killing of one thousand might yield the 
withdrawal of the Balfour Declaration and that of a few 
thousand more perhaps the expulsion of the Jews from 
Palestine. 22 

Likewise, the context was not ripe for any Arab-sponsored 
moves towards an accord with the Jews. The riots were 
followed not by reconciliation, but by a vigorous Arab 
campaign for boycotting all contacts-commercial and social, 
as well as political-with the Jewish community. 23 

This unfavourable climate for direct Arab-Zionist negotia-
tion continued beyond 1929, largely owing to the uncertainty 
of British policy in the wake of the riots. With both Arab and 
Zionist leaders looking towards the British for "favourable" 
clarifications of government policy, there seemed little in-
centive for direct contacts. Dr Judah Magnes, President 
of the Hebrew University (see below, pp. 87f.), was among 
those who had expected a more positive British role dur-
ing this period. By mid-1930, he was "at a loss to under-
stand that it was beyond the power of the British Govern-
ment to insist upon a Uewish-Arab] meeting". What was 
equally distressing, in his view, was "the fact that even 
individuals of the two sides here hardly meet for an exchange 
of views". 24 

The hearings of the Shaw Commission of Inquiry in late 
1929 had served as a sounding-board for Arab and Zionist 
grievances, with each party hoping for a report which would 
vindicate its case.25 From March to June 1930, a Delegation of 
Palestine Arabs visited London to press demands at the C.O. 
While this visit might have afforded an opportunity 
for secret talks with Zionists, as in 1921,26 there is no record of 
any such meetings taking place at the C.O. or elsewhere. 
Jamal al-Husaini informed a British member of the JA. 
Administrative Committee that the Arab Delegation would 
meet the Jews only if forced to do so by H.M.G., and later 
reported that the Delegation had refused to meet Dr W eiz-
mann because "they did not recognize that [he] or any other 
non-Palestinian Jew had anything to do with Palestine". 27 
Awni Abd al-Hadi also made it plain that he would not meet 
with Zionist leaders, whether out of pique (at Zionist 
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attempts to embarrass him during the Shaw Commission 
hearings)2B or, as he later claimed,29 out of his recognition that 
Arab and Zionist interests were fundamentally irreconcilable. 
Since the Prime Minister had offered to invite Arab and Zion-
ist delegations together only if he felt sure, in advance, of "a 
prospect of an amicable conversation",3o the Arab Delegation's 
efforts were aimed exclusively at British policy-makers.31 

T e publication, in April 1930, of the Shaw Commission's 
Report severely disappointed the Zionists and was welcomed 
by the A.E. as "unobjectionable and in [their] interests".32 But 
before Arabs or Zionists could settle down to the new status 
quo, the British asked both parties, in effect, to await a 
further authoritative report, that of Sir John Hope Simpson, 
who had been appointed on May 6th to investigate the land 
question. The accompanying temporary suspension of immi-
gration further depressed the Zionists,33 adding to the reasons 
for a "wait-and-see" attitude which held little incentive for 
Arabs or Zionists to approach each other.34 

The expected "final" word on British Palestine policy 
seemed to come on October 21, 1930, with the publication of 
the Hope-Simpson Report and the accompanying Passfield 
White Paper. 35 The Report and White Paper were, for the 
Zionists, the worst shock they had yet received at the hands of 
the British. The unfriendly tone, the proposed restrictions and 
the prospect of a Palestinian Legislative Council contained in 
these documents led to an anti-British uproar among world 
Jewry and to the resignations of Dr Weizmann and others at 
the head of the Jewish Agency. 36 

Because their full official demands had not been met, most 
Arabs were less than pleased with what was, in effect, their 
greatest political victory to that date.37 One exception appears 
to have been the Jerusalem Mayor, Raghib an-N ashashibi, 
who approached Col. Kisch two days after publication of the 
White Paper, "intoxicated with joy", taunting the Zionist 
representative with the following words: "How do you 
do-Kisch, my brother! When you have finished your 
protests, which are of course necessary, will it not be better to 
sit down together?"38 But most Arab reactions were cautious 
and restrained, tempered with fears of a reversal of the White 
Paper by Zionist pressure in London.39 
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In contrast to official Zionist attacks on the Passfield White 
Paper, Col. Kisch was able to note that it was having at least 
one salutary effect: namely, that it caused some discussion in 
the Arabic press "of the possibilities of coming to an 
understanding with the Jews".40 But such public discussion 
remained theoretical, as it was not followed by any concrete 
overtures from Palestinian Arab politicians.41 Noting the 
impossibility of "induc[ing] the two parties to meet", the 
H.C., Sir John Chancellor, commented: "After the distur-
bances the Jews naturally enough would not meet the Arabs, 
and now the Arabs will not meet the Jews until the Balfour 
Declaration has been cancelled and the Mandate with-
drawn."42 

For their part, Zionist leaders in London directed all their 
energies at securing, through a Cabinet Committee, a reversal 
of the severe set-back they had received from Lord Passfield.43 
These Zionist-British negotiations finally resulted in a letter 
sent by the Prime Minister, J. Ramsay MacDonald, to Dr 
Weizmann, dated February 13, 1931, purporting to clarify the 
meaning of the White Paper.44 In effect, the letter undid 
much of the damage caused to the Zionist position by the 
White Paper, and became known as the "Black Letter" to the 
Arabs, whose disappointment became a watershed in the 
development of a more concerted anti-British orientation of 
Palestinian Arab politics in the 1930s.45 

The publication of the MacDonald Letter provided yet 
another uncertain context for possible Arab-Zionist negotia-
tion. Dr Weizmann, who visited Palestine within weeks of the 
Letter's publication (see below, pp. 105£), sought to make the 
most of what he felt was a most propitious time for talks with 
Arab leaders.46 The A.E., on the other hand, did everything 
possible to avoid Arab-Zionist meetings in order to under-
score their displeasure with the "Black Letter"Y Only a few 
Arab personalities seemed to feel that this was a good 
moment "for the Jews to take a bold step and open their arms 
to the Arabs", and that such a move "would be received with 
a great heart, because the Arabs [felt] very much hurt by the 
British government".48 The general view, in the opinion of the 
British Administrative Officer in Nablus, was that the Mac-
Donald Letter had resulted in " [ r ]acial animosity ... 



RELATIONS IN THE WAKE OF CRISIS 87 

again becom[ing] acute and the possibility of establishing 
better relations between Arab and Jew [being] further off 
than ever".49 

Thus, the period from late 1929 until early 1931 offered few 
fruitful opportunities for direct Arab-Zionist diplomacy. 
Despite the crisis created by the riots and the serious attention 
given to the problem by all sides, the very fluidity of British 
policy at this time did much to prevent any sustained 
attempts at a negotiated solution. 

THIRD-PARTY INTERVENTION: H. ST. JOHN PHILBY 

Having sketched above the generally unfavourable political 
context for direct Arab-Zionist talks, we may now proceed to 
deal with those negotiating episodes which did, nonetheless, 
take place in the aftermath of the 1929 riots. The first came, 
in late October 1929, in the form of a mediation offer from H. 
St.-John Philby, a former British Representative in Transjor-
dan (1921-24), and a man who was to figure in later attempts 
to mediate between Zionist leaders and King Abd al-Aziz Ibn 
Sa'ud. 

Philby enjoyed a reputation and self-image somewhat 
similar to T.E. Lawrence, with whom he shared a strong 
belief "that an injection of Jewish brains and money into the 
Arab world would improve Arab chances of successful 
independence".50 While en route back to Arabia from 
London he visited Damascus, Jerusalem and Cairo. Acting 
purely on his own initiative,S1 and probably hoping to impress 
the C.O. with his achievement, Philby discussed with Syrian 
and Palestinian leaders in Damascus the lines of a possible 
settlement of the Palestine question. As a result of his 
suggestions, the Arabs prepared a list of their demands, in 
their most "moderate" form, which Philby communicated 
privately to Lord Passfield.52 

When Philby arrived in Jerusalem, he met not only with 
the Mufti and other leading Arabs, but also with a correspon-
dent of theN ew York Times, who subsequently introduced him 
to Dr Judah Magnes. The latter was very impressed with 
Philby's ideas on an Arab-Zionist agreement,53 with the result 
that Philby spent a day "in vigorous discussion" of a peace 
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plan, dashing back and forth between Dr Magnes, on the one 
hand, and the Mufti, on the other. His efforts were crowned 
with success when he felt he had secured the agreement of 
both sides to a ten-point plan for the future ofPalestine. 

According to Philby's plan,54 the country was to be 
governed "on a democratic constitutional republican basis", 
with a Legislative Council and a Council of Ministers in 
which Jews and Arabs would be represented "in proportion to 
their numbers in the population". The H.C. would have a 
veto power over acts of these two bodies to guard against 
anything "inconsistent with the proper exercise of [Britain's) 
international obligations ... or detrimental to the rights of 
minorities or foreigners or injurious to the peace and prosperi-
ty of the country". Immigration would be free, "especially to 
Arabs andJews", subject to the economic absorptive capacity 
of the country. Provision was also made for the continuation 
of the Jewish Agency as a "public body competent to advise 
and co-operate with the Palestinian Government in all 
matters affecting the interests of the Jews in the country", 
with the right of the Muslim and Christian communities in 
Palestine to set up similar agencies. 

Philby's last act in this scenario was to send a copy of the 
plan to Lord Passfield, "in the conviction that an offer by the 
British Government on these or similar lines [had) a very good 
chance of acceptance by all concerned".55 Lord Passfield, 
however, showed no interest in Philby's scheme and chose not 
to reply to his letters. Philby thereupon left to Dr Magnes the 
thankless tasks of getting the ''Jewish extremists ... to recog-
nize what is practicable and what is not", and of persuading 
the H.C., Sir John Chancellor, to force both sides into 
discussions. 56 

ZIONIST REJECTION OF THE PHILBY MEDIATION 

We have only Philby's word that his scheme would indeed 
have been endorsed by the Arab leadership, if properly put 
forth by the British government.57 But it soon became clear 
enough that Philby had not found a locutor valable in Dr 
Magnes. There were a number of reasons why Magnes failed 
utterly in his attempt to rally Zionists to support these 
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proposals for an agreement. These may be summarised under 
the following headings: 

(a) Timing. The predominant feeling in the yishuv and 
among Zionist leaders was, as we have noted, that the 
morrow of bloody rioting was not the right moment even to 
offer to discuss political questions with the Arabs. First of all, 
the Jews felt, the proper punishments for lawbreaking had to 
be imposed and nothing be done which might be interpreted 
as a reward for violence.58 In the atmosphere prevailing after 
the riots, Jews saw no sign of remorse or humility in the Arab 
leaders, but rather an inflated self-confidence which seemed 
to threaten further violence-not exactly their view of 
conditions for successful negotiations. Furthermore, the Shaw 
Commission of Inquiry had just begun hearing evidence-
evidence which the Jews were hoping (in vain, it turned out) 
would produce a report sympathetic to the Zionist position 
and critical of the Arabs. Negotiations would be more 
opportune, it was felt, after the publication of such a report. 59 

(b) Status of the Negotiators. The J.A.E., for its part, insisted 
that political negotiations could be conducted only by its own 
officials, or by persons working under their close supervision. 
Dr Magnes was not only unauthorised by the J.A.E., but was 
considered too much of an individualist to be trusted by the 
elected officials.60 At this time, any contacts with Arabs were 
either the personal portfolio of Dr Weizmann (below pp. 
103f.), or to be organized through the Joint Bureau (below, 
pp. 96f.). 

(c) Terms of Agreement. Not only was Magnes acting as a 
"lone wolf', but he was already well-known, as a Brit-Shalom 
sympathiser, to be too ready to compromise on points on 
which the J.A.E.-representing the Zionist movement-felt 
there was no room for compromise. In particular, Magnes was 
deviating from the official stand by agreeing to direct 
proportional representation, the limitation of the competence 
of the Jewish Agency from world Jewry to Palestinian Jewry, 
equal status of Arab and Jewish immigration, and the 
implication that the Jews were merely a religious group, 
along with Muslims and Christians. 

But Magnes' deviation was perhaps greatest in his willingness 
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to discuss the question of representative institutions-the 
principal Arab demand. This was the last question Zionists 
wanted included in any discussions at this time.s1 It had been 
dropped in 1923, by virtue of Arab rejection, and since then 
the Zionists had been hoping that the British would not 
re-open formal consideration of the subject until the Jews 
became much stronger in the country, or until there emerged 
an Arab leadership willing to work within the terms of the 
Mandate. 

If the Zionists had objected to the resumption of discussions 
on constitutional questions before the riots,62 they now felt 
they had new and stronger proof that the Arabs were not 
"ready" for self-government. At the very least, they argued, 
the introduction of self-governing bodies at this time would 
aggravate, rather than improve, Arab:Jewish relations in 
Palestine.63 Magnes' very willingness to discuss this delicate 
subject at this time was out-of-step with official Zionist tactics 
vis-a-vis the British.64 

(d) Third-Party Considerations. Effective mediation requires 
the confidence of both parties in the chosen mediator. The 
fact that this mediation was undertaken by H. St-John Philby 
was, for some Zionists, enough reason to want the whole affair 
dropped as soon as possible.65 Although he had, at one time, 
been considered a friend,66 some of Philby's actions as 
Abdallah's adviser in the early 1920s had earned him the 
reputation of being a schemer against good relations between 
the Amir and the Zionists.6' It was, therefore, with great relief 
that Zionists learned that Philby had no backing or encour-
agement from official British circles in London or in Jerusa-
lem. 58 In fact, the Colonial Secretary considered that Philby's 
"past record of consistent hostility to British policy in the 
Middle East would clearly disqualify him" as a trustworthy 
mediator.69 

SPLIT IN ZIONIST RANKS 

The Philby mediation attempt thus came to nothing, thanks 
to a determined refusal of both British and Zionist leaders to 
have anything to do with it. But the affair did highlight some 
of the problems which Dr Magnes was to continue to have 
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with the Zionist establishment until his death. His "irrespon-
sible and unauthorized" negotiations with Philby made 
Magnes extremely unpopular with yishuv public opinion.7° 
Yet, like H. M. Kalvaryski had been doing since 1919 (above, 
pp. 65f), Magnes would remain independently active in the 
search for a political breakthrough, defying the discipline 
imposed on the Jewish community by its leaders, and 
apparently unmoved by the occasional pronouncements of 
Arab scorn for his efforts.71 

Dr Magnes' activities had indeed exemplified the recurring 
problem of Zionist discipline and co-ordination in the pursuit 
of a single "Arab policy". This need for co-ordination in 
dealings with Arabs would later be underlined in a Zionist 
Congress resolution (1933) which declared that "in special 
cases the Executive has the right to demand that ... special 
political activities [sic] ... which enter the sphere of the 
Executive's activities should be permitted only after receiving 
its consent"J2 

But, apart from disagreements over timing, discipline, 
tactics and the contents of negotiations, there were also more 
fundamental differences which emerged between Dr Magnes 
and the Zionist leadership at this time. Dr Magnes' starting 
assumptions had been enunciated to Dr Weizmann immedia-
tely following the shock of the August riots.73 He rejected 
what he called "militarist, imperialist, political Zionism" in 
favour of"pacific, international, spiritual Zionism". For him, 

a Jewish Home in Palestine built up on bayonets and 
oppression [was) not worth having, even though it succeed, 
whereas the very attempt to build it up peacefully, co-
operatively, with understanding, education and good will, 
[was] worth a great deal, even though the attempt should fail. 
[my emphasis, N.C.) 

For Magnes, Zionist policy had to be based on "inner 
conviction", and not on "political necessity": 

It must be our endeavour first to convince ourselves and 
then to convince others that ... Moslems, Christians and 
Jews have each as much right there, no more and no less 
than the other. 74 

If the Arabs were not capable of rising above chauvinistic talk 
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of "war a Ia victoire integral [sic]", then "we Jews must be, 
else we are false to our spiritual heritage and give the lie to 
our much-vaunted high civilization". 

After Philby arrived and the text of a programme was 
actually formulated, Dr Magnes found himself alone among 
Zionists in his promotion of the scheme as the "only possible 
honourable way [to] peace and [the] avoidance of 
bloodshed".75 He further earned the resentment of Zionist 
leaders and Jewish public opinion by using the Hebrew 
University as a platform for the propagation of his views,76 

and by maintaining private contacts with the High Commis-
sioner regarding the scheme.77 By early December, even Dr 
Magnes' most influential supporter expressed regret that the 
Arab camp was "crowing" over the evident split in Jewish 
ranks. 78 

David Ben-Gurion defined his differences with Dr Magnes 
in the following terms:79 

I disagree with Magnes not only on the final goal of Zion-
ism [i.e., Jewish vs. bi-national state], but also on the way 
to a solution to the Jewish-Arab problem, which will not 
come about all-at-once or by means of a winning formula. 
The improvement of relations is an extended process of 
progressive co-operation .... Only with the growth of our 
strength in the country and with our efforts at co-operation 
with the Arabs will we find, in due course, a solution to the 
problem: not on the basis of political formulae about final 
goals, but on the basis of day-to-day interests. 

Along with the labour-Zionists, who appealed for an "Arab 
policy" based on joint work with the "broad Arab masses",80 
other Zionists at the time also derided the idea of searching 
for a political formula. What they did stress was the need for 
improved security ("hag ana") and "practical work" -acceler-
ated immigration, settlement and economic development, 
combined with quiet but steady attempts at rapprochement 
at the grass-roots level.81 As Col. Kisch explained during his 
last months as the head of the Jewish Agency's Political 
Department:B2 

In my view it is entirely futile to seek today [April 1931] 
any agreement based upon a political formula, while our 
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own minimum aspirations and the minimum aspirations of 
the Arab politicans are still poles apart. In these circum-
stances, the only thing to do is to pursue all ways and 
means for developing social, economic and intellectual 
cooperation in order gradually to break down the prevail-
ing atmosphere of antagonism which is a bar to progress 
towards a political understanding. 

A further basic difference in approach between Magnes 
and other Zionists lay in the relative importance they 
attached to an agreement with the Arabs, and the chances 
they gave of ever reaching such an agreement. Men like 
Magnes and Kalvaryski took it as a basic "given" of the 
situation that an accord, however difficult it seemed, was 
indeed possible. In his more pessimistic moments, Dr Magnes 
felt that even the effort shown in abortive attempts had 
redeeming moral value. 

But, whereas Magnes and Kalvaryski tended to see an 
agreement with the Arabs as an absolute imperative for 
Zionism, most decision-makers in the Zionist camp saw the 
importance of an Arab-Zionist accord in relative terms.s3 In 
fact, the concern felt in official circles after 1929 for an 
understanding with the Arabs was motivated in large part by 
the need to lessen the dangerous strains which were develop-
ing in Zionist-British relations. As Hayim Arlosoroff was to 
remark several years later: 84 

the estrangement between us and the British authorities 
has been growing apace. The riots of 1929 came and, in 
their wake, the waves of resentment and bitterness from the 
Jews to the English and from the English to the Jews. We 
are today [November 1932] even farther away from a 
possibility of an agreed and co-ordinated policy between 
the Mandatory Government and the Jews than we were 
twelve years ago. 

DANIEL OLIVER: QUAKER MEDIA TOR 

It is interesting to contrast the mediation attempt of H. St. 
John-Philby with the mission undertaken by an American 
Quaker long-resident in Lebanon, Daniel Oliver. In early 
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1930, apparently on Oliver's own urging, members of the 
Society of Friends in the U.S.A. and in Britain began 
soliciting their governments and local Jewish personalities to 
support the idea of engaging Oliver 

to act as a conciliator between the Arabs & Jews, bringing 
them together in conference, during which their troubles 
could be thoroughly discussed, and an endeavour made to 
promote in each a sympathetic understanding of the 
difficulties of the other.ss 

His plan of action called for the winning of sympathy and 
support from: (1) Arab leaders ("and their agreement to sit in 
conference with Jewish leaders"), (2) Jewish leaders ("and 
their agreement to sit in conference with Arab leaders"), (3) 
the press, (4) the British government ("and its agreement to 
non-interference in the negotiations so long as the course of 
negotiations was not at variance with British policy in 
Palestine"), and (5) American and BritishJewry. 

In April and May, Oliver seems to have met with some 
success in implementing the second and fifth points of his 
plan, and even took some steps towards the fourth. 86 In 
America, Felix Warburg welcomed the affiliation with the 
Q..Iakers, who were "so well known for their impartial Christ-
ianity".&? After meeting with Dr Weizmann in London, Oliver 
proceeded to Geneva, where he sought to give effect to the first 
point of his plan. Exploiting his much-vaunted close connec-
tions with "influential friends in the Arabic speaking countries", 
Oliver renewed his "intimate" acquaintance with Shakib 
Arslan, who directed the Syro-Palestinian Committee there.sa 

During a four-hour talk, Oliver reported that 

I told him that I wanted to bring together the Arabs and 
the Jews .... I said that the thing has got to be; you have 
got to meet Dr W eizmann and you have got to talk this 
situation over, and you have got to find a basis for 
agreement. 

Arslan was careful to reply that he would "try" to do as 
Oliver requested, but that a final decision rested with the 
Palestine Arab Delegation's Secretary, Awni Abd al-Hadi. But 
Awni, as Oliver reported, was very unlikely to agree to 
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meet with Dr Weizmann "for personal reasons" (cf. above, p. 
84f). 

In July 1930, while the Western Wall Commission was in 
Palestine, Oliver came to Palestine at Col. Kisch's invitation in 
an effort to develop fruitful contacts with some of the promin-
ent Muslim personalities who were then in the country.a9 In 
these, as in subsequent,90 meetings, Oliver was cautious and 
modest in his expectations. His thinking was close to that of the 
Zionist leadership, both on the inappropriateness of striving for 
a far-reaching political formula a Ia Philby/Magnes, and also in 
his appraisals of Arab politics and society. A formal Arab-
Zionist conference, he felt, could not take place for at least 
another year,91 and in the meantime he urged Zionists to help 
in the creation of a better atmosphere. 

On the methods to create such an atmosphere, Oliver's 
recommendations seemed to dove-tail perfectly with Col. 
Kisch's approach. Press activity was needed; in particular, a 
subsidy to obtain the services of an influential Arabic 
newspaper which would urge reconciliation between Arabs 
and Jews (al-Muqattam was being considered). A more drastic 
suggestion was the "elimination", "by suitable inducement 
corresponding to the financial loss entailed", of the activity of 
"a few persons who live upon the maintenance and extension 
of anti-Jewish agitation". Only if these steps were taken could 
any serious hopes be attached to winning "the support of the 
real leaders in Arab public Iife".92 

Nothing seems to have been done to put any of Oliver's 
suggestions into effect. In early 1931, when Dr Weizmann 
visited Palestine (see below, pp. 105f), he met with Oliver and 
their discussions still centred on the need to set up "a 
high-grade Arabic journal which could combat the hostile 
propaganda conducted by the extremists".93 Both Kisch and 
Oliver remained convinced at this time that economic 
co-operation had to precede any political rapprochement, and, 
further, that the British attitude of respect for the "extre-
mists" was a major stumbling-block.94 

After Hayim Arlosoroff replaced Kisch as Head of the 
Political Department of the J.A.E., Oliver would again put 
forward suggestions for increased propaganda with a possible 
role for himself:95 
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I have felt for a long time ... that you ought to have a man 
who would be free to travel about in Egypt, Syria, Palestine 
and Iraq, lecturing and getting in touch with the leading 
people, and dispelling suspicion and fear and making the 
Jewish position clear to the Arabs. 

But, as Oliver recognized, such activity required sums of 
money, and these sums were not readily available.96 It also 
appears that, after making a favourable impression on 
Warburg, Weizmann and Kisch, Oliver came to be regarded 
rather negatively by other officials in the J.A.E. Political 
Department.97 Finally, another factor damaging to his media-
tion chances was the British attitude to Oliver, whom they 
regarded as "a well-meaning busy-body ... unlikely to 
achieve anything".9s This opinion, conveyed to the F.O. by its 
representative in Beirut, led to a certain coolness of almost all 
British officials towards his efforts-a coolness which often left 
Oliver discouraged.99 

PREVENTIVE DIPLOMACY: THE JOINT BUREAU 

One very practical Zionist response to the 1929 riots was the 
creation, in December 1929, of the ''Joint Bureau of Jewish 
Public Bodies in Palestine".IOo The activities of the Joint 
Bureau (hereafter: J.B.) were the official resumption-with a 
pretence of broader consultation-of the "Arab work" which 
the P.Z.E. had allowed to stop in early 1928.1°1 

To use the Bureau's own terminology and retrospective 
assessment, the climate for its "positive" work was not very 
favourable throughout 1930; yet, some limited success was 
achieved in the realm of its "negative" activities-or, what 
we have described in the preceding chapter as "preventive 
diplomacy". 

While steering clear of the question of representative 
institutions and avoiding high-level talks on broad political 
issues, theJ.B. set about restoring grass-roots contacts between 
Jews and Arabs on the basis of the following principle: 102 

The improvement of relations is to be sought primarily in 
persistent and progressive efforts to promote Jewish-Arab 



RELATIONS IN THE WAKE OF CRISIS 97 

co-operation in those spheres in which such co-operation 
can find a natural and disinterested basis. These are: (i) 
Intellectual Co-operation; (ii) Social Co-operation; (iii) 
Economic Co-operation. 

This orientation, which closely reflected Col. Kisch's personal 
approach, was later endorsed (even as the J .B., as such, was 
being dissolved) by the Executive elected at the Zionist 
Congress of July 1931.t03 

In practical terms, the main work of the Bureau was 
focused on (a) press and propaganda work-e.g., refuting 
accusations of Jewish designs on the Holy Places, promoting 
Arabic press criticism of "extremist" stances, helping in the 
preparation of the Zionist case before the Shaw Commission 
of Inquiry; (b) intelligence-gathering-the monitoring of 
trends and plans in the Arab community; (c) economic 
rapprochement-e.g., breaking the Arab boycott, helping 
Arab "friends", especially fellahin and workers; and (d) 
support for the creation of would-be moderate political 
groupings. 

As the memory of the riots faded, there was some evidence of 
the gradual resumption of "normal" peaceful relations at the 
grass-roots level. 104 Jews insisted, when concluding local accords 
with Arab villages, on the careful observance of Palestinian 
customs so as to provide for the best possible guarantees for 
future stability. 105 The Arab boycott against contacts with Jews 
also broke down after several months, evidenced by a resump-
tion of friendly (if not always substantial) conversations between 
Arab leaders andJewish representatives. 106 

But the record of local efforts at re-establishing peaceful 
relations with Arabs was a modest one. The local contacts and 
activities initiated by the Bureau showed no marked depar-
ture from those undertaken in the previous decade, despite 
the self-criticism and the quest in some quarters for a really 
new and effective plan for work among the Arabs. 107 The 
nature and quality of grass-roots relations and the motives for 
Arab-Jewish contacts were, in the wake of the 1929 riots, very 
similar to what has been described in the preceding chapters. 
No Arab or Jewish representative, with the exceptions of 
Magnes and Kalvaryski (see below, pp. 99f), was aiming at a 
long-term peace accord. 
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The principal area for potential co-operation was, as in the 
1920s, the creation and strengthening of Arab groups who 
would challenge the existing "extremist" leadership, at this 
time personified in the Mufti of Jerusalem. One colourful 
episode may be recounted here to illustrate the general 
limitations of this sort of work. In March 1930, Tahir 
al-Husaini, nephew of Hajj Amin and the son of the previous 
Mufti, Kamil al-Husaini, took advantage of his uncle's 
absence in London to conspire to declare himself the "true" 
Grand Mufti.Hl8 Tahir secretly contacted the Jews and 
claimed to have open or tacit support from Hajj Amin's many 
rivals and enemies in Palestine: he also expected the H.C. to 
endorse his intended "coup". What he wanted from thejews 
was the provision of an impressive house and expenses with 
which to entertain the notables who, he claimed, would flock 
to Jerusalem to welcome his appointment. He also wanted 
Col. Kisch to sound out the H.C. for his reaction to the 
scheme. In exchange, Tahir offered to make any declarations 
advocating peace with the Jews which the P.Z.E. would 
dictate, and he promised an amicable resolution to the 
dispute over the Wailing Wall. Although it may have seemed 
tempting to Zionists to see their arch-enemy replaced by a 
"moderate" Mufti, they refused to become embroiled in this 
likely fiasco, partly owing to appraisals of Tahir al-Husaini's 
mental stability.1oo 

The work undertaken by H.M. Kalvaryski, who headed the 
J.B., and others in the sphere of promoting "moderates" 
displayed the same difficulties as were encountered in the 
1920s, despite attempts at frugality and greater efficiency.110 
For example, after a year of Jewish "fostering" and an 
investment of more than £P.2150, a group of Arab "moder-
ates" in Jaffa had still "not found it possible to fulfil their 
pledges and to execute the plan which they had set for 
themselves. And even if they did undertake a few sporadic 
actions, it must be admitted that these attempts brought little 
success compared with their original expectations."111 

By late 1931 thej.B., as such, had ceased operations and its 
functions were absorbed into the Political Department of the 
J.A.E. 112 Those responsible for administering the ].A.'s Arab 
policy never really entertained any high hopes for the 
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"so-called Moderate leaders who seek only to use us against 
the Mufti's party". 113 Instead, as in the 1920s (above, p. 64), 
they continued to measure their success in negative terms, 
viz., the apparent disunity which returned to the Arab camp 
following the high-point of solidarity which Palestinian 
politicians had achieved in 1929.114 

KALVARYSKI'S PERSONAL DIPLOMACY 

During the tense months following the 1929 riots, H. M. 
Kalvaryski showed the same eagerness to find a dramatic 
breakthrough with Arab leaders that we witnessed in 1919-
1920 (above, pp. 65f). In January 1930 he met with Awni 
Abd al-Hadi, who refused to discuss an accord seriously, but 
instead used the opportunity to harangue Kalvaryski on the 
importance of the land question, and to heap scorn on the 
latter's pleas for Jewish-Arab understanding: 

As for me, I'll tell you frankly that I'd rather deal with 
Jabotinsky or U ssishkin than with you. I know that those 
men are sworn enemies who want to crush us, take our 
lands and force us to leave the country, and that we must 
fight them. But you, Kalvaryski, seem to be our friend, 
w.hile _deep-down I don't see any difference between your 
goal and J abotinsky's. You, too, stick firmly to the Balfour 
Declaration, the National Home, unrestricted immigration 
and the uninterrupted acquisition of lands occupied by the 
Arabs.m 

More amenable to discussion was the Jerusalem lawyer, 
Omar Salih al-Barghuthi, who was to figure in several other 
Zionist-Arab meetings during the coming decades. In Feb-
ruary, Kalvaryski attempted to reassure Barghuthi that the 
Jews would agree to safeguard the rights of Arabs affected by 
Jewish land purchases. In response, Barghuthi declared that 
he would be willing to renounce exclusive Arab sovereignty 
over Palestine "if there were a possibility of achieving a true 
Jewish-Arab co-operation in all spheres of activity". But, he 
went on, "no human being consents willingly to extend his 
neck so that he might be strangled".ll6 

Although it appears that Kalvaryski was genuinely hoping 
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that his talks would lead to a full-fledged Zionist-Arab 
entente, his Arab interlocutors could only have had more 
limited, tactical considerations in mind. For at that time a 
delegation was being assembled to press Arab claims in 
London,m and Arab hopes were confidently turned towards 
the British for a favourable change in policy. It was hardly the 
moment for any responsible Palestinian leader to consider 
making any binding or serious concessions to the Jews. The 
key interest ofBarghuthi soon became clear: Zionist financial 
support for the creation of a new party dedicated to the 
overthrow of the Mufti. Col. Kisch overruled Kalvaryski's 
recommendations and decided not to invest in such a 
ven ture.us 

But the return of the Palestine Arab Delegation in June 
1930-disappointed in terms of the far-reaching hopes with 
which it had set out-did provide a temporary incentive for 
Arabs to talk more seriously with theJews.l 19 Kalvaryski soon 
reported an invitation from Awni Abd al-Hadi to present the 
A.E. with his ideas for a Jewish-Arab accord. Kalvaryski 
submitted a "Platform for Judaeo-Arab Accord" on August 
lOth, "with the knowledge of the Zionist Executive, but 
without its official endorsement".12o 

The document began by outlining the historic background 
of the two "ancient Semitic tribes" and their aims and 
encounters in modern times. In the nine points of the 
proposed minimum platform, we can see many similarities 
with the plan advocated by Kalvaryski in 1919-1920 (Doc. 
12). Its terms were, however, more explicitly "hi-nationalist", 
contained a mutual "non-domination" pledge, and made 
more specific reference to two contemporary Arab concerns: 
fear of economic dispossession, and hopes for the creation of a 
federation of Arab states. The rest of the document was 
replete with assurances of Jewish good intentions vis-a-vis 
both fellah and effendi, and of Jewish sympathy for legiti-
mate Arab aspirations-even for a Legislative Council, ''if it 
conducts its work in a manner beneficial to all the people of 
the country". 

The Arabs accepted the Platform as a basis for continuing 
negotiations, but only on. the condition that it receive the 
].A.'s official endorsement. 121 There was obviously no point in 
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engaging in further negotiations if the plan represented only 
one man's views; furthermore, given the gap between the 
Platform and the known position of the J.A., the Arabs no 
doubt welcomed the opportunity to pressure the latter to 
move in Kalvaryski's direction. 

But official endorsement of the Platform was not, as 
Kalvaryski had hoped, forthcoming. Col. Kisch had to point 
out to Kalvaryski that he had gone too far, notably: (1) in 
implying, through insufficient disclaimers, that official Jewish 
bodies might feel bound by his purely private memorandum; 
(2) in declaring that the Jews would have no objection to 
Palestine joining an Arab confederation and would claim no 
special status therein; and (3) in the extent to which he 
emphasized that the Jews would welcome a Legislative 
Council.122 The tone of Kisch's letter was carefully supportive 
of Kalvaryski's continued contacts with Awni Abd-al-Hadi, 
but only after amendment of the Platform on these three 
points. Kalvaryski appears to have ignored these suggestions, 
and instead waited-in vain-for either the J.A.E. or the A.E. 
to move beyond the deadlock which had developed.'23 

ROTENBERG PROPOSALS 

As indicated above, the riots of 1929 caused Zionists much 
concern in the area of their relations with the British. After 
the publication of the Shaw Report (April 1930), Dr Weiz-
mann co-opted Pinhas Rutenberg-an influential Palestinian 
industrialist then serving as President of Palestine Jewry's 
Vaad Leumi-to carry on Zionist-British negotiations at the 
C.O. Like Judah Magnes, Rutenberg had his doubts about the 
wisdom and the abilities of the duly-elected Zionist leader-
ship, and sought to supply his own ideas and initiative in 
London in mid-1930. But unlike Magnes or Kalvaryski, 
Rutenberg was given a free hand to put forward a series of 
proposalst24 to British officials and he began his activities with 
Dr Weizmann's blessing.t25 

With the disappointments of the Shaw Report as his 
negative inspiration, Rutenberg presented a plan to the C.O. 
which contained provisions to curb the powers of the Mufti 
and to reorganise the Palestine administration so as to 
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include only those officials who were "in sympathy with the 
Jewish National Home policy". Strict censorship was to be 
enforced to prevent any incitement to racial or religious strife. 
The Prime Minister would be called upon to issue a public 
statement in solid support of the Zionist programme. Other 
aspects of the plan included: separate, democratically-elected 
institutions to deal with internal matters of the two commun-
ities; immigration limited only by the absorptive capacity of 
the country; Government supervision of land sales to protect 
displaced fellahin; credit facilities to ease the burden of 
fellahin debts to money-lenders;126 a development loan for 
Transjordan; and the involvement of individual Arabs in 
Jewish undertakings. 

Unlike Magnes or Kalvaryski, Rutenberg directed his plan 
at the British, and apparently held no direct or indirect 
dialogues with any Arabs on the subject.m The style of his 
intervention was, in effect, a request for an "imposed 
solution" to be handed down by the all-powerful masters of 
the country. Rutenberg's hope was that such a plan, coming 
from the British, would have had the effect of breaking Arab 
solidarity and of winning the support of the Nashashibi and 
other opposition factions, thus isolating the "extremists" and 
rendering them powerless.12s 

For a brief moment, Lord Passfield seemed interested 
in re-orienting British policy along the lines suggested by 
Rutenberg. The Colonial Secretary was particularly im-
pressed because the proposals "represent[ed] [a] considerable 
advance on anything with which the Zionists [had] hitherto 
shown themselves willing to be associated".t29 

But, in fact, official Zionist backing for Rutenberg's nego-
tiations at the C.O. soon became clouded with reservations. 
Members of the Executive both in London and in Jerusalem 
were taken aback at Rutenberg's secretiveness and failure to 
consult them, and they expressed grave concern over his 
proposal to give the Arab community its own separate 
elective body.130 In the end, ironically, it was the strenuous 
intervention of the H.C., Sir John Chancellor-a man "none 
too friendly to Zionism"-which saved Zionists from what 
Col. Kisch considered "a political catastrophe of our own 
creation". 131 
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It was Chancellor's telegraphic advice in early June and 
personal meetings in July which put an end to any C.O. 
movement in the direction of supporting Rutenberg's propo­
sals.132 While Rutenberg had been willing to assume responsi­
bility for the economic clauses of his plan, it was the British 
government alone which could have provided-but which 
chose not to provide133-the vital and coercive political 
component of the proposed policy. The formulation of British 
policy in the second half of 1930, as we have seen, followed a 
completely different course, the results of which gravely 
shocked the Zionists and which was reversed in February 
1931 only after further intensive Zionist-British negotiation at 
theC.O. 

WEIZMANN
'

S PERSONAL DIPLOMACY 

It would be wrong to assume that mavericks like Magnes and 
Kalvaryski completely monopolised the field of contacts with 
Arabs in the months following the 1929 riots. In addition to 
the network of grass-roots contacts established by Col. Kisch 
and the J.B. in Palestine, Dr Weizmann secretly engaged the 
services of a number of individuals who maintained links 
with Arab personalities. One of these, the journalist Ittamar 
Ben-Avi (above, pp. 54f.), reported frequently on his meetings 
with Arabs in Palestine, Egypt, London and Europe during 
1930.u' While his reports made for interesting reading, his 
persistent optimism regarding an imminent breakthrough to 
serious negotiations was never rewarded by any actual 
meeting involving Dr Weizmann.135 

A British-based German-Arab, Rudolphe Said-Ruete, also 
served secretly as one of Dr Weizmann's personal emissaries. 

Said-Ruete developed contacts with Awni Abd al-Hadi, 
Jamal al-Husaini and others,l36 and travelled to the Middle 
East to sound out Arab opinion for the Zionists. His reports, 
closer in tone to those of Daniel Oliver than to Ben-Avi's, 
underlined Arab resoluteness and were not optimistic about 
the prospects of face-to-face meetings.137 While appreciating 
his honesty and devotion to the cause of Jewish-Arab 
reconciliation, Weizmann and Kisch gradually came to 
doubt the usefulness ofSaid-Ruete's efforts.l38 
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During August 1930, attempts were made to arrange a 
meeting between Dr Weizmann and King Faisal of Iraq, 
during the latter's visit to Europe. In the end, no meeting took 
place, owing to incompatibilities in the two leaders' time-
tables.139 

Through the efforts of a French:Jewish journalist, Ovadia 
Camhy, contacts were established later that year between the 
former Egyptian Khedive, Abbas Hilmi II, and Zionist 
officials. Following a suggestion of a member of Abbas' World 
Islamic Council,14o Dr Weizmann met the ex-Khedive in Paris 
in mid-November and some general principles were outlined. 
The two men discussed the common origins of the two 
peoples and their fundamental compatibility, and Dr Weiz-
mann evoked his post-War agreement with Faisal. They 
agreed upon the desirability of convening a round-table 
conference, of setting up a prestigious mixed Jewish-Arab 
committee, and of having an Arabic newspaper in Palestine 
to foster the idea of co-operation.141 But the talks remained 
without any serious follow-through-to Camby's and appar-
ently to Abbas' chagrin142-largely because the Zionists 
doubted the extent of the ex-Khedive's influence in Palestin-
ian Arab circles.l43 

As an outgrowth of this episode, Camhy worked closely 
with Mahmud Azmi, an Egyptian journalist who would later 
serve as a useful link between Zionist and Arab leaders. 144 
During 1931, Camhy was forced to realize the futility of 
political talks and instead directed his energies, together with 
Azmi, towards "intellectual co-operation" between Arabs and 
Jews. But the funds required to launch their proposed journal 
were not forthcoming from theJ.A.E.145 

Dr Weizmann also attempted to win over the Indian 
Muslim, Shawkat Ali, to act as a moderating influence among 
his Palestinian co-religionists. Weizmann, Kisch and Oliver 
each met with Shawkat, and were independently impressed 
by his straightforwardness.146 But after a few days in Palestine, 
on the occasion of his late brother's burial in the Haram 
ash-Sharif, Shawkat Ali quickly came to share the Mufti's 
attitude to resolving the Arab-Zionist problem.147 

Another dimension of official Zionist concern for better 
relations with Arabs was the effort to cultivate friends in the 
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countries surrounding Palestine, particularly Egypt and 
Transjordan.t•a In February 1931, for example, Col. Kisch 
made a relatively high-profile visit to Amman to strengthen 
the Zionists' "Hashemite connection". 149 The timing of the 
visit-immediately following publication of the MacDonald 
Letter-had the deliberate purpose of "reduc[ing] the likeli-
hood of support being afforded from Amman to the fresh 
anti:J ewish agitation inaugurated by the Palestine Arab 
Executive".150 The visit also helped prepare the ground for Dr 
Weizmann's proposed visit the following month. 

The climax of Dr Weizmann's personal diplomacy after 
1929-but by no means a triumph-was the Zionist leader's 
open attempt to meet Arab leaders during his visit to 
Palestine in March 1931. Undeterred by threats against his 
life or by advice from close associates, Weizmann was intent 
on capitalising on the publication of the MacDonald Letter, 
which he felt gave him new strength with which to approach 
the Arabs.151 Despite reservations of some C.O. officials,152 

Lord Passfield asked Sir John Chancellor to "do everything in 
[his] power to assist [Dr Weizmann's] efforts towards so 
desirable an end", i.e., an accommodation with Arab leaders. 
To this the H.C. loyally agreed.m 

Anticipating Weizmann's visit only five days after the 
MacDonald Letter, Falastin reacted:t54 

We ... want to make it clear to Weizmann that there is no 
hope for cooperation unless the black interpretation of the 
White Paper is withdrawn. Therefore let him, if he likes, 
save himself the trouble of coming here for the purpose of 
cooperation. 

Some Arabs, interpreting the MacDonald Letter as "expressly 
authoris[ing] the Jews to boycott the Arabs", regarded their 
boycott of the Zionist leader as a retaliatory measure. 155 

Editorials which greeted the Zionist leader on his arrival 
were scornful and taunting. The A.E., in a proclamation 
dated March 24th, reminded the nation not only of Dr 
Weizmann's deviousness and seductiveness, but also of the 
larger issue involved:ts6 

The mere negotiation of Arabs either officially or semi-
officially with the foreign Zionists, apart from its being not 
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profitable to the political interests of the Arabs, constitutes 
in itself a recognition of the Balfour Declaration, of the 
Mandate in which the Declaration is embodied, and of the 
Zionist policy which is based upon it. 

Feeling against Dr Weizmann became sufficiently worked up 
as to cause an almost complete refusal of Arabs to meet with 
him.m It even resulted in a leading Jewish businessman 
begging to be excused from visiting the Zionist leader, since 
he wished to avoid the "serious risk of arousing the suspicions 
of those Arabs with whom [he was] working" and to whom he 
had promised to keep a low political profile. 158 

While the "boycott Weizmann" movement was gaining 
momentum inside Palestine, Col. Kisch (with the assistance of 
Mahmud Azmi) went ahead with plans for the Zionist 
leader's visit to the Amir Abdallah.159 But even the friendly 
Amir, who had initially appeared eager to receive Dr 
Weizmann in Amman, bowed to the pressure and called off 
the meeting, offering diplomatic excuses.16° · 

When Dr Weizmann met with the H.C. in Jerusalem, he 
was forced to admit the failure of his attempts to open a 
dialogue with Arab leaders. Trying to sound an optimistic 
note, Weizmann suggested that those few meetings he did 
hold were an indication that grass-roots feeling for an 
understanding "would grow and that in eight months or a 
year's time it would be possible to bring about co-operation 
between the Arabs and the Jews" .161 

Chancellor's reaction was characteristically cool. All along, 
he had felt it prudent to defer to Arab sentiment, and not to 
exert any pressure on Dr Weizmann's behalf. He was sceptical 
about Weizmann's optimism, and suggested that Arab-
Zionist meetings would be more promising in London than in 
Palestine.162 Although he did not press the point with British 
officials, Dr Weizmann felt that the failure of his "peace 
initiative" was at least in part due to the absence of positive 
support from the H.C.163 

DEVELOPMENT SCHEME NEGOTIATIONS 

We conclude our discussion of post-1929 negotiating oppor-
tunities with a brief mention of one of the few positive 
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features of British Palestine policy at this time: the considera-
tion of a scheme for the economic development of the country 
and the re-settlement of Arabs who had been displaced by 
Jewish land-purchase.164 The preparation of such a develop-
ment scheme, being a constructive and ostensibly "non-
political" question, seemed to offer a reasonable hope for 
quiet Zionist-Arab co-operation, and even for tri-lateral 
British-Arab-Zionist negotiations.165 

But the issue was, indeed, a "political" one for the A.E., 
which was still feeling the effects of the MacDonald Letter. In 
response to the British invitation to send a delegation to 
London, the A.E. set out the following conditions for Arab 
participation:166 

1. That the Arab representatives' participation in the 
discussion shall not be interpreted as meaning that they 
adhere to the Jewish National Home policy. 
2. That the discussion shall not be based upon the 
MacDonald letter or any other statement confirming that 
policy. 
3. That the discussion shall take place in Palestine through 
an accredited representative and not in London, because 
the programme which will be the objective [sic] of the 
discussion will be applied to Palestine. 
4. That the Arab representatives shall not participate in the 
discussion together with the Jewish delegates. 

Privately, however, it was rumoured that the Arabs would 
likely forego the third condition-especially as Sir John 
Chancellor was offering to defray the delegation's transporta-
tion costs to London.167 Also, Col. Kisch believed that there 
was some chance, once the Arabs did reach London, that 
"they might be induced to depart from" their fourth condi-
tion.168 But, in the end, such optimism proved unwarranted, 
and the Arabs refused to go to London.169 

The intended "round-table" style of discussion was conse-
quently abandoned in favour of parallel British-Zionist and 
British-Arab talks in London and Palestine, respectively.l7° 
Once again the Zionists were disappointed in the British role. 
As Col. Kisch noted:l71 

I cannot but think that with a little more patience and 
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encouragement the Arabs here could have been brought to 
change their minds about sending a delegation to Lon-
don .... This is another case of the absence of persistence on 
the part of the Government when it is a matter of bringing 
Jews and Arabs together. 

CONCLUSION 

As we have seen, the riots of 1929 were serious enough to 
provide new incentives for reassessments of the whole ques-
tion of Jewish-Arab relations and British policy in Palestine. 
In particular, it caused some people to reconsider, for the first 
time since 1922, diplomatic solutions to a conflict which had 
just displayed its dangerous potential for getting out-of-hand. 

On a formal level, at least, official Zionist circles displayed 
a heightened concern for their "Arab problem"; the new 
Executive elected by the 1931 Zionist Congress declared that 
one of its main goals was "to take active measures in the 
economic, social and political spheres with a view to further-
ing friendly relations and establishing a rapprochement 
between Jews and Arabs in Palestine".172 Even at the level of 
Jewish public opinion, Col. Kisch was ''glad to say that since 
the riots of 1929 a considerable advance [had] been made .... 
It is now [February, 1931] at least possible for us to discuss the 
issues with Arab leaders without being accused of trea-
chery".m There were also brief moments when, as we have 
noted, the Arab press spoke of the possibilities of an Arab-
Zionist understanding. 

Yet, looking at actual cases of attempted negotiations, we 
saw few radical departures from the patterns which had been 
established before the riots. The period following the riots was 
highly fluid and uncertain politically; as a result, there was 
no single moment when both sides simultaneously felt 
convinced about the need to find an immediate solution 
through compromise and Arab-Zionist negotiations. Most of 
the time, each party appeared to be working towards inviting 
the British to impose a settlement which was favourable to its 
exclusive national interests. 



Conclusion 

Looking back over the period surveyed in this volume, we can 
see that each party had had, by 1931, a fairly rich experience 
of contact and negotiation with the other. Our examination 
included a dozen serious attempts at an agreement: episodes 
which took place in periods of calm, of uncertainty, of tension 
and of violence; episodes which involved individuals at 
various levels within the hierarchies of each camp. 

In none of these episodes did we find the necessary 
conditions and incentives for the successful conclusion of an 
Arab-Zionist entente. The interest in an accord shown in 1913 
and 1914 by both parties was soon overtaken by doubts and 
hesitations relating mainly to the realization of a real gap 
separating their respective positions and the disruptive effect 
of shifts in Turkish interests. The post-War period of uncer-
tainty and exaggerated expectations was a period during 
which, despite the intensity of diplomatic activity, the true 
object of Zionist and Arab attention was the new British 
masters of the area. 

Once the Jewish National Home policy of the British 
Mandate was in place, the goal of Arab nationalists in 
Palestine was to subvert that policy, while the Zionists 
directed their efforts at maintaining a satisfactory level of 
British sympathy and firmness in applying that same policy. 

109 
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After 1922, neither side felt that a full-blown entente with the 
other was necessary for the achievement of its national goals. 
Nor was there any ad hoc incentive or pressure on either side 
to initiate serious negotiations with the other. Those political 
and quasi-political encounters which did take place were 
motivated, as we have seen, by considerations other than the 
desire to conclude a total peace agreement. 

The riots of 1929 and their aftermath provided a strong 
incentive to explore diplomatic solutions to the Arab-Zionist 
conflict, but in the immediate wake of the crisis there were no 
radical departures from the patterns or approaches of the 
1920s. Despite a brief flurry of negotiating activity, both sides 
were primarily interested in ensuring that the reformulation 
of post-1929 British policy did as little damage as possible to 
their original, irreconcilable goals. 

LESSONS OF EXPERIENCE 

Although they produced no workable entente, the early 
Arab-Zionist contacts surveyed above did provide a rich 
experience for negotiators and would-be negotiators on both 
sides. Some of the common lessons learned by both sides may 
be summarised as follows: 

(a) Appearances. Since we tend to praise, almost automati-
cally, any party which seems to want to negotiate (and to 
condemn, in advance, a party which is reluctant or refuses to 
sit down to talks) 1, both Arab and Zionist leaders recognised 
the need to give the appearance of being interested in holding 
talks. On given occasions, leaders found themselves faced 
with the tactical necessity of contributing to the external 
impression that negotiations were possible, or actually under-
way. 

Despite their profound scepticism about the successful 
conclusion of a satisfactory accord, Zionists were frequently in 
the position where they had to demonstrate to the British that 
they were, indeed, making every effort at being reasonable 
and conciliatory in their attitude to the Arabs. Likewise, they 
saw the advantage of fostering Arab "moderates", whose 
existence and occasional pronouncements helped create the 
impression, for British eyes, that there existed Arab spokes-
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men who were interested in an Arab-Zionist accord on Zionist 
terms. 

As we shall see below, Palestinian Arab leaders were no less 
sceptical than the Zionists about the chances of reaching an 
acceptable accord. But, despite this, and despite the official 
Palestinian strategy of boycotting contacts with the Zionists to 
deny their legitimacy as a partner in determining the fate of 
the country, some members of the A.E. did see the tactical 
advantage of creating the impression (again for British eyes) 
that Zionists and Arabs were capable of agreeing on defined 
political issues. Thus, for example, we saw Jamal al-Husaini 
and others making friendly overtures to the Jews between 
1924 and 1928 in order to show the British that the Jewish 
community was not as solidly opposed to a Legislative 
Council as the Zionist leadership professed-an important 
requirement for the Arab campaign to reopen public discus-
sions on representative institutions for Palestine.2 

(b) Tactics and Timing. During the period prior to 1931, 
leaders in both camps had ample opportunity to develop a 
keen sense of timing and a sensitivity for tactics: when to 
initiate contacts; when to abstain; how to create, or avoid, the 
appearance of being interested in political discussions, etc. 

The delicate question of seizing the right moment for 
successful negotiations was often under cautious scrutiny. 
Some general rules of the negotiating process became readily 
apparent. For example, "don't negotiate from a position of 
weakness" was a dictum which applied to Zionists in the 
wake of the riots of 1920, 1921 and 1929; these were obviously 
not the right "psychological moments" for talks. Likewise, for 
the Arabs it meant refusing to meet with Zionist leaders 
following the publication of the pro-Zionist MacDonald 
Letter ofFebruary 1931. 

Perceptions of the relative strength of one's own side 
vis-a-vis the "enemy" were, thus, important determinants of 
the willingness to enter into talks, or to hold back from 
participating. Finally, we may note that periods of great 
political uncertainty, such as during the post-War Military 
Administration period or following the appointment of the 
Shaw Commission, dictated caution and hesitation to leaders 
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on both sides, since any tentative commitments likely to be 
made through Arab-Zionist negotiation might easily be 
overtaken by outside events. 

(c) Tactical Alliances. A frequent motive for Arabs or 
Zionists to make overtures to each other can be understood by 
the dictum, "my enemy's enemy is my friend". Thus, to the 
extent that Zionists found themselves deadlocked with the 
recognised Palestinian Arab leadership-the A.E., the Mufti, 
the S.M.C., and their supporters (al-majlisiyyun), they found it 
useful to cultivate good relations with opponents of these 
groups (al-mauridun). 3 The former were almost automatically 
dubbed "the extremists" by the Zionists, while the latter 
became known, by default, as "the moderates"-a distinction 
which exaggerated the differences between the two on the 
question of coming to a real compromise with the Zionist 
enterprise in Palestine. 

Zionist support for the creation of political clubs and 
parties (e.g., the MNA., Farmers' Parties), subsidies to 
certain newspapers, and underwriting of loans to selected 
individuals helped build a shaky "marriage of convenience", 
based on temporary practical and political interests. But there 
was no serious chance that the "moderates" would have 
displaced the "extremists", or that-once having done 
so-they would thereafter have been interested in (and 
capable of) concluding a lasting accord with the Zionists for 
the reconciliation of their basic national aspirations. 

If Zionists found ample scope to build alliances which 
capitalised on internal divisions in the Arab community, 
Arab leaders likewise attempted to exploit intra-communal 
rivalries within the yishuv. Thus, there were occasional 
appeals for solidarity with their Sephardi or native-born 
Jewish "brethren", or threats to exploit the rift between the 
general Jewish community and the ultra-orthodox organisa-
tions.4 Although neither side was able to sustain any long-
enduring and useful relationships based on such alliances, it 
must be said that the Zionists were more successful than the 
Arabs in the sowing of discord in the "enemy" camp. 

The most potentially significant-but also the most unli-
kely-tactical alliance was the Arab suggestion for a joint 
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anti-British front. At times, Arab-Zionist cooperation was only 
implicitly connected to anti-British possibilities, as in the 
1922 Cairo negotiations (above, pages 55-61). At other times, 
the anti-British implications were more obvious, as in discus-
sions with Awni Abd al-Hadi in 1919 (above, pp. 39f).5 

Another, more subtle, formulation of the same idea was 
that the success of any Arab-Zionist agreement depended on 
the Zionists receiving an Arab "Balfour" Declaration-either 
in addition to, or in place of, the original British pledge. Some 
of the suggested candidates for the role of "Arab Balfour" 
were the Syrian Committee in Cairo (1922), the Amir 
Abdallah, King Fuad of Egypt and Riad as-Sulh.6 

At no point were principal Zionist leaders tempted to 
consider such alliances; in fact, they occasionally invoked 
their rejection of such overtures as proof of their continuing 
loyalty to Great Britain.? Although many Zionists appreciated 
that the British presence was temporary while the Arab 
population was a permanent factor to be reckoned with,8 they 
were quick to avoid dealings which had anti-British or 
anti-European overtones. Most Zionists-including the inter-
nationalist and "anti-imperialist" spokesmen of the Jewish 
labour movement9-calculated that, when a choice had to be 
made between such Arab overtures and maintaining British 
goodwill, the benefits to be had from their "British connec-
tion" far outweighed anything the Arabs seemed willing or 
able to offer. 

The dictum, "My enemy's enemy is my friend" could not 
produce a tactical Arab-Zionist alliance simply because the 
Zionists and British were not "enemies". Despite frequent 
Zionist complaints about the imperfect sympathy and sup-
port coming from British officials in Palestine, and despite 
suspicions that some officials were indeed playing Jews and 
Arabs against each other,10 the Zionist-British connection 
remained firm. The connection was further tightened by the 
riots of 1920, 1921, and 1929, which effectively pushed farther 
into the future the day when the Jews would feel safe 
"alone" in the country with their Arab neighbours. As Col. 
Kisch noted in May 1923: "It is ... clear that we do emphati-
cally need the Mandate to-day, while we number only 11% of 
the population of which the remainder are ranged almost to 
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the last man behind the banner of a hostile organisation [i.e., 
the M.C.A.]."u 

Likewise, in their rejection of the idea of having the Jewish 
National Home under the British Mandate replaced by 
guarantees in a re-united Palestine under the friendly Amir 
Abdallah, Zionists felt that "political stability was hardly to 
be expected of the Arabs as a whole and ... little confidence 
could be felt in their ability to guarantee security either of life 
or property". 12 Even in 1924-a year marked by tranquillity 
in Palestine and Zionist self-congratulation that their "Arab 
problem" was on the way to being solved13-Col. Kisch 
proclaimed to a "moderate" Arab spokesman: "We desire 
that the Arabs should recognize our rights, and also [my 
emphasis, N.C.] the right of the Mandatory Power to guaran-
tee them. " 14 

In response to those who have cited the British-Zionist 
connection as an impediment to the chances of reaching an 
Arab-Zionist agreement,15 it must be asked whether such an 
agreement would have been successfully consummated even 
if there had been no British-Zionist connection. In the 
episodes we have seen above, the absence of positive Palestin-
ian involvement and the doubtful ability of Arab negotiators 
to "deliver the goods" were, in themselves, serious enough 
obstacles to cause the failure of those negotiation attempts. 

(d) Status of the Negotiators. From their experience of 
contacts prior to 1931, Arab and Zionist representatives made 
assessments of their opposite-numbers in terms of back-
ground, family or communal connections, ideological posi-
tions, and the authority which they commanded within their 
respective political communities. The Zionists were quite 
systematic in this respect, and by late 1931 theJ.A.E. Political 
Department had a detailed card-index of some 800 Arabs in 
Palestine and in the neighbouring countries. 16 

By this time, Arabs already knew that any deal arrived at 
with people like H. M. Kalvaryski or Dr Judah Magnes had 
little chance of bearing fruit. Even though these two personal-
ities went further than other Jews in the direction of meeting 
their demands, Arab leaders did not expect much from their 
relations with these Jewish "moderates"-either because they 
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suspected that they were "extremists" in disguise, or because 
they knew that only Z.O. officials, like Dr Weizmann or Col. 
Kisch, had the real power to "deliver the goods" for the 
Zionist end of any bargain. The frequent use of men like 
Kalvaryski, Ben-Avi and others by the P.Z.E. or by Dr 
Weizmann as semi-official go-betweens only complicated the 
problem of the status of Zionist negotiators. 

For their part, Zionists began to realize-despite their 
recurring pleas to the British to support the "moderate" 
Arabs and not to curry favour with the "extremists"-that 
only negotiations with their committed opponents could 
eventually lead to a worthwhile peace accord. Accumulated 
Zionist disappointments in the political strength and convic-
tion of so-called Arab "moderates" prior to 1931 made it clear 
that the latter could not be counted upon to "deliver" their 
end of any political deal. This lesson was to be one of David 
Ben-Gurion's starting-points after 1933, when he would 
deliberately seek to negotiate with the "genuine" patriots who 
could not be boughtY 

PALESTINIAN AND NON-PALESTINIAN ARABS 

Another lesson learned by Zionists regarding the status of 
Arab negotiators relates to the important distinction between 
Palestinians and non-Palestinians. Experience soon taught 
them how difficult it was to reach a political agreement 
between themselves and the Palestinians on a purely local 
basis. Hence Zionists developed a two-pronged strategy: 
political relations would be reserved for leaders of the wider 
"pan-Arab" movement, while within Palestine they would 
strive to establish healthy day-to-day social and economic 
relations with the Arab population.1s 

It was at a relatively early stage that Zionists realized that, 
for an agreement with the Arabs on Zionist terms, the 
problem needed to be considered in a wider frame of 
reference than Palestine alone. Hence they sought out credi-
ble, strong non-Palestinian leaders who could be expected to 
view the issue as a regional question. In his talks with Arabs 
before World War I, Richard Lichtheim suggested to them 
that the "Arab question" was 
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more extensive than the Palestine question. If the Arabs 
allow us to buy land in Palestine and to colonize (in the 
process of which the fellaheen must somehow be cared for), 
they will be able to win through our agency the goodwill of 
the European press and eventually of Jewish financial 
circles for the development of Arabism.t9 

A distinctly local Palestinian patriotism, reinforced by a 
hard-line local opposition to Zionist development, was al-
ready an element in the conflict before the First World War20 

and continued into the period covered in this volume (and 
down to the present day) to be an obstacle to a negotiated 
settlement on terms acceptable to the Zionists. When the 
latter dealt with the Arab Decentralists (1913-1914), with the 
Amirs Faisal or Abdallah, with Riad as-Sulh, or with other 
non-Palestinian pan-Arabists, they were able to find some 
common ground on which to discuss the ingredients of an 
exchange of services. For this exchange of services to be 
implemented, however, the acquiescence of the local Palestin-
ian leadership was essential. In the end, no combination of 
Zionist inducements and pan-Arab urging would be strong 
enough to win this acquiescence. In fact, it may be argued 
that the very process of repeated attempts to solve the 
Zionist-Palestinian conflict through the offices of non-
Palestinian politicians only stiffened local loyalties and suspi-
cions of outsiders. 

Although, in ideological terms, Palestinians also shared the 
hopes and dreams of Arab unity, most of them were not so 
devoted to the ideal of pan-Arabism, or so loyal to an 
individual pan-Arab leader, as to be willing to sacrifice the 
option of an independent Palestinian-Arab state. Whenever 
Palestinians felt that their participation in pan-Arab confe-
deration or unity schemes might further the prospect of real 
independence from the British or Zionists, they were ardent 
pan-Arabists. But once this hope appeared to fade, and 
especially when a deal to accommodate Zionist interests was 
rumoured, their pan-Arab orientations became secondary to 
defence of narrower local interests.21 The activities and 
attitudes of Awni Abd al-Hadi offer a vivid illustration of this 
Palestinian point of view. 22 
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Thus, (a) the mutual non-recognition of Zionists and 
Palestinians as legitimate partners for serious political negotia­
tions, (b) the Zionist preference for dealing with non­
Palestinian leaders, and (c) the Palestinians' suspicions of the 
latter were becoming, by 1931, an enduring pattern of 
Arab-Zionist diplomacy and a formidable obstacle to the 
successful conclusion of a negotiated accord. 

THIRD-PARTY CONSIDE .ATIONS 

It is sometimes said that a solution to the Arab-Zionist 
conflict would have come about more easily if only Arabs and 

Jews had been left to themselves to settle their differences 
without outside interference. Such speculation seems based on 
wishful thinking and is almost beside-the-point, given the 
evidence we have seen of the role played first by the Turks 
and then by the British. The point is not that Turks and 
Englishmen have subordinated Arab and Zionist interests to 
their own; true enough, both At-ab and Zionist leaders have 
had to take into consideration the wishes and interests of 
these powerful outsiders. The crucial point to note here is that 
both parties-despite frequent lip-service to the notion that 
the two parties ought to negotiate directly in order to ar­
rive at an understanding between them23- have deliberately 
chosen to invite the involvement 0/ these outside powers whenever 
they felt it would help them advance their respective national 
interests. Given the situation in which neither party was a 
sovereign, independent factor, but rather dependent on the 
great power which controlled Palestine, Arabs and Zionists 
looked first, in almost all the episodes discussed above, to the 
Turks or British for what they wanted most. They approached 
each other only when it appeared that such a move was 
necessary to further their respective causes. 

This is not to say that the contribution of third-parties to 
the worsening conflict has been, on balance, benign, or even 
neutral. That contribution, it must be concluded, has indeed 
been a negative one, but not in a way which would support 
the simplistic thesis that peace-efforts of Arabs and Jews have 
been sabotaged by evil, machiavellian imperialists. What is 
evident from the episodes we have surveyed is that the 

R
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conflict was aggravated by ambiguities of British policy and 
by fluctuations in Arab and Zionist perceptions of British 
intentions. This uncertainty allowed (and sometimes encour-
aged) one side or the other to inflate its expectations to the 
point where frustration and disillusionment were inevitable. 
Uncertainties of British policy also influenced Arab and 
Zionist tactical decisions on whether to negotiate with each 
other, or-more often-when to abstain from meetings. 

We must also avoid viewing the British position in the 
Arab-Zionist-British triangle as that of impartial umpire or 
disinterested mediator between two rival parties. It is true 
that the British did, on several occasions, seek to present 
themselves as arbitrators, going through the motions of joint 
consultations in an attempt to hammer out a set of terms 
acceptable to both sides (e.g., the 1922 White Paper; talks to 
resolve the Wailing Wall crisis). But, given the drastically 
unequal power as between the "mediator", on the one hand, 
and the parties in conflict, on the other, this so-called 
mediation was in reality a process in which pressure and 
incentives were employed in order to coax one or both parties 
to accept, "voluntarily", the inevitable.24 

Arab and Zionist leaders, for their part, certainly did not 
perceive the British as "honest brokers". More often than not, 
they viewed the British as unfairly favouring the other side 
and as the cause of the other party's unreasonable expecta-
tions and behaviour. Zionist-Revisionists were most eloquent 
on this point, although they were by no means alone in the 
Zionist camp when they argued that improved Arab-Jewish 
relations would come about 

only as a result of a firm [British] attitude calculated to 
convince the Arab population that the Jewish National 
Home policy, and especially the active encouragement of 
Jewish immigration, is the guiding principle of the Admin-
istration, a principle from which it will never depart. 

Such firmness, they claimed, was 

the only means to discourage the extremist section among 
the Arabs and to strength[en] the influence of their 
moderate circles-circles willing to negotiate with the 
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Zionists on the basis of an unequivocal acceptance of 
[Zionist rights in Palestine).25 

Arab spokesmen, for their part, found it "impossible to 
think that Britain with her splendid tradition of Justice and 
Fair Dealing should in Palestine continue a policy not only 
against the wishes of the people, but rousing their deepest 
resentment". As far as they could see, the British government 
had "placed itself in the position of a partisan in Palestine of 
a certain policy which the Arab cannot accept because it 
means his extinction sooner or later". The Arabs repeatedly 
professed their disbelief that the British could give their 
backing to Zionist demands which, they felt, would result in 
the i~ustice of Jewish political ascendancy and the conse-
quent "smother[ing of] their national life under a flood of 
alien immigration" .26 

Such Zionist and Arab views of the British role led, not 
unnaturally, to requests for what may be called "imposed 
solutions" to the conflict. Zionists consistently urged the 
British to apply the Balfour Declaration policy so firmly that 
the problem would be "solved" by the Arabs being forced to 
accept the fait accompli of a permanent and flourishing Jewish 
majority. The Arabs, for their part, submitted demands, 
issued protests, and resorted to violence in their efforts to 
convince the British to abandon the Balfour Declaration 
policy, and thereby pave the way for what they felt was the 
only just solution to the conflict: "the Arab people of 
Palestine cannot and will not tolerate theJews except on the 
pre-war system of equal rights and privileges with themselves 
founded on a numerical basis".27 

TERMS OF AGREEMENT 

On the basis ofpre-1931 negotiation attempts, one is tempted 
to conclude that, if there was ever the faintest hope of a 
successful Arab-Zionist agreement, its terms would have been 
those of a pan-Arab exchange of services: for the pan-Arab 
leader(s), Jewish development capital, technical assistance 
and international political support for the broad "Arab 
cause"; for the Zionists, Arab recognition of some form of 
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Jewish national existence in Palestine, including pressure on 
the Palestinian Arabs to moderate their hostility to the Zionist 
programme. 

Quite apart from the near-impossibility of a pan-Arab 
leader being able to "deliver" the Palestinian acquiescence 
required for such a bargain, there were difficulties even at the 
level of the apparently ideal terms being proposed. Although 
they were never fully put to the test, Zionists were not really 
capable of providing either weighty pro-Arab political lobby-
ing or substantial economic assistance for the Arabs. To the 
extent that the Amir Faisal's expectations had been aroused, 
he found that the Zionists were unable to deliver even a 
sample of the "goods" which he required.2a 

The apparently generous terms offered to Zionists by 
pan-Arabists also proved less substantial than the former 
would have wished. From their point of view, the agreement 
with Faisal (Document 8) was the most that could be 
expected. In its text, Zionists had won the Arab ruler's 
implicit recognition of a separate, ''Jewish" Palestine, and his 
explicit acceptance of the Balfour Declaration (Art. III) and of 
the need to encourage Jewish immigration to and settlement 
in Palestine (Art. IV). 

Within months of the signing of the agreement, however, 
Faisal claimed that he had agreed only to a Jewish national 
enclave within his future united Arab kingdom (Document 
13). In 1925, he informed Dr Weizmann that no agreement 
would be possible unlessJewish immigration were restricted, 
so as to assure the Palestinians that the Jews would never 
become a majority in the country (Document 28). In 1929, he 
added his voice to the Palestinian Arab demand for the 
setting up of "a national government ... in accordance with 
the wishes of the inhabitants" (Document 33). 

Likewise, the terms of agreement proposed to Zionists by 
other pan-Arabists, however attractive at first on paper, 
usually amounted to placing the yishuv under the suzerainty 
of an Arab ruler, with some autonomy for the Jews in the 
areas where they had already settled, and limited immigra-
tion to all parts of the proposed Arab federation. 

If we wish to look only at the possible terms which Zionists 
and Palestinian Arabs were prepared to consider as a basis for 
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agreement, we must first review their respective national-
political aims and demands. Despite the vagueness of the 
expression, "national home", the Zionist movement was 
indeed aiming, through the upbuilding of this "national 
home", at radically changing the demographic-political 
status ofPalestine. The Jews were to become the majority; the 
Arabs, the minority.29 Immigration was the vital key to such a 
transformation. (The Jewish population, which amounted to 
7% of the population in 1918, rose only to 17% by 1931.) The 
Balfour Declaration pledge of the British government, ensh-
rined in the League of Nations Mandate of 1922, was the 
cornerstone of the Zionist position, and Zionist demands 
consisted of pleas for the maintenance of British policies 
faithful to their interpretation of these two texts. 

Palestinian-Arab demands and aims were defined partly in 
reaction to the Zionist claim. Before World War I, Palestin-
ians had participated with other Arab nationalists in a 
movement which sought a decentralization of the Ottoman 
Empire. The immediate post-War goal was a single Arab 
state, but this aim was revised as soon as the European powers 
set about dividing the Middle East into separate mandated 
territories. Once the Palestinians' hope of independence as 
"Southern Syria" under Faisal was lost in 1920, their 
spokesmen invoked, in fine legal detail, wartime pledges and 
the post-War doctrine of national self-determination in order 
to establish a claim for an independent Arab-Palestinian 
state. 

Official Palestinian demands underwent no major changes 
during the 1920s. These were: (a) "creation of a National 
Government ... responsible to a Parliament elected by those 
natives of Palestine who lived in the country before the 
War"; 30 (b) revocation of the principle oftheJewish national 
home under the Balfour Declaration, whose two clauses 
("establishment in Palestine of a National Home for the 
Jewish people"; "nothing ... done which may prejudice the 
civil and religious rights of the existing non-Jewish communi-
ties in Palestine") were seen to be mutually contradictory;31 

and (c) the stoppage ofJewish immigration until such time as 
a National Government were formed to establish its own 
immigration policies and regulations.32 
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Given this wide gap between the stated positions of the two 
parties, one may wonder on what possible basis an agreement 
between Zionists and Palestinian Arabs could have been 
built. Could the Zionists have incorporated into their 
programme provisions allowing Palestine to retain its Arab 
national-political character? Could Palestinian nationalists 
have reconciled themselves to the existence of a Jewish 
majority within their "Arab" Palestine? 

While agreeing to respect the "civil and religious" rights of 
the Arab population of Palestine, Zionist leaders argued that 
there was room for only one set of "political" rights in the 
country: viz., their own rights to establish a Jewish national 
home. 33 Given this stance, and notwithstanding the concilia-
tory spirit of Zionist Congress resolutions referring to the 
"common home" of the two peoples, the only "agreement" 
which Palestinian Arabs could have had from the Zionists 
during this period, had they so desired, would have been one 
along the lines of the Weizmann-Faisal treaty, at the cost of 
abandoning their local national goals: within the future 
Jewish Palestine, constitutional-legal guarantees would have 
safeguarded the existing civil, religious and economic rights 
(the future "minority rights") of the Arab population, while 
the commercial interests and national-cultural needs of the 
Palestinians would have been satisfied through their partici-
pation in the regional confederation. 

This option was, as we have seen, categorically rejected by 
Palestinian nationalists. Even for Palestinian pan-Arabists, 
like Awni Abd al-Hadi, the guiding principle remained that 
Palestine was "an Arab country and must remain as such"; 
any policy calculated to "give a different political status to 
Palestine [was] doomed to failure". 34 Given this position, the 
only "agreement" which Zionists could have had from the 
Palestinian leadership, had they so wished, was one under 
which the status oftheJews-and their actual numbers in the 
country-would have reverted to what they had been before 
the War, with none of the privileges which had been 
instituted since 1917. 

"The Arabs have always lived on peaceful terms with the 
Jews in all previous centuries", wrote Awni Abd al-Hadi in 
his Memorandum on the Passfield White Paper,35 "and were 
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in accord with them in every matter which was in the interest 
of the country and its prosperity." But, he warned, the Arabs 
were "unable to resume their former relations with the Jews 
so long as the Jews adhere[d] to the colonizing policy ... and 
so long as their aspirations conflict[ed] with the national 
aspirations of the Arabs". The Arabs were "willing to accept 
any policy which tend[ ed] to further the interests of this Arab 
country", but, unfortunately, theA.E. believed that "the Zionist 
Jews will never abandon their policy as regards the creation of a 
majority of Jews in Palestine". And this, Awni concluded, the 
Arabs were "in no circumstances, prepared to accept". 

In discussing these terms, it may be asked: should these 
incompatible, maximalist positions be taken at their face 
value? Were these not formal political stances, stated for 
public consumption, deliberately exaggerated and worded in 
their most "extreme" form? Was there not, behind this 
ideological fa~ade, a pragmatic and realistic appreciation 
that, one day, for the sake of an agreement, such terms would 
have to be scaled down to more "moderate" dimensions? 
And, is it not natural for participants in bargaining situations 
to open with tactically maximalist positions, from which 
subsequent retreat would be possible? 

Unfortunately, the historical record shows that official 
spokesmen on both sides have not maintained the classic 
negotiator's dichotomy between "opening" and "final" bar-
gaining stands.36 Essential, "final" negotiating stances have 
often been disclosed from the start, and, whenever actual 
discussions did take place, negotiators found themselves with 
little or no room for manoeuvre-few "disposable" items 
which could have been given up in exchange for concessions 
from the other side. Thus, in his reply to Dr Judah Magnes' 
enquiry whether there might be a possible basis for Arab-
Jewish understanding within the terms of the above-quoted 
Memorandum, Awni Abd al-Hadi further elaborated his idea 
of the only kind of "agreement" which was possible. "The 
Arabs", he wrote,37 

do not at all refuse that the Jews shall enjoy in this country 
the same rights as the Arabs, both politically and economi-
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cally, and it will not harm them that the Jews shall work in 
Palestine for reviving their original Hebrew language and 
for developing it and their literature. 

But the political problem could be solved only by the Jews 
"accepting the Arab national political aims". "I hope", he 
went on, 

that the Zionists who are following today in Palestine a 
policy contrary to the Arab national wishes, will realize 
tomorrow the futility of such a policy which will bring to 
the country no good, and that they will not prevent the 
Arab countries from acquiring unity and independence 
including Palestine, in which the Arabs do not refuse that 
the Jews shall live and shall work for the development of 
their language, literature and sciences with complete 
freedom. 

If the Zionists would "give up altogether the idea of creating 
a Jewish National Home with political aspects", then, Awni 
concluded, "there will remain nothing which will prevent an 
agreement between both parties". 

During the period up to 1931, neither party had to 
reconsider and redefine its fundamental aims and the possible 
terms of agreement with the other side. Only outside of 
leadership circles did a few individuals dare to depart from 
the official "line", but their willingness to compromise on 
basic goals was not enough to produce an agreement which 
could command majority support in either camp. Although 
there are, before 1931, some scattered hints that recognized 
leaders were beginning to consider the need for some basic 
compromises in order to reach an Arab-Zionist accord,38 it 
would be only several years later that more imaginative terms 
of agreement would be actively considered: e.g., the non-
domination principle, parity formulae, bi-nationalism, can-
tonization, limitations on Jewish immigration or on the 
Jewish population ratio, and partition. 

LOW PRIORITY OF AN ARAB-ZIONIST ACCORD 

Early Arab-Zionist encounters were, as we have suggested, 
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sufficiently numerous to provide leaders on both sides with a 
wealth of vital experience. They came to know leading 
personalities on the other side, their ways of thinking, the 
constraints acting on them, and the terms of agreement which 
were available. Ignorance or misunderstanding of the other 
side's position could not, as is sometimes suggested, be 
counted among the real obstacles to a settlement. On the 
contrary, knowing the other side's aims and terms only too 
well should be more accurately listed as an important 
explanation for the absence of success. While it is easy to 
dismiss as hyperbole or distortion many of the statements 
coming from official Arab and Zionist protests and com-
plaints, even Zionists had to admit that a man like Awni Abd 
al-Hadi had well understood the motives behind Zionism 
when he wrote::!!! 

Whether moderates or extremists, they all have one 
purpose, namely, the creation of a Jewish majority in 
Palestine. They are unable to conceive of any National 
Home which does not secure this object. Should they ... re-
main at all times a minority in Palestine, their position 
... would in no way differ from that in any other country in 
which they are also a minority. Their object is, therefore, to 
have in Palestine a National Home in which the 16,000,000 
Jews scattered all over the world, would be represented by 
a majority and exercise a national ascendancy. 

Likewise, when Zionist leaders like Frederick Kisch and 
David Ben-Gurion stressed quiet co-operation and non-
political grass-roots relations with Arabs, this was in recogni-
tion of the impossibility of satisfying the national-political 
demands of the Palestinians. 

There can be little doubt that Arab and Zionist leaders did 
not, prior to 1931, direct their major energies towards 
reaching a mutual accord. Each party was dedicated to the 
achievement of its own exclusive national goals, and an 
agreement with the other side was not given high priority. 
Given the assessments which each made of the position of the 
other side, there was little hope that an acceptable entente 
was possible. Jamal al-Husaini believed that it was 
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a gross error to believe that Arab and Jew may come to an 
understanding if only each of them exchanges his coat of 
extremism for another of moderation. When the principles 
[my emphasis, N.C.] underlying two movements do clash, 
it is futile to expect their meeting halfway.40 

Even whenever it was felt that some effort in pursuit of an 
accord was nonetheless worthwhile, the likely results were 
usually considered an incidental benefit rather than an 
urgent requirement. Many of the negotiating episodes which 
did take place, as we have seen, were motivated by considera-
tions other than a real hope of resolving the Arab-Zionist 
problem, once and for all. For Zionists, it was often "preven-
tive diplomacy" to de-fuse threatening situations; for Arabs, 
it was often a tactical alliance to outmanoeuvre rival politi-
cians; for both, on other occasions, it was the need to 
influence the British. 

It is not difficult to understand why Palestinian Arab 
leaders felt no need to come to terms, through a negotiated 
agreement, with the newly-politicisedJewish minority in the 
country. Despite their real fears for their future if the Zionist 
enterprise were allowed to develop apace with British sup-
port, Palestinian Arabs still constituted the overwhelming 
majority of the population and would protect their interests 
best by continuing their attempts to reverse British policy. 
Growing pan-Muslim and pan-Arab solidarity for the Pales-
tinians at the beginning of the 1930s seemed to augur well for 
the Arab case,41 while the common stereotype of the weak, 
despised Jew no doubt contributed to Arab self-confidence.42 

If the militaristic Crusaders had once come and gone, the 
Arabs saw little need to make compromises for the anticipat-
ed temporary presence of the Jewish minority, with its 
new-found pretensions to sovereignty.43 

Zionists, likewise, were only temporarily and superficially 
disturbed, for the most part, by the overt expressions of Arab 
hostility to their presence in Palestine. The pressure to 
consider the need for an agreement with the Arabs was 
mitigated by three interrelated beliefs: (a) that the economic 
blessings which Zionism would bring to the country would 
ultimately win Arab appreciation; (b) that local anti-Zionist 
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feeling was not very genuine, but was manipulated by a 
handful of self-seeking and corruptible politicans; and (c) 
that anti-Zionist solidarity among the Palestinians was a 
fragile thing, easily offset by family and communal divi-
sions.44 The heavy religious undertones to the serious 1929 
riots were seen by some Zionists as proof that they were not 
dealing with a "genuine" nationalist opposition.45 Although 
greatly outnumbered in Palestine, Zionists felt confident in 
the ultimate success of their venture by the "qualitative" 
difference which they believed existed between themselves-
modem Europeans-and the Arabs-"primitive" natives.46 

In summary, the period 1913-1931, although rich in 
Arab-Zionist encounters, brought no positive results in the 
form of a negotiated settlement to the worsening conflict. The 
gap beween the basic national-political demands and the 
perceived "vital" interests of Palestinian Arabs and Zionists 
was so wide as to be virtually unbridgeable. No outside party, 
British or non-Palestinian Arab, had the resolve or the ability 
to impose terms of a settlement on either or both of the local 
adversaries. At no single moment were there internal or 
external pressures strong enough to force both sides, simultan-
eously, to perceive the urgency of reducing their respective 
national demands for the sake of coming to terms with each 
other. At any given moment, at least one of the parties felt 
that it had to-and that it could afford to-hold out for 
something very close to its own full claims; hence, it either 
abstained from negotiations, or else caused their ultimate 
failure. 

We have seen not only the futility of the negotiating 
process as a means of ending the Arab-Zionist conflict, but 
also the skilful use of diplomacy by both parties as a tactical 
weapon in their determined struggle to control Palestine. In 
effect, Arab and Zionist leaders have inversed the famous 
dictum of von Clausewitz: for them, diplomacy and negotia-
tion have been an extension of their basic war by other, 
non-violent, means. 
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Documents 

Note: The documents reproduced in this section are in 
chronological order, and not necessarily the order in 
which they are discussed in the preceding section. 
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Document 1 

Extract of Report by S. Hochberg to V. Jacobson, 17 May 1913 
(Mission to Cairo and Beirut) 

... it is certain that the majority of the members of the Cairo 
and Beirut committees are favourable to Zionism and would 
even like to conclude an entente with the Zionists with a view 
to joint action. I gave them my opinion, according to which 
the Zionists would probably not enter into such an entente 
before the Arab organization adopts as its own the demands 
of the Zionists. In other words, not until it accepts the Zionist 
programme as part of its own programme. Otherwise, the 
Zionists would probably not wish to contribute, naturally and 
logically, towards the formation of a force which might turn 
against them. 

It goes without saying that neither the Cairo nor the Beirut 
committee, nor the two together, has the authority to make it 
(i.e., an agreement with the Zionists). It would require a 
congress at which delegates from all the committees of Syria 
and Palestine would take part. But the convening of. such a 
congress will not be possible until after the completion of the 
organization of the movement, which will take place after the 
Paris Congress. 

After a lively exchange of views on the subject with the 
Cairo committee, I concluded with them the following entente 
verbale: 

1) The Cairo Committee, being in principle in favour of 

131 
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Jewish immigration into Syria and Palestine and of an entente 
with the Zionists, will make it its duty to work for a 
rapprochement of the Arab world to the Jewish world, and to 
dissipate, through oral propaganda and the Arabic press, all 
the prejudices which have been current until now in the Arab 
world on the subject of Jewish immigration and which have 
impeded an Arab-Jewish rapprochement. 

2) In exchange, LeJeune Turc [the Istanbul paper of which 
Hochberg was the editor] will make it its duty to support the 
cause of the Arab movement so long as it remains compatible 
with the unity and integrity of the [Ottoman] Empire. Le 
Jeune Turc will do everything possible so that the European 
papers (especially in Germany) with which it has dealings 
should do the same. 

This entente verbale is, in our view (both mine and the 
members of the Cairo Committee), nothing more than an 
exchange of services destined to prepare the ground and, 
above all, to enlighten Arab public opinion, which has until 
now been poorly informed on the aims and goals of Zionism, 
with a view to a full accord in the future. 

This entente was completed by a decision of the Committee 
(inscribed in the minutes) concerning its attitude towards 
Ottoman Jews and by some statements by Rafiq Bey al-Azm, 
Chairman of the Committee, destined for publication in Le 
Jeune Turc and in the Arabic newspapers, concerning Jewish 
immigration and the restrictive measures of the Government. 
These statements were read and approved by other influential 
members of the Cairo Committee. 

Here is the text of the statements by Rafiq Bey al-Azm: 

"Our Party is determined to safeguard the rights of the 
Jewish nationality am:t- to accept no law, no restrictive or 
exceptional measures, against them. As Ottomans, the Jews 
ought to enjoy the same rights as all Ottomans; as foreigners, they 
ought to enjoy the same nghts as all forezgners. A try exceptional 
measure taken against them on account cif their nationality is 
anti-constitutional and contrary to the liberal principles cif our Party. 

"You are aware that there is a wave of Jewish immigration 
into Syria and Palestine. Unfortunately, our Party has not yet 
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had the time, given the short length of its existence, to study 
this question in depth, but I am sure that the day when this 
question will be brought up for discussion, it will be resolved 
by a common accord for the good of both interested parties: 
the Jews and the Arab population. We understand too well the 
valuable assistance that Jewish capita~ manpower and intelligence can 
bring us for the rapid revival qf our provinces for us to commit the error 
qf rejecting them. Certainly, regulations as exist in all civilized 
countries regarding immigration, whether Jewish or other, 
will perhaps be necessary. But there is an enormous dijference 
between a reasonable and just regulation and exceptional 
measures such as those enacted under the old regime and maintained 
under the new regime." 

In order to be able to make the most of the press campaign 
which will be undertaken, I have asked Mr Najjar to write a 
series of articles in the Egyptian, Syrian and Palestinian 
papers. These articles will carry the signature of one or 
another of the members of the Cairo Committee. 

Ahmad Mukhtar Bayhum Bey, an influential member of 
the Beirut Committee who came to Cairo at the same time as 
I did, took part in all the discussions and the entente verbale 
which followed. He communicated it to several influential 
members of the Beirut Committee, and has promised to go 
there to get me into contact with that Committee .... 

The entente verbale was also accepted by the Beirut Commit-
tee, and was completed by a statement from Rizqallah 
Arqash, an important member of the Committee. Here is the 
text: 

"Our entente with the Muslims also includes the Jewish 
element, which we like because it is hard-working and 
educated. It follows from our very programme that its 
interests as a nationality must be safeguarded to the same 
extent as those of all other elements living in the Arab 
provinces. 

"As for Jewish immigration into Syria and Palestine, we 
can only be favourable to it. This Jewish immigration, by 
virtue of the level of culture of the immigrants, the capital 
which they introduce into the country, the new methods of 
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work which they practise, constitutes one of the most 
powerful factors for the upbuilding of these provinces. It 
would be a crime against the fatherland [patrie] to impede 
sugh immigration. 

"Those among us who are opposed are only interested 
parties who think they can thereby extort money from the 
Jewish companies involved, or are usurers whom Jewish 
immigration, by enriching the fellah and improving his 
condition, will prevent from practising, as before, large-scale 
usury with a view to despoiling the fellahin of their goods and 
reducing them to slavery. Honest and intelligent people can 
only wish to encourage this immigration. The Government 
should realize this and abolish the restrictive measures taken 
under Abdul Hamid against an immigration which is useful 
and harmless." 

The practical results of my mission can thus be summar-
ized as follows: 1) a complete study of the state of the Arab 
movement, as well as its attitude towards Zionism, 2) first 
contacts made with the members of the movement with a 
view to an entente, 3) clarification of certain points which 
facilitate an accord, 4) a first accord aiming at enlightening 
public opinion, and 5) statements of several leaders in favour 
of Zionism .... 

* 
Source: CZA, Z3 I 114. Reproduced in P. A. Alsberg, "The Arab 

Question in the Policy of the Zionist Executive Before 
World War I" (in Heb.). Shivat Zion IV (1956-57), 190-193. 
Above is my translation of the original French text. 

Document 2 

Jacobson Proposals, as transmitted to Cairo by Assad 
Daghir (?May-June) 1914 

1. The Arabs and Jews are from one stock, and each 
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[people] possesses attributes complementary to the other. The 
Jews have knowledge, funds and influence; while the Arabs 
have a vast land, awesome power, cultural treasures and 
inexhaustible material wealth. Therefore a reconciliation 
between both [peoples] will be to the good of both and to the 
good of all the Orient. 

2. The Arabs will receive the Jews in Arab lands as their 
brethren, on condition that the Jews become Ottoman 
subjects and that Palestine will not be exclusively theirs. 

3. In exchange, the Jews pledge to put their cultural and 
material power at the service of the Arab cause; they will 
support the Arab groups and place at their disposal three 
million guineas. 

4. An Arab-Jewish conference will be held in Egypt when 
the Syrian and Iraqi deputies return from Constantinople 
[during parliamentary recess] to their lands. 

* 
Source: Neville J. Mandel, The Arabs and Zionism before World War 

I (London/Berkeley, 1976), 198. 

Document 3 

Notes of a Conference held at the Shepheard's Hotel, Cairo, 
between the Zionist Commission and Sa'id Shuqair Pasha, 

Dr Faris Nimr and Sulaiman Bey Nasif, 27 March 1918 

Dr Nimr informed the commission that the conversations 
which Major Ormsby-Gore had held with him the previous 
day have assured him that there was nothing inimical to the 
Arabs in the Zionist Aims and aspirations. As far as he 
personally was concerned, he was very glad to meet Dr 
Weizmann and the members of the Commission, and hoped 
that they will be able to work together in harmony and 
understanding. 
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Dr W eizmann expressed pleasure at meeting the Arab 
leaders who were present. He then stated that he had been 
informed of the conversation which Major Ormsby-Gore had 
held with Dr Nimr the previous day, but, for the sake of 
perfect frankness, he wished to say that one of the main tasks 
of the Commission was to prevent land speculation in 
Palestine. It was at his instigation that Mr Balfour had arrived 
at this decision and had communicated it to the Authorities 
in Egypt and Palestine. 

It was the earnest wish of the Zionists to live on friendly 
terms with the Arabs. We were not putting forward a claim to 
monopolise the whole of the administration of Palestine, 
which he understood was their main fear. He certainly wished 
to clear away a misconception which seemed to be very 
common amongst the Arab leaders, viz., that the Zionists 
wished to establish a Jewish State in Palestine immediately 
after the War. The Zionists desired to see as the result of the 
War a British Palestine which would act fairly and justly to 
all groups which inhabit the country. He wished the Arabs to 
appreciate that whatever the Jews had in mind would be to 
the benefit and prosperity of the country as a whole. 

With regard to the Holy Places, the maintenance of which 
he understood was causing anxiety to the Arabs, he wished to 
say that theJews did not put forward any claim to control the 
Holy Places. Of course, the Jews have their own Holy Places, 
over which they desired to have control. 

Suliman Bey Nassif and Shoucair Pacha expressed their 
complete satisfaction at this statement. Suliman Bey Nassif 
added that, as far as Palestine was concerned, there was room 
for a million more people without affecting the position of the 
present inhabitants. 

Major Ormsby-Gore pointed out that the British Govern-
ment had not put forward a claim for a British Palestine. It 
was a matter which would have to be decided by the Peace 
Conference. 

Mr Aaronsohn discussed the position of the Arabs in the 
Jewish colonies, the burden of his remarks being that with the 
growth of the Jewish colonies the Arab population had 
increased in number and prosperity. 
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In concluding the interview Dr Weizmann again expressed 
his pleasure at meeting the Arab leaders and, in reply to 
Major Ormsby-Gore's remarks, stated that no matter what 
the British Government thought on the question of Palestine, 
the Zionists wished to see such a solution as a result of the 
War. 

* 
Source: CZA, Z4/483. 

Document 4 

Memorandum drafted l!J the "Palestine Committee': 
Cairo, as a basis for discussion with the Zionist Commission, 

earlyApri/1918 

1. The inviolability of Holy Places and their retention as in 
the past in the hands of their respective owners with the free 
exercise of their rights and privileges. 

2. The institution of a system of Government based on 
even-handed justice and equality of rights between the 
different elements irrespective of their comparative numbers 
(majority or minority of votes). 

3. The laws of the country to apply equally to all the 
elements of the population without distinction. 

4. The official language to be the language of the country 
viz. Arabic, the teaching of which to be compulsory in 
Government schools. 

5. All persons coming into the country as colonists, 
whatever may be their nationality, be subject alike to the 
laws of the country. 

6. In view of the general impoverishment of the population 
through the war, which affords a wide field for merciless 
exploitation, it would be necessary to suspend, during the 
war, any transaction of purchase or sale of property, whether 
rural or urban. 
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7. The institution at the earliest possible opportunity of an 
agricultural bank under government control to afford impar-
tial financial help to the people. 

8. The advisability of framing a law similar to the Five 
Feddan Law in Egypt, in Palestine. 

9. The offering of honest opportunity to Zionist colonization 
by facilitating their purchase of State lands, especially in the 
first rush of immigration, leaving a reasonable share of these 
lands to the other elements. 

10. The institution of a mixed Commission composed 
equally of three elements and independent of the Govern-
ment, whose functions are to examine any cases of aggression 
or injustice in economic or moral matters that may arise 
between the different elements, to take the necessary steps 
under government auspices with a view to their settlement 
and non-recurrence. The permanent duty of this Commission 
would be to study and devise all such means as are calcul-
ated to strengthen the ties of friendship between the diff-
erent elements, promote a good feeling of neighbourliness, 
inculcate the principle of union and solidarity, and inspire 
in all a public spirit and the unselfish desire for the common 
weal. 

* 
Source: Appendix "A", Wm. Ormsby-Gore to Balfour, Report No. 

1 on Zionist Commission, 7 April 1918 PRO 37113394, file 
W44/83691/11053. 

Document 5 

General G. F. Clayton's telegraphic report q[Weizmann's 
visit to F aisal, 4 June 1918 

Weizmann has returned from his visit to Feisal and is 
much pleased with the result. He is very favourably im-
pressed with Feisal's personality and they appear to have 
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established excellent personal relations. The general results of 
the meeting are as follows: 

(1) After cordial exchange of greetings Weizmann stated he 
had been sent by British Government to enquire into develop-
ments of Jewish interests in Palestine and that the most 
important of his duties was to gain touch with Arab leaders 
and endeavour to cooperate with them. 

(2) After alluding to historical traditions of both races Feisal 
expressed his opinion of necessity of close cooperation 
between Jews and Arabs especially at present time. 

(3) Feisal pointed out inability to express definite opinions 
on political questions as he was merely his father's agent in 
such matters, but he considered that interests of Jews and 
Arabs must be closely Allied. 

(4) Weizmann pointed out that a Jewish Palestine would 
assist the development of an Arab Kingdom and that an Arab 
Kingdom would receiveJewish support. 

(5) Weizmann explained the Zionists did not propose to set 
up a Jewish Government, but wished to work if possible under 
British guidance in order to colonize and develop the country 
without encroaching on other1 legitimate interests. 

(6) Feisal stated he was unable to discuss the future of 
Palestine either as a Jewish state2 or a country under British 
guidance as these questions were already the subject of much 
German and Turkish propaganda and would be misinterpret-
ed by the3 Bedouins if openly discussed. When Arab affairs 
were (more) consolidated profitable discussion might take 
place. He personally accepted the possibility of future Jewish 
claims to territory in Palestine but could not discuss them 
publicly' as he was not representing an Arab Government and 
was greatly afraid of enemy propaganda. He again empha-
sized necessity of close cooperation between Jews and Arabs 
for mutual benefit of both. 

(7) Weizmann explained he was proceeding shortly to 
America and that Zionists influences in that country and 
elsewhere would be used in favour of Arab movement and 
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necessity for an Arab country.6 This statement afforded Feisal 
great satisfaction. 

(8) The interview ended with cordial expressions of mutual 
sympathy and an invitation from Feisal to renew the meeting 
after Weizmann's visit to America. 

Colonel Joyce who was present throughout the interview 
gives as his private opinion that Feisal really welcomed 
Jewish cooperation and considered it essential to future Arab 
ambitions though unable to express any very (?definite) views 
in absence of authority from his father. It is Colonel Joyce's 
opinion that Feisal fully realizes the future possibility of a 
Jewish Palestine and would probably accept it if it assisted 
Arab expansion further north.7 

I am of opinion interview has had excellent results in 
promoting (?mutual) sympathy and understanding between 
Weizmann and Feisal. Both are frank and open in their 
dealings and nothing but good can result from a personal 
interview such as has now taken place. 

Notes below indicate some of the minor differences between 
Clayton's telegram and the handwritten draft report of the meeting 
by Col. P. C.Joyce, in MEC/F(A). 

1. For "other", read "anybody's". 
2. For "state", read "colony". 
3. After "the", add "uneducated". 
4. After "publicly", add "officially". 
5. In place of"Zionists influence", read "influence of the Jews". 
6. In place of "necessity for an Arab country", read "formation of 
an Arab Kingdom". 
7. Goyce continues:) They have both one great point in common 
and which I think they both understand-and that is that outside 
the Jews and Arabs no one else has any territorial claim on Syria. 
On that point they are a strong combination. Dr Weizmann was 
very diplomatic and pressed for no question or opinion that might 
be afterwards brought up in statements .... 

* 
Sources: Clayton to Foreign Office, 12 June 1918, PRO, FO 

371/3398, file W44/105824/27647. 
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Document 6 

Dr Weizmann's report of his meeting withAmir Faisal, 
as given to the 17th meeting of the Zionist Commission, 

16june 1918 

141 

Dr Weizmann informed Faisal that he was the Chairman of 
the Commission sent by H.M.G. to study the conditions in 
Palestine, to lay plans for the future and to get into contact 
with the representatives of the Arab nation. Up to then he 
had been trying to do his best to get into contact with the 
Arabs in Palestine and Egypt, and he was now very pleased to 
see the representative of the Hedjaz .... [Faisal] generally 
hoped that there would be an intimate collaboration between 
the Jews and Arabs in Palestine and elsewhere, as this was 
essential for the progress of both nations. But, he added, it 
was of course very difficult for him to deal with political 
questions, as all political affaires [sic] were concentrated in his 
father's hands, as it was his father who decided all such 
matters. 

Dr Weizmann replied that ... he was also aware that he 
had been nominated the agent of his father and Commander-
in-Chief of the Arab Army. He, Dr Weizmann, attached 
particular importance to this interview. 

He wished Faisal to understand that, should the Jews settle 
in Palestine, and should they realize their aspirations, they 
were ready to co-operate with the Arab nation. He added that 
we did not wish to establish a Jewish State in Palestine, but 
were willing to live under the suzerainty of Great Britain. 
There was no intention of ousting anybody out of the 
country. There was quite enough room for everybody. On the 
other hand, the Jews would come to Palestine to stay and 
develop freely. Faisal replied that he quite realised the value 
of the Jews to Palestine, and that he himself was quite 
sympathetic to Jewish national aspirations. He, however, had 
to be very guarded in his public utterances, as Turkish and 
German agents were only too ready to make capital out of 
every act which might affect Arab interests in Palestine, 
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especially in view of the fact that the Palestine Arab 
population and Bedouins exaggerated all that was said. One 
had to be very careful. He, however, emphasized the absolute 
necessity of an intimate collaboration between the Jews and 
Arabs. 

Dr Weizmann pushed the idea of collaboration a little 
further. He said that Jews and Arabs had parallel interests, 
and thus it was possible for the Jews, who were a great force, 
to help him realize his great ambitions [deleted: "which were 
very laudable"] ... [to] help him towards Damascus and the 
territory to the North, which ought not to be encroached 
upon by the powers who had really no interests there. By 
encroachment he meant France. Faisal seemed very pleased 
at this sign of goodwill and remarked that the support of the 
Jews in this connection would demonstrate a sincere desire for 
co-operation. He added that the great political questions 
could not be settled now, but he would help us and would be 
glad of our cooperation and assistance. 

The question was raised as to whether Dr Weizmann 
should see his father King Hussein now or after his return 
from America, but no decision was arrived at. 

Dr Weizmann expressed the opinion that the interview was 
a very cordial one and would result in a considerable amount 
of good. He added that Faisal himself gave the impression of 
an honest and fearless man. There was something definite in 
his character. All the others seemed to be fluctuating people 
who would cry out and complain when they thought their 
interests were affected and from whom we could never expect 
any real co-operation .... he, together with Colonel Joyce, had 
drawn up a report which was to be transmitted to General 
Clayton. Colonel Joyce himself had been very satisfied with 
the interview .... 

* 
Source: Cancelled version of minutes of Zionist Commission meet-

ingCZA, Z4/483. 
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Document 7 

Dr Weizmann's report of his interview with Amir Faisal, 
Carlton Hotel, London, 11 December 1918; 

Col. Lawrence acting as interpreter 

143 

The Emir produced a map showing a plan of the Sykes-
Picot agreement, and expressed his indignation with the 
arrangements contemplated by that agreement, which, in his 
opinion were equally fatal to Arabs and to Jews. He had 
no hope of arriving at any understanding with the French 
who he considered were not in any way amenable to reason. 

He explained to me that the present position of the Arabs 
was extraordinarily dangerous. If the Sykes-Picot agreement 
held, they would be pushed back into the desert. The Arabs 
had set up some form of government centred at Damascus, 
but it was extremely weak. It had no money and no men. The 
Army was naked and had no ammunition. His great hope was 
in America, which he thought would be able to destroy the 
agreement. 

I replied that I was aware of the agreement as long ago as 
1915, and that whenever I could, I had protested against it. I 
had an interview on the subject with Lord Robert Cecil in 
1916 and I had also referred to it in my letter to Mr Balfour 
written from Palestine on 17th July, 1918. In that letter I said 
that in my opinion the Agreement was as bad for the Arabs as 
for the Jews. We had asked our American Zionists to point 
out to the United States Government the meaning of the 
Agreement, and whenever possible, to act against it. In that 
our policies were absolutely identical. I informed him that a 
strong delegation of American Zionists was on its way to 
London, which saw eye to eye with us on this matter, and 
would use its influence in favour ofbothJews and Arabs. 

I had also heard that the French had been trying to create 
trouble between ourselves and him (Feisal) but I quite 
understood their motives. At that point Feisal interrupted me 
and stated that there was no need to dwell on this point, as he 
saw through these French attempts at once. He thought that 
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the trouble in Palestine at the present time was fomented by 
Turkish and pro-Turkish propaganda. The Turks always 
ruled by trying to divide the races under their sway. The 
Arabs in Palestine are still used to the methods of Turkish 
propaganda, but he was quite sure that he and his followers 
would be able to explain to the Arabs that the advent of the 
Jews into Palestine was for the good of the country, and that 
the legitimate interests of the Arab peasants would in no 
way be interfered with. He then expressed a desire to learn 
some details of our programme. I gave him the following 
details:-

(1) We expect the Peace Conference and Feisal to recognize 
the national and historical rights of Jews to Palestine. 

(2) We should ask for the appointment of Great Britain as 
the Trustee Power, which would set up a Government in 
Palestine in which the Jews would expect to take an adequate 
share. 

(3) We should demand reform of the Land Laws in Pales-
tine of such a nature as would render the land now in the 
hands of the Effendis and Usurers available for colonisation. 

(4) We should then be able to carry out public works of a 
far-reaching character, and, I added, the country could be 
improved that it would have room for four or five million 
Jews, without encroaching on the ownership rights of Arab 
peasantry. 

(5) Jews would be prepared to render him every assistance 
in brain and money, so as to help to revive his country. 

(6) Questions of Boundaries and Wakuf could be left until 
after the larger Political Settlement, and would be the subject 
of arrangement between them. (Zionists and Feisal). 

(7) As for the Moslem Holy Places, the Jews considered 
themselves insulted by the French insinuations that there was 
a desire to interfere with them. They rejected with scorn all 
such allegations. The Jews have never made proselytes and 
did not intend to interfere with the religious interests of 
anybody. 
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At this point Feisal remarked that it was curious that there 
should be friction between Jews and Arabs in Palestine. There 
was no friction in any other country where Jews lived together 
with Arabs. He was convinced that the trouble was promoted 
by intrigues. He did not think for a moment that there was 
any scarcity of land in Palestine. The population would 
always have enough, especially if the country were developed. 
Besides there was plenty of land in his district. 

As for Sursuk and similar Effendis, he did not trouble his 
head about them. He assured us on his word of honour that 
he would do everything to support Jewish demands, and 
would declare at the Peace Conference that Zionism and the 
Arab movement were fellow movements, and that complete 
harmony prevailed between them. He would try his best to 
obtain the British Government as Trustee Power for Arabia, 
and if he did not succeed he would try to get America to act. 
He hoped we would help him in his efforts. If he failed, he 
would have to fight for the existence of an Arab State. 

* 
Source: PRO, FO 371/3420, file W44/207372. 

Document 8 

Text of Agreement between Amir Faisal and 
DrChaim Weizmann, 3January 1919 

[See photocopy between pp. 110 and 111] 

His Royal Highness the Emir Feisal, representing and 
acting on behalf of the Arab Kingdom of Hedjaz, and Dr 
Chaim Weizmann, representing and acting on behalf of the 
Zionist Organisation, mindful of the racial kinship and 
ancient bonds existing between the Arabs and the Jewish 
people, and realising that the surest means of working out the 
consummation of their national aspirations is through the 
closest possible collaboration in the development of the Arab 
State and Palestine, and being desirous further of confirming 
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the good understanding which exists between them, have 
agreed upon the following Articles: 

ARTICLE I 
The Arab State and Palestine in all their relations and 

undertakings shall be controlled by the most cordial goodwill 
and understanding, and to this end Arab and Jewish duly 
accredited agents shall be established and maintained in the 
respective territories. 

ARTICLE II 

Immediately following the completion of the deliberations 
of the Peace Conference, the definite boundaries between the 
Arab State and Palestine shall be determined by a Commis-
sion to be agreed upon by the parties hereto. 

ARTICLE III 
In the establishment of the Constitution and Administra-

tion of Palestine all such measures shall be adopted as will 
afford the fullest guarantees for carrying into effect the British 
Government's Declaration of the 2nd of November, 1917. 

ARTICLE IV 
All necessary measures shall be taken to encourage and 

stimulate immigration of jews into Palestine on a large scale, 
and as quickly as possible to settle Jewish immigrants upon 
the land through closer settlement and intensive cultivation 
of the soil. In taking such measures the Arab peasant and 
tenant farmers shall be protected in their rights, and shall be 
assisted in forwarding their economic development. 

ARTICLE V 
No regulation nor law shall be made prohibiting or 

interfering in any way with the free exercise of religion; and 
further the free exercise and enjoyment of religious profession 
and worship without discrimination or reference shall forever 
be allowed. No religious test shall ever be required for the 
exercise of civil or political rights. 

ARTICLE VI 
The Mohammedan Holy Places shall be under Mohamme-

dan control. 
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ARTICLE VII 
The Zionist Organisation proposes to send to Palestine a 

Commission of experts to make a survey of the economic 
possibilities of the country, and to report upon the best means 
for its development. The Zionist Organisation will place the 
aforementioned Commission at the disposal of the Arab State 
for the purpose of a survey of the economic possibilities of the 
Arab State and to report upon the best means for its 
development. The Zionist Organisation will use its best 
efforts to assist the Arab State in providing the means for 
developing the natural resources and economic possibilities 
thereof. 

ARTICLE VIII 

The parties hereto agree to act in complete accord and 
harmony on all matters embraced herein before the Peace 
Congress. 

ARTICLE IX 
Any matters of dispute which may arise between the 

contracting parties shall be referred to the British Govern-
ment for arbitration. 

Given under our hand at London, England, the third day 
of january, one thousand nine hundred and nineteen. 

[signed:] Chaim Weizmann 
Faisal Ibn Husain [in Arabic] 

[Reservation, in Arabic, by Amir Faisal:] 

Provided the Arabs obtain their independence as demand-
ed in my Memorandum dated the 4th of January, 1919, to 
the Foreign Office of the Government of Great Britain, I shall 
concur in the above articles. But if the slightest modification 
or departure were to be made I shall not then be bound by a 
single word of the present Agreement which shall be deemed 
void and of no account or validity, and I shall not be 
answerable in any way whatsoever. 

* 
Source: CZA, Z4/2989. 

English translation of Faisal's reservation taken from 
George Antonius, The Arab Awakening (London, 1946), 439. 
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Document 9 

Notes of meeting between unnamed Zionist representative 
[A. Hyamson?] and Awni A bd al-H adi and Ahmad Qadri, 

HotelMeurice, Paris, 25january 1919 

Abdul Hades [sic] -Ahmed Kadry medecin particulier de 
S.A.R. Emir Feysul called to-day Gan. 25th) at the Meurice. 
They told me that they had seen the Zionist proposals (I do 
not know who showed them the proposals) and that they are 
troubled on the point of the Zionist claims to British 
Trusteeship for Palestine as they believe that such claim 
would strengthen the French claim for Trusteeship in Syria. 
Their point of view is that Syria should be an independent 
state under Arab rule. They say that the Jews and the Arabs 
could arrange matters between themselves in the most 
favourable way for both whilst on the other hand British 
Trusteeship in Palestine and French Trusteeship in Syria 
would create an endless source of friction and intrigue. They 
said that if a British Trusteeship could be obtained for all 
Arab countries in the Near East they would consider such 
solution as most desirable. But as this cannot be attained they 
think the best way would be to establish a great federation of 
independent countries and to enter into close relations with 
Great Britain in order that all the essential functions of 
Trusteeship [be executed?] without the formal proclamation. 
On my question whether they represented the Arab Syrian 
public opinion and if Shukri Ganem Dr Samne [sic] had any 
following in Syria they replied that these gentlemen were 
quite isolated and were supported only by an insignificant 
group of Syrian business men living in Paris who depended on 
little favours of the Quai D'Orsay[.] Re Zionist aspirations 
both declared that all rights and liberties would be given to 
the Jews in Palestine on equal terms with the Arabs etc. I 
explained to them that such rights and liberties would not 
cover our Zionist programme which was a national move-
ment in order to make Palestine a Jewish Country and that 
we would not be satisfied with emancipation or guarantees of 
national minority which we claimed in other countries, to 
which they replied that they would even go further in their 
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concessions but that this must be an arrangement exclusively 
between Jews and Arabs, who had common interests etc. I 
asked whether they represented Feysul's views, they said they 
spoke unofficially, nevertheless I had the impression that they 
were sent by Feysul. There is even some reason to believe that 
there is some connection with conversation which Feysul had 
yesterday with President Wilson. I gave them no assurances 
except promised them only to examine their views and to 
communicate with Dr Weizmann on the matter. 

* 
Source: CZA, Z4/56. 

Document 10 

Letter, in Lawrence's handwriting, signed by Amir Faisal, 
addressed to Felix Frankfurter, Paris, 1 March 1919 

[See photocopy between pp. 110 and 111] 

Dear Mr. Frankfurter, 
I want to take this opportunity of my first contact with 
American Zionists to tell you what I have often been able to 
say to Dr. Weizmann in Arabia and Europe. 

We feel that the Arabs and Jews are cousins in race, have 
suffered similar oppressions at the hands of powers stronger 
than themselves, and by a happy coincidence have been able 
to take the first step towards the attainment of their national 
ideals [deletion] together. 

We Arabs, especially the educated among us, look with the 
deepest sympathy on the Zionist movement. Our deputation 
here in Paris is fully acquainted with the proposals submitted 
yesterday by the Zionist Organisation to the Peace Confer-
ence, and we regard them as moderate and proper. We will 
do our best, in so far as we are concerned, to help them 
through: we will wish the Jews a most hearty welcome home. 

With the chiefs of your movement, especially with Dr. 
Weizmann we have had, and continue to have the closest 
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relations. He has been a great helper in our cause, and I hope 
the Arabs may soon be in a position to make the Jews some 
return for their kindness. 

We are working together for a reformed and revived Near 
East, and our two movements complete one another. The 
Jewish movement is national, and not imperialist: our 
movement is national and not imperialist, and there is room 
in Syria for both of us. Indeed I think that neither can be a 
real success without the other. 

People less informed and less responsible than our leaders 
and yours ignoring the need for co-operation of the Arabs and 
Zionists have been trying to exploit the local difficulties that 
must necessarily arise in Palestine in the early stages of our 
movements. Some of them have, I am afraid, misrepresented 
your aims to the Arab peasantry, and our aims to the Jewish 
peasantry, with the result that interested parties have been 
able to make capital out of what they call our differences. 

I wish to give you my firm conviction that these differences 
are not on questions of principle, but on matters of detail 
such as must inevitably occur in every contact of neighbour-
ing peoples, and as are [sic] easily adjusted by mutual 
goodwill. Indeed nearly all of them will disappear with fuller 
knowledge. 

I look forward, and my people with me look forward to a 
future in which we will help you and you will help us, so that 
the countries in which we are mutually interested may once 
again take their place in the comity of the civilised peoples of 
the world. 

* 
Source: CZA, Z4/25001. 

Believe me, 
yours very sincerely 

[in Arabic] Faisal 
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Document 11 

Felix Frankfurter reply to Faisal, Paris, 5 March 1919 

Allow me, on behalf of the Zionist Organisation, to 
acknowledge your recent letter with deep appreciation. 

Those of us who come from the United States have already 
been gratified by the friendly relations and the active 
cooperation maintained between you and the Zionist leaders, 
particularly Dr W eizmann. We knew it could not be other-
wise; we knew that the aspirations of the Arab and the Jewish 
peoples were parallel, that each aspired to reestablish its 
nationality in its own homeland, each making its own 
distinctive contribution to civilisation, each seeking its own 
peaceful mode of life. 

The Zionist leaders and the Jewish people for whom they 
speak have watched with satisfaction the spiritual vigour of 
the Arab movement. Themselves seeking justice, they are 
anxious that the just national claims of the Arab people be 
confirmed and safeguarded by the Peace Conference. 

We knew from your acts and your past utterances that the 
Zionist movement-in other words the national aims of the 
Jewish people-had your support and the support of the Arab 
people for whom you speak. These aims are now before the 
Peace Conference as definite proposals by the Zionist Organi-
sation. We are happy indeed that you consider these propo-
sals "moderate and proper", and that we have in you a 
staunch supporter for their realisation. For both the Arab and 
the Jewish peoples there are difficulties ahead-difficulties 
that challenge the united statesmanship of Arab and Jewish 
leaders. For it is no easy task to rebuild two great civilisations 
that have been suffering oppression and misrule for centuries. 
We each have our difficulties we shall work out as friends, 
friends who are animated by similar purposes, seeking a free 
and full development for the two neighbouring peoples. The 
Arabs and Jews are neighbours in territory; we cannot but 
live side by side as friends. 

Very respectfully, 

* 
Source: CZA, 825/3142. 
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Document 12 

H. M. Kalvaryski, Programme for ajudeo-Arab Entente 
[May-June?] 1919 

I. Palestine constitutes the homeland [patrie] of all those 
who inhabit it: Jews, Muslims and Christians are citizens on 
an equal footing [de meme degriJ. 

IT. The Jewish People, of Oriental semitic origin, is in need 
of a territory in which to develop its national culture. 
Palestine, its country of origin, forming a sort of isle in the 
midst of a very large sea of territory and of peoples equally of 
semitic origin and stretching from the Taurus to Gibraltar 
through North Africa, constitutes thejewish National Home. 

III. Freedom q[Worship. There is no state religion in Palestine. 

IV. Administration. Everyone, without distinction of race or 
religion, will be admitted. When recruiting civil servants, 
only the abilities of the candidates will be taken into 
consideration. In the public interest, it is necessary for civil 
servants to know the two languages of the country: Hebrew 
and Arabic (not to mention English, the language of the 
Mandatory Power). But, since it is difficult to find at present 
people who do know the two languages, both among the Jews 
as among the Arabs, a period of 5, 10 or 15 years will be fixed, 
at the end of which the knowledge of these two languages will 
be compulsory for civil servants. 

V. Schools. In state-run schools, especially in secondary 
schools, the teaching of the two languages, Hebrew and 
Arabic, is compulsory. The two languages complement each 
other. Beyond the moral advantages (better understanding 
and closer unity among the two elements, the development of 
a Hebrew-Arabic literature which will recall the Golden Age 
of the Arab Caliphs, etc.) there will result economic advan-
tages. All doors will be open to state employees who know 
both [languages] (not to mention English, the language of the 
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Mandatory Power). In finance and in industry preference will 
always be given to an employee who knows the two lan-
guages. As for private schools, I have advised my political 
friends to impose the Arabic language [in Jewish schools). I 
hope that our Arab friends will appreciate their interests and 
will act in like fashion regarding Hebrew in their schools. 

VI. Abolition rf all Exclusivism, whether Jewish, Muslim or 
Christian. Until now the Jews of Palestine, forming only a 
religious community, had their charitable works and their 
public institutions, while the Christians and Muslims had 
theirs. With the formation of the Jewish National Home in 
Palestine some duties of state fall upon them. They are obliged 
to think of everything and everyone without distinction of 
religion. There will no longer be poor Jews and poor Muslims 
and poor Christians. All the poor will have the right to the 
same care. We shall open up schools, orphanages and 
hospitals for all. We shall create agricultural [loan) and 
industrial banks for all, and shall come to the aid of the 
fellah. 

VII. Freedom rf Immigration. The affluence of Jewish capital 
and manpower in a poor and underpopulated country like 
Palestine can only be very profitable to the country, and 
complete freedom should be accorded to Jewish immigration. 

* 
Source: CZA, A113113. My translation from the French text. 

Document 13 

Extracts from "The Emir Faisal on Palestine and the jews'~ 
Interview in The Jewish Chronicle, 3 October 1919 

... "Let me tell you with all goodwill," continued His 
Highness, "thatJews make a vast mistake to use the language 
that extreme Zionists do in respect to Palestine. After the 
Balfour Declaration, some Jews in Palestine already began to 
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lord it over the Arabs and to boast that the country was 
theirs .... I need not tell you that this sort of thing greatly 
incensed and disconcerted the Arab population, and if it had 
not been that I exercised a strong restraining influence, I am 
afraid there would have been considerable active resentment 
against the Jews there. 

"Let me be quite frank with you," went on the Emir; "the 
Arabs have inhabited the country for many centuries contin-
uously. They did not expel the Jews. The Romans expelled 
the Jews, and the Arabs won the land from the Romans. It is 
theirs. It is to them a sacred land. Its associations are part and 
parcel of the Arab's life. And, moreover, Palestine is and must 
remain part and parcel of Syria. There is no natural 
boundary, no frontier, between the two countries. What 
affects one must affect the other. If there is disorder in 
Palestine there will be disorder in Syria. From the point of 
view of the Arab, Palestine is a province, not a country, and 
our intention is to build up an Arab Empire which must 
consist, as a minimum, of Mesopotamia, Syria, and Palestine. 
From that we cannot recede. There is not an Arab throughout 
the world who would not resent any whittling down of this 
our minimum claim. The Arabs are solid in regard to 
Palestine, and I do not think," added the Emir with just a 
soupcon of the ironical, "that you can claim such a united 
opinion in regard to Palestine on the part of the Jews. 

"I have had several conferences with Dr Weizmann, the 
able leader of the Zionist movement," proceeded His High-
ness. "He showed me only within the last few hours his 
proposals, and to those proposals I raise no objection. You 
seem surprised," continued the Emir, as he noted the puzzled 
look of our representative, "and you think that there is 
something inconsistent in my agreeing to Dr Weizmann's 
proposals and in what I have said in regard to Arab 
aspirations respecting Palestine. But I found Dr Weizmann's 
proposals quite moderate and practical. As I understand, he is 
working for a regulated immigration into the country, for 
conditions in which the Jew will have equal rights with the 
Arab, shall take part in the government of Palestine, shall 
have full control of Jewish schools, shall have the means of 
establishing there aJewish cultural centre, and shall have free 
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use of the Hebrew language. There is nothing to object to in 
that. Indeed, we would welcome the assistance which an 
immigration of Jews could give us in developing the country. 
We naturally would prefer an immigration of Jews than of 
any other people, not only because Jews have vast resources 
by which the land can be developed, but because they are 
Semites like ourselves. They are cousins, and we would 
willingly make them brothers. But when some Zionists speak 
about Palestine becoming as Jewish as England is English, 
because of the claim which Jews have to the country, they are 
really talking unreasonably .... " 

Our representative explained that practically the whole of 
Jewry imagined that the Balfour Declaration meant that the 
Jews were to be assisted by cultural, economic and political 
measures for the setting up in Palestine of a National Home 
which would ultimately become aJewish State. And he asked 
the Emir frankly to say whether Zionist aspirations of this 
nature clashed in any way with Arab ideals. 

"To be sure they do. In the first place, as I have said, 
Palestine, Mesopotamia, and Syria are inseparable; and 
although we cannot legislate for the far future, still we Arabs 
cannot yield Palestine as part of our kingdom. Indeed, we 
would fight to the last ditch against Palestine being other 
than part of the Kingdom and for the supremacy of Arabs in 
the land. I have seen statements made that when the 
immigration of Jews is sufficiently large, then the predomin-
ance of Jews would be established as, for instance, when there 
was a majority of Jews there. Butl do not trouble much about 
that because, in my view, the number that you can possibly 
settle in Palestine for years to come cannot be more than a 
thousand or fifteen hundred per annum .... [I]f you mean a 
Jewish population, self-supporting, industrious, I am quite 
sure that no larger immigration than I have mentioned is 
possible .... So we need not bother our heads about the time 
when the Jewish population will exceed that of the Arabs, 
and until it does, there surely can be no right on the part of 
Jews to ask that the country shall be taken away from the 
Arabs and given to them .... 

" ... youJews," urged the Emir, "can do a great work ifyou 
would co-operate with us in the formation of this [Arab] 
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kingdom. Instead of our relying upon any of the great Powers 
for means of development, for material help, we should like to 
have the co-operation in these things of the Jewish people. 
You have the means, and we have the numbers, and when 
our Arab Kingdom is built up and set upon firm foundations 
of Right and Justice and constituted with the most modern 
ideas of a State, then it may be that there would be a 
concentration of your people in Palestine and that you would 
make of Palestine a sub-province of the Arab Kingdom. But 
that always presupposes that there shall be equal rights, equal 
opportunities, equal privileges and an absolute non-
differentiation between Arab and Jew .... The Jewish people 
can get everything they desire, such as a Jewish cultural 
centre, and the Jewish population in Palestine can live its own 
Jewish life. But regard must be paid not alone to Arab [sic, for 
"Jewish"] sentiment which, of course, is extremely strong and 
has been strengthened by the Balfour Declaration; regard 
must be paid also to justice and right where the Arab is 
concerned .... Up till the time of the Balfour Declaration, the 
question as between Arabs and Jews in Palestine never arose. 
Although we do not ask the country to be called Arab, and 
although we are content to let it remain Palestine, still 
Palestine in effect is the Land of the Arabs, and must remain 
an integral portion of the new Arab State. So far as Jews are 
concerned they can come into the country with equal rights, 
equal privileges, a share in the government proportionate to 
their population, the control of their schools, and the use of 
their language. 

"I appreciate quite fully," said the Emir in conclusion, 
"Zionist aspirations, even extreme Zionist aspirations. I quite 
understand the desire of Jews to acquire a country, a 
homeland. But so far as Palestine is concerned, if they have 
made up their minds that it shall be Palestine or nothing, 
then it must be Palestine subject to the rights and aspirations 
and the sentiments of the present possessors of the land. 

"Of course, if Jews had chosen for their National Home a 
land, possession of which they could gain undisputed-but 
then that is a matter for the Jewish people. I can only say, 
and would ask you to impress upon all your people, that we 
wish Jews to co-operate with us in perfect amity and 
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friendship, for Jews, like ourselves, are Semites. I cannot put it 
stronger than by repeating: we are cousins; we wish to be 
brothers. But that involves a brotherly feeling on the part of 
Jews for Arabs, as well as of Arabs for the Jews." 

* 
(Reprinted with permission.) 

Document 14 

Extracts from M. U ssishkin, Visit to the Head of the Town 
Council [i.e., Mayor] of jerusalem [Musa Kazim al-Husaim1 

8 October 1919 

[The conversation began with M usa Kazim asking U ssishkin 
about the latest news from Paris regarding the peace settle-
ment. U ssishkin noted that the general situation was still 
unclear. He continued:] 
However, with regard to our country there is one thing that is 
clear, and that is that Palestine is to be separate from Syria; 
Syria is to be under the protectorate of France and Palestine 
under that of England. 
Musa Kazim: But we do not agree to this. We asked for the 
protection of America, and England only enters into the 
second degree of our considerations. We demand no separa-
tion from Syria, with no changes in the internal situation, and 
with no special privileges for anybody. 
U.: I have already told Your Worship that there is no longer 
any doubt on this question. Palestine is separated from Syria, 
and this has become a fact. There is no going back now. With 
regard to the "privileges" to which you refer, you mean of 
course the Jews. I can say that we have already spoken to the 
Amir Faisal on this matter, and we have come to an 
agreement. You have read of this in the newspapers, I 
presume? 
M.K.: Indeed, we read the newspapers. But we do not submit 
to the Amir Faisal with regard to our political demands. 
Nor do we rely on him in this matter. We are opposed to 
any special rights for the Jews. We cannot consent to lan-
guage rights, immigration rights, etc. I speak not only 
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for myself, but for all my Arab brothers. We have already 
repudiated the concessions made by the Amir. 

U.: But the British government has also promised Rights to 
the Jews, and they have issued a special declaration on this 
matter, the famous Balfour Declaration about which you have 
heard, no doubt. And if England gave a promise, she knew 
what she was promising and without doubt will know how to 
keep her promise. 
M.K.: Yes! We heard that the British government has given a 
promise, but that promise was given for the present only to the 
Jews, and not to us. It is therefore impossible for us to agree 
with their exaggerated and premature demands which follow 
one upon the other. Wait until the official announcement is 
made by the British government, and then .... And, generally 
speaking, the demands of the Jews are just the beating of a 
hollow drum and arise mostly from lack of knowledge of the 
conditions of the people of the country, their habits, and their 
outlook. They are therefore very annoying to the Arabs. And 
this is not the right and proper thing for you to do. Indeed, 
the Jews are superior to us in knowledge, culture, wealth and 
capabilities-in everything related to their economic con-
cerns, etc. But just as the mind of the European Jew is sharp 
and thoughtful, the mind of the Oriental is not so dense that 
he cannot see what is before him, and what is in store for him 
in the near future from the Jews, i.e., from the mass 
immigration of the Jews. I may also mention that we have 
nothing against the Jews who are citizens of this country. 
These we know and they know us. We have lived together 
with them and are doing so now, and will continue to do so in 
peace and friendship. There is no quarrel or outcry except 
that we shall oppose the immigration of Jews with all our 
might. For they have no tact and their aims are quite clear 
and well known to us. They want-and they have had the 
impertinence to announce it publicly in the newspapers and 
in public speeches-they want to drive us out of the land and 
to take possession of our houses and estates. They were not 
ashamed to state clearly that they wish to put us upon the 
backs of camels and send us off to the Hejaz. According to 
them-and these are words which have been quite frank-
there is no room for two men in one chair; and Palestine, 
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according to them, will serve only as the seat of honour for 
the Jews and the Arabs will have no share in it. This will 
never be! And generally theJews lack tact and are not at all 
diplomatic. The Arabs differ from them in this respect. The 
Arabs are by nature charitable and generous and disburse 
charity to the limit of their ability. But it is obvious that they 
must be treated politely-their friendship must be encour-
aged and you must enter into relations with them and visit 
them, so that over coffee and cigarettes they are bound to 
forget everything and will compromise in every way. The 
welcome of guests is a quality in which the Arab goes too far. 
But this cannot be so when they are approached with claims 
and demands one after another. If you do this you will not 
succeed. The Arabs know how to oppose these demands. 
U.: As regards the demands oftheJews, I must say that there 
is no exaggeration, but inde,ed the reverse. For the present 
they are minimum demands, based upon right and justice upon which 
there can be no compromise whatsoever. If there is room for 
compromise at all, it is particularly with regard to tact and 
details, if we find that it is as you say that we have made 
mistakes in this direction. No doubt mistakes were made on 
your side also .... 

* 
Source: CZA, Z4/1392/l-b. Eng. translation with my modifications 

based on Hebrew original. U ssishkin, acting Chairman of 
the Z.C., was accompanied by YosefMeyuhas of jerusalem, 
who presumably acted as interpreter (Hebrew-Arabic). 

Document 15 

Sh. Levin, Ben V Cohen, S. Landman, Memorandum of 
Interview with Amir Faisal and Awni Abd al-Hadi, 

Carlton Hote4 London, 19 October 1919 

[Levin extended invitation to Faisal to attend Balfour 
Declaration anniversary celebrations.] He stated that he 
hoped that the Emir would on that occasion make a 
statement favourable to Zionism, so as to show the Jewish 
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people that they could count on him as a friend, and with the 
more important object of effacing the unfortunate impression 
created by the interview with the ''Jewish Chronicle" [of 3 
October]. The Emir expressed his regret that he could not 
accept the flattering invitation, because he was leaving for 
Paris the next morning, and did not know whether he could 
return in time. [They agreed to work out the text of a message 
to be sent by Faisal for the occasion.] 

[After Faisal withdrew, Awni remained and asked in what 
way thejewish Chronicle interview was unsatisfactory.] It was 
pointed out to him that the statement attributed to Faisal, 
asking for Palestine to be a province of an independent 
Arabia, was contrary to the aspirations of the Zionists. 
Further, the objection to the phrase of Dr Weizmann viz. 
"that Palestine was to be as Jewish as England is English" 
could not fail to evoke disapproval among the Zionists. 
Finally, the restriction of immigration to very small numbers 
was especially likely to arouse Zionist dissatisfaction. 

Mr Hadi replied very fully, elaborating the following 
standpoint:-

Mr Balfour's declaration was very unfortunate, in that it 
aroused the opposition of the Palestinian Arabs against the 
Jews. This opposition had been aggravated by the statements 
of the Zionists, especially in Palestine, in which they talked of 
Palestine as "Eretz Israel" the Jewish Land. This manner of 
speech was very offensive to the Palestinian Arabs, who 
regarded Palestine as their country, having lived there for so 
many centuries during which time Jews had been far away. 
Today the Jews were still in a very small minority, and it was 
to him unthinkable that the Arabs could renounce their claim 
to Palestine in favour of the Jews. 

He advised the Zionists, in their own interests to stop all talk 
of a Jewish Palestine, and limit themselves to colonisation and 
development of their own culture and institutions, with a 
maximum of self-government in internal matters and a certain 
degree of representation in the Government of the country. 

When it was pointed out to him that Great Britain was 
likely to accept the mandate on the terms of the Balfour 
Declaration, he said nothing was yet settled, but advised the 
Zionists in their own interests not to put blind faith in the 
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British Government. He absolutely failed to understand why 
they had so much confidence in and friendship for Great 
Britain. It was pointed out to him that Great Britain had been 
the traditional friend and protector of the Jews, and that the 
Jews intended to be loyal to Great Britain. He said that the 
Zionists asked for the friendship of the Arabs, but what had 
they done for the Arab cause? When asked what he would 
desire them to do, he suggested the following:- he had seen a 
member of the American Peace Delegation recently, in Paris, 
and had discussed with him the position regarding Arabia 
and Palestine. He gathered it would not be very difficult to 
persuade America to insist that Mesopotamia, Palestine and 
Syria should become an independent Confederation, with an 
Arab King, under the League of Nations, England to have 
commercial predominance in Palestine and Mesopotamia 
and France in Syria. He thought the Zionists would be more 
likely to satisfy their aspirations by supporting such a 
settlement than by asking for a British Mandate. He had 
heard from a very high French authority [that France?] would 
under no circumstances allow the British to colonise Mesopo-
tamia with Hindoos or Palestine with Jews. 

The Zionist representative replied that such a proposal was 
entirely at variance with the demands made at the Peace 
Conference, and could not be entertained for a moment. The 
Zionists were anxious to work side by side with the Arabs in 
the restoration of the Near East. 

Dr Levin stated that such restoration was impossible 
without Jewish experts and Jewish capital, which they were 
prepared to devote freely to this purpose. As regards the 
promise of a Jewish Palestine, this was made by all the Great 
Powers, and it was on the strength of that hope that the Jews 
would put forth all their energy and enthusiasm. If that hope 
were removed, as it would be if the course of action suggested 
in the interview with the "Jewish Chronicle" as being 
satisfactory to the Emir Feisal were adopted, the Near East 
would not be able to attract those Jewish elements which 
were indispensable. 

Mr Hadi said that the Arabs would prefer to develop their 
country, their railways, their roads, with Jewish capital and 
Jewish experts, rather than French or English. 
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Dr Levin replied that if they invited Jewish experts, they 
would be only too pleased to come, provided always that the 
proposals of the Zionists were not departed from. 

Reverting to the message from the Emir Feisal for the 2 
November Demonstration, Mr Landman emphasised the 
necessity of a very clear message from the Emir, so as to undo 
the effect of the "Jewish Chronicle" interview. 

Mr Hadi promised to do his best to find a satisfactory 
formula. 

This ended the interview. 

* 
Source: CZA, Z4/1392/I-b. Dr Levin spoke in Hebrew; Mr Land-

man translated into French for Awni; Awni translated into 
Arabic for Faisal. 

Document 16 

Treaty between Zionist representative and 
uThe Nationalist Group in Syria and Lebanon", 

26 March 1920 
[See photocopy between pp. 110 and Ill] 

The undersigned, Mr Y ehoshua Hankin, representing the 
Zionist Organisation in Palestine, and Messrs Najib Sfeir, 
Yusuf Muazzin, Dr Rashid Karam, Mr Najib Hashim and 
Dr Antun Shihade, representing the Nationalist Group in 
Syria and Lebanon, in view of the gravity of the political 
situation in Syria, Lebanon and Palestine, and desirous of 
co-ordinating their political activity for the good of these 
three countries, have agreed after discussion on the following 
basic principles:-

!. The Governments of Syria and Lebanon recognise the 
independence of Palestine within boundaries to be fixed by a 
committee with representatives of both sides (Syria and 
Lebanon, on the one hand; Palestine, on the other), and the 
Zionist Organisation will have the right to build there a 
National Home for the Jewish people, by organising a mass 
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immigration of Jews from every land into Palestine, and by 
obtaining political and economic privileges necessary to 
ensure the calm and free development of the National Home. 

2. The Nationalist Group in Syria and Lebanon will do 
everything necessary to prepare public opinion among the 
Arab people for this recognition, and to accustom the Arabs 
to [look upon] the Jewish people as neighbours. 

3. The Zionist Organisation undertakes in future not to go 
beyond the borders of Syria and Lebanon as will be deter-
mined in accordance with paragraph 1. 

4. The Zionist Organisation undertakes to respect the reli-
gious rites and customs of Muslims and Christians in Pales-
tine, and not to interfere in questions affecting the holy places. 

5. The Zionist Organisation undertakes to assist the Govern-
ments of Syria and Lebanon in the development of their 
countries, and to arrange for capital loans on terms to be 
agreed. 

6. All the inhabitants of Palestine without distinction of 
religion will enjoy complete civil and economic equality. 
[Signed and dated at Jerusalem; text in French, Arabic and 
Hebrew. Karam signed also for Shihade; Sfeir signed also for 
Hashim.] 

* 
Source: CZA, S25 /9907. A hove text is my translation from the 

French. 

Document 17 

Proposed Arab-jewish Entente: Note qf Conference at 34, 
Park Street, London [Home qfjames de Rothschild] 

7 November 1921 

Present:- Mr James de Rothschild, Dr Weizmann, Riadh Eff. 
El Sulh, Mr I. Ben-A vi, Mr Leonard Stein, Mr Wolfenson. 
Mr de Rothschild submitted to Dr Weizmann and to Riadh Eff, 
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a draft basis for discussion, of which a copy is attached 
[follows]. (Note-This draft was based on a draft prepared by 
Mr Ben-Avi, in consultation with Riadh Eff and on an 
alternative draft prepared by Mr Stein.) 
Dr Weizmann said that he was disposed to accept Mr de 
Rothschild's draft, though •he reserved the right to suggest 
certain changes of form, if such should appear desirable on 
further consideration. 
It must be understood that he was speaking in his personal 
capacity and that he had not yet consulted his colleagues, 
without whose concurrence he could, naturally, not commit 
the Zionist Organisation. 
At the request of Riadh Eff, Mr de Rothschild then proceeded 
to translate the draft into French. 
Riadh Elf. accepted the Preamble, Article 1 and Article 2 (a) 
and (b). With regard to article 2 (c), he took exception to the 
words "when the time is ripe". He pointed out that Article 22 
of the Covenant of the League of Nations recognised the 
independence of territories under "A" Mandates, of which 
Palestine was one. This was a point on which the Arabs laid 
great stress. They would also require an express repudiation 
of the idea of a Jewish State. 
Dr Weizmann demurred to an express repudiation. This was a 
matter in which it was best to let sleeping dogs lie. He could 
not bind his children and his children's children. 
Riadh E.ffsaid that he was convinced that Dr Weizmann really 
envisaged ajewish state and, indeed, he personally would not 
respect him if he did not. 
After some discussion, it was agreed that Riadh Eff should 
further consider the draft and should formulate counter-
proposals on points on which the draft was unacceptable. 
Dr Weizmann suggested, and it was agreed in principle, that 
negotiations should proceed in London, with a view to the 
conclusion of a formal agreement at a Conference to be held 
in Cairo or Jerusalem next February or March. 
Mr de Rothschild emphasised the importance of bringing the 
negotiations to their final stage before the proposed confer-
ence was convened. 
77 Great Russell Street [Z.O. London Office] 
8 November 1921 
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Arab-jewish Entente 
Draft Basis for Discussion 

165 

The following resolution was passed at the Twelfth Zionist 
Congress held in Carlsbad:-

"We do hereby reaffirm our desire to attain a durable 
understanding which shall enable the Arab and Jewish 
peoples to live together in Palestine on terms of mutual 
respect and to co-operate in making the common home into a 
flourishing community, the upbuilding of which will assure to 
each of these peoples an undisturbed national development." 
In the spirit of this resolution the following notes have been 
drafted: 
Taking note of the Balfour Declaration of November 2nd, 
1917, and of its subsequent reaffirmation by His Britannic 
Majesty's Government and the Principal Allied Powers: 
Deploring the misconceptions which still exist as to the 
manner in which the Balfour Declaration is to be construed: 

1. 
The promise of a national home in Palestine made to the 
Jewish people by His Britannic Majesty's Government (and 
concurred in by the Principal Allied Powers) is to be 
interpreted as a promise to secure the international recogni-
tion, under the guarantee of the League of Nations, of the 
right of the Jews to constitute themselves in Palestine as a 
national unit;* 

2. 
(a) The Jews on the one hand and the Arabs on the other 
are to be regarded as living side by side on a footing of perfect 
equality in all matters, including the official use and recogni-
tion of their respective languages. 
(b) In areas in which there is a mixed population, the rights 
of the minority are to be fully guaranteed, including the right 
of representation on the local administrative bodies. 
(c) The existence in Palestine of the Jewish National Home 
is not to be a bar to the recognition of Palestine, when the 
time is ripe, as a self-governing commonwealth. 

* The words "distinct nationality" have been added, to appear parallel 
with "national unit". 
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3. 
The Zionist Leaders* and the Jews of Palestine will support 
the demand for the development of self-governing institutions 
on a representative basis, it being clearly understood that the 
terms of this agreement will remain binding and inviolable, 
as will also the provisions of the Mandate, so long as the 
Mandate is in force. 

4. 
The Zionist Leaders* and the Jews of Palestine will support 
the demand that non-Palestinian officials, with the exception 
of the High Commissioner, the Civil, Financial and Legal 
Secretaries, and the heads of the principal Departments, shall 
be gradually replaced by Palestinians, due regard being had, 
in the case of District officials, to the Arab or Jewish 
character, as the case may be, of the population concerned. 

5. 
Jewish immigration is to be limited by the capacity of 
Palestine, from time to time, to absorb it, but not otherwise. It 
is declared * * that there is not nor has there ever been any 
desire or intention to disturb the existing Arab population or 
any part of it. The right of the Arab inhabitants and their 
descendants to the secure enjoyment of their homes and 
prosperity is unequivocally recognised and guaranteed. 

6. 
(a) It is agreed that the Law of Nationality should recognise 
as citizens of Palestine all persons who being presently 
resident in the country at a date to be subsequently fixed, do 
not decline such citizenship, provided that no person owing 
allegiance to another state shall become a citizen until he has 
renounced such allegiance. 
(b) It is further agreed that facilities should be provided for 
the acquisition of citizenship by persons who take up their 
permanent residence in Palestine, the qualifying period to be 
settled by common agreement with the Mandatory Power. 

7. 
The Zionist Leaders* and the Jews of Palestine will give all 

• The word "Leaders" is replaced by the word "Organisation". 
** The words "It is declared" are replaced by "The Zionist Organisation 
declares". 
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the moral and material support in their power to the various 
Arab States which have been constituted or are in the process 
of constitution and will, in general, co-operate whole-
heardedly with the Arab people in its efforts to realise its 
legitimate national aspirations. The Arabs, on their side, will 
loyally work with the Jews in all matters appertaining to the 
establishment of the Jewish National Home. 

It is the ardent desire of both parties to lay the foundations 
of a generally Arab-Jewish understanding to the advantage of 
the Jewish people and the Arab world as a whole and in the 
interest of the fruitful development of the Near and Middle 
East. 

8. 
The Zionist Leaders* categorical~y re-affirm their repeated 
assurances that they do not contemplate and have never 
contemplated the smallest interference with the religious 
rights and customs of the non-Jewish inhabitants of Palestine, 
for which they undertake to show the most rigorous and 
scrupulous regard. In particular, do they recognise the 
Moslem and Christian Holy Places as inviolable and formally 
repudiate the injurious and wholly unfounded suggestion that 
it is desired, directly or indirectly to trespass upon them. 

The Arabs, on their part, undertake to show an equal 
regard for the Holy Places and the religious rights and 
customs of the Jews. 

9. 
All the various Jewish Organisations,** which have in view 
the economic reconstruction of Palestine on an extensive 
scale, will welcome the co-operation of the Arab inhabitants 
and undertake to afford them a full opportunity of participat-
ing in such economic endeavours as they may initiate. 

* 
Source: PRO, CO 733/16, file 56020. Changes indicated are those 

which appear in a version of the draft, dated 4 December 
1921, in Zionist files. (CZA, S25/3070.) 

* The word "Leaders" is replaced by the word "Organisation" (verb and 
pronoun agreements adjusted as a result) 
** "All the various Jewish Organisations" is replaced by "The Zionist 
Organisation" (verb agreement adjusted accordingly) 
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Document 18 

Meeting between the Arab Delegation and the Zionist 
Organisation at the Colonial Office, 29 November 1921 

[Present Colonial Officer Mr Shuckburgh (in the chair) 
Colonel Meinertzhagen 
MrClauson 
Mr Mills 

Arab Delegation: Musa Kazim Pasha al-Husaini 
Mr Shibli Jamal 
Mr Ibrahim Shammas 
and three other members 

Zionist Organisation: Dr Weizmann 
Dr Feiwel 
Mr Halpern 
Mr Stein 
Mr Shertok 

Three sets of minutes are presented below: (a) Colonial 
Office; (b) Arab Delegation; (c) Zionist Organisation.] 

(a) 
Mr. Shuckburgh 
represented the Secre-
tary of State [Mr 
Churchill]. 
1. It was agreed at 
the outset that the 
proceedings were of 
an informal nature 
and were not to be 
made public. 
2. Mr Shuckburgh 
stated five general 
propositions concern-
ing Palestine of a 
non-controversial 
nature as an indica-
tion that there were 
common grounds 

(b) 

Shuckburgh, repre-
senting the Colonial 
Secretary, spoke: 
1. We would all like 
Palestine to be happy 
and in full prosperity. 
2. We would all like 
there to be religious 

(c) 

Mr Shuckburgh as-
sumed general accep-
tance of certain as-
sumptions, e.g. all 
present desired wel-
fare of Palestine, in-
violability of Holy 
Places, etc. 



between the two par-
ties. 
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equality. 
3. The Holy Places 
will remain in the 
hands of their guar-
dians. 
4. We want Pales-
tine to progress in its 
agriculture and its 
economy, and it 
needs money for that. 
5. Fourthly [sic], we 
want Palestine to ad-
vance politically. 
6. Until, one day, it 
becomes advanced, it 
will take its place 
among the nations 
and will be politically 
well- behaved. 
7. Until we achieve 
those wishes, it will 
definitely have the 
support of the Eng-
lish government. 
7. [sic] England's 
support for Palestine 
will be accorded only 
in special conditions. 
The most important 
required condition is 
that she carry out her 
pledges which she 
gave during the war; 
firstly, the Balfour 
Declaration. 
8. The declaration 
has two parts: ( 1) es-
tablishment of a 
Jewish national 
home; (2) safeguard-
ing the rights of the 
Arabs. 

* * * 
The declaration was 
incorporated in the 
Treaty of Sevres, 

169 

Again, all agreed that 
in the initial stages 
Palestine needed the 
support and guidance 
of Great Britain. 
(Both sides indicated 
assent.) 
Great Britain could 
give that support, etc. 
only on the basis of 
engagements entered 
into during the war. 

He referred especially 
to the Balfour Declar-
ation which was in-
corporated in the 
Treaty of Sevres and 
in the draft Mandate: 
note/ especially Arti-
cle 2. 
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which ha,<; not been 
signed until now. It 
was mentioned again 
in the terms of the 
draft Mandate. 
The draft Mandate 
(article 2) states that 
the English govern-
ment is responsible 
for the establishment 
of a national home 
[ ... gap in original) 
The English govern-
ment will assist in the 
implementation of 
this work. 
The text of the Man-
date will no doubt be 
approved by the 
Council of the Lea-
gue of Nat ions. It has 
not yet approved it. 
The League of 
Nat ions meeting in 
August did not exa-
mine it, but the 
matter is no longer as 
it was at first. The 
President of the 
Council of the Lea-
gue of Nat ions wrote 
a letter to the Prime 
Minister here. The 
Council expects the 
English government 
to administer the 
Mandate in the same 
existing spirit as the 
draft mandate until it 
is finally confirmed. 
This event will hap-
pen immediately, and 
the government will 
act in accordance 
with it. 
The [Balfour) Declar-
ation has two parts; it 
is evident that two 

Mandate reiterates 
the pledge and en-
gages G.B. to take 
steps to carry it out. 

True, approval of 
League of Nat ions 
not obtained. But 
after last session of 
League, President of 
Council wrote to 
Prime Minister say-
ing (inter alia) "Confi-
dent H.M.G. would 
continue administra-
tion of country in 
spirit of draft man-
date until position 
regularised". 

This is what H.M.G. 
intend to do. 



3. He suggested 
that both parties 
should leave the 
region of abstract 
politics and discuss 
concrete realities and 
he offered two points 
upon which he invit-
ed the parties to give 
their views:-

(a) The real fear 
with which the Arabs 
regarded the idea of 
Jewish immigration. 
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parties are connected 
in this case. For that 
reason, the Colonial 
Secretary [ ... mean-
ing unclear] leaders 
of both sides to meet 
and negotiate about 
this matter. 
With everything he 
had said, he found 
fears and misunder-
standing. 
The way he suggest-
ed: Let us leave high 
policy aside and leave 
aside texts of unreali-
stic explanations. Let 
us bring up real, 
practical issues. Let 
us see what are the 
frightening things 
which would happen 
under British policy 
in Palestine. Even 
this meeting makes it 
possible to bring in 
measures to eliminate 
those fears. He did 
not want to enter into 
details; rather he 
wanted to hear from 
the two sides only, 
and would mention 
two important 
points: 
(1) They say that 
the people are afraid 
of Jewish immigra-
tion. They say that 
immigration will take 
away the p~ople's 
jobs. 
He bore in mind that 
the Pasha had said 
that we would not 
object to immigration 
to the extent that the 
people could bear it 
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Suggested that in ap-
proaching the ques-
tion they should 
begin by getting 
away from high 
policy and abstract 
definitions. 
What are the terrible 
things people are 
really afraid of? 

Two important points. 
A. Jewish Immigra-
tion. The idea that 
this means thousands 
of Jews pouring in 
like locusts and eat-
ing up the land. 
Nothing of the kind. 
At recent luncheon at 
which Secretary of 
State was present, the 
Pasha himself said, 
"No objection to 
Jewish immigration 
in itself, so long as it 
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(b) The real fear 
with which they 
regarded the contin-
gency of Jewish poli-
tical ascendancy in 
Palestine. 

Safeguards for the 
former were already 
provided by the en-
unciation of the prin-
ciple that immigra-
tion should depend 
upon the ability of 
the country to sup-
port the immigrants. 
Safeguards for the 
latter were being 
provided by a Draft 
Constitution now 
under consideration 
whereby the creation 
and establishment of 
an elected Legislative 
Assembly was con-
templated. 
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(he had said it at 
breakfast) [ ... mean-
ing unclear] and he 
didn't know what the 
Zionists wanted, on 
the other hand? 
When politicians 
come to find a form 
of solution, they 
negotiate and find 
the form of solution, 
such as 5, 10, 15, and 
they find ways to so 
solve the problem. 
[2] Many times the 
real fear is not the 
existence of the Jews 
in Palestine, but 
rather Jew ish supre-
macy and Jewish 
domination. Sover-
eignty and domina-
tion are very much 
[unclear word in ori-
ginal] here, but let's 
not assume that all 
our intentions are 
evil. 
If the fears exist, 
precautionary mea-
sures would be taken 
to remedy them and 
to make their effects 
disappear. 
We certainly will 
know the proposals 
for the creation (of 
constitutional law) 
on the question of 
representation. They 
are now looking into 
it in Palestine. The 
High Commissioner 
over there is continu-
ing to negotiate with 
leaders on both sides, 
and he will not 
decide anything 

did not outrun capa-
city of country to ab-
sorb it". That, to the 
best of belief, is the 
policy. I do not ima-
gine Z.O. contem-
plates anything else. 

B. Sometimes sug-
gested that what Ar-
abs really afraid of is 
setting up of Jewish 
political ascendancy. 
No intention of intro-
ducing 'Ascendancy' 
(an ill-omened 
phrase) into Pales-
tine, cf. Carlsbad 
Resolution No.5. 

If there were really 
risk of this, would not 
remedy be to set up 
suitable constitution-
al safeguards? 
Proposals for consti-
tution now under 
consideration, includ-
ing proposals for in-
troduction of repre-
sentative elements in 
Government. 
High Commissioner 
is consulting repre-
sentatives of various 
interests and will not 
submit proposals to 
us until he has their 
views. 
But still intended 



Could not these two 
subjects be matters 
now of frank and 
open discussion to 
provide eventually 
for a rapprochement 
between the two par-
ties? 
4. Mussa Kazim 
Pasha el Husseini stat-
ed that the Arab 
Delegation had al-
ready forwarded their 
idea of a proper solu-
tion to the problem of 
Palestine. 
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before submitting it 
to the government 
here. When the 
proposals arrive here, 
it will be possible for 
them to take our 
ideas about them into 
account. 
[ ... meaning unclear] 
Now he requested the 
Pasha or Dr Weiz-
mann to listen close-
ly. 

The Pasha: Our 
demands are: 
1. The formation of 
a National Govern-
ment, with a Repre-
sentative Assembly 
elected by the people, 
who will keep an eye 
on the Government. 
2. The present 
policy should be nul-
lified and the matter 
of immigration 
should be under the 
control of the Nation-
al Government. 
3. The Holy Places 
should be in the 
hands of their guar-
dians. 
4. The British Army 
is unnecessary, and 
should be replaced by 
a National Gendar-
merie. 
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later to consult Arab 
Delegation, if still in 
London, and also 
Z.O. 

Musa Kazim invited to 
offer observations 
said:-
''We have already put 
forward a solution". 
(It should be ob-
served that Musa 
Kazim invariably 
spoke through Shibly 
J emal and as a rule 
apparently on the 
latter's promoting.) 
Pressed to explain 
what he meant by the 
solution he referred to 
the Delegation's 
letter to the Colonial 
Office of (? October 
28th). 
After some delay, ex-
plained Delegation 
came to confer with 
Government on fol-
lowing demands:-
( a) National Assem-
bly, elected by pre-
war residents. 
(b) Zionist policy to 
be rescinded. 
(c) Immigration to 
be controlled by 
National Assembly. 
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5. Mr Shuckburgh 
pointed out that the 
solution in question 
could not be the basis 
of discussion because 
His Britannic Majes-
ty's Government in-
sisted on adherence to 
the Balfour Declara-
tion. 
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Mr Shuckburgh: As 
for the National 
Government, Mr 
Churchill has said 
that the country is 
not ready for the 
creation of an elective 
representative assem-
bly. He would only 
consider any govern-
ment establishing a 
Legislative Council, 
the majority of whose 
members represent 
the country and the 
minorities would be 
represented (propor-
tional representa-
tion). As for executive 
power, it would be in 
the hands of the 
British Government, 
with the High Com-
missioner. 
The Assembly would 
have the rights of 
legislative councils: 
to enact laws, to 
implement them, to 
criticise the govern-
ment, to ratify the 
budget. But some 
powers must remain 
in the hands of the 
High Commissioner. 
It would be possible 
to discuss the subject 
of the powers of the 
High Commissioner 
later. The High Com-

(d) Holy Places to 
remain in hands of 
present guardians. 
(e) British Army to 
be replaced by Gen-
darmes to be paid out 
of Palestinian reven-
ue. 
Mr Shuckburgh. They 
must take it that for 
the present Executive 
power would be in 
the hands of H.M.G. 
acting through High 
Commissioner. 

Musa Kazim. What 
will be the powers of 
the Assembly? 
Mr Shuckburgh. It will 
have power to intro-
duce and pass Ordin-
ances, criticize 
Government, pass 
Budget, and other 
such functions as 
usually exercised by 
Legislative Assembly. 
But certain powers 
would have to be res-
erved to High Com-
missioner, - exactly 
how was a matter for 
discussion. Probably 
High Commissioner 



6. Dr Weizmann 
made a statement in 
which he professed to 
disregard all the 
events of the past six 
months and the pin-
pricks of earlier per-
iods. 
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missioner had the 
right to stop their 
implementation, just 
as in the dominions 
the King had the 
right to veto any law 
whatsoever. But he 
did not see this as the 
time [to discuss] this 
issue in detail. 
Our aim today at this 
meeting is to bring 
together the two par-
ties so that we might 
reach an agreement 
in principle for work 
in Palestine. 
Dr Weizmann: He 
thanked the represen-
tative, of the British 
Government for put-
ting before us clearly 
the purpose of this 
meeting. He was sure 
that the work of the 
British Government 
was very difficult, 
and it appears that 
the goal of the two 
parties was to facili-
tate the business of 
H.M.G. in the execu-
tion of their aim. He 
wanted, in a brief 
word, to divert atten-
tion from the events 
of the last six months. 
He declared, with 
sorrow, that the 
events of the first 
half-year had caused 
pain for all who hold 
dear the honour of 
Palestine. 
In spite of the great 
distance which exists 
between the two par-
ties, he had a hope 
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would have power of 
reserving for S. of S. 
Ordinances on parti-
cular subjects. This 
was a common prac-
tise, but it would be 
best to await written 
draft of Constitution. 
Object today is to ar-
rive at basis for dis-
cussion between Jews 
and Arabs with view 
to common action. 

Dr Weizmann. I will 
disregard what has 
happened in last six 
months. It is deplora-
ble and I am sure 
everyone who cares 
for good of Palestine 
deplores it. 

Still hopeful solution 
will be found which 
will unite both forces 
which are necessarily 
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He argued that his 
views had been com-
pletely understood by 
the Emir Feisal and 
had been accepted by 
him as the represen-
tative of the Arab 
world. The two 
nations kindred m 
blood and language 
could hope for a 
prosperous and 
happy country 
through the agency of 
mutual good-will. 
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that some form of 
solution would be 
found for the admini-
stration of the 
country. 
He wanted to remind 
His Grace, the Pasha, 
that he had been the 
first man to receive 
him when he set foot 
on Palestinian soil. 
On that occasion His 
Grace, the Pasha, had 
explained to Dr 
Weizmann that he 
was striving for the 
restoration of Pales-
tine and for the up-
building of the colon-
ies there. 
[ ... gaps in original) 
He and his responsi-
ble colleagues had at-
tempted many times 
to make an agree-
ment with the Arabs. 
It appears that he 
had succeeded many 
times to meet one of 
the great leaders, the 
Amir Faisal (he 
might possibly have 
done so), who strove 
to resolve the Arab 
question at the time 
of the war and was 
authorised [to do so). 
S orne Palestinians 
were with him, like 
his Secretary, Awni 
(Abd al-Hadi). On 
every occasion Dr 
W eizmann and his 
colleagues strove to 
explain that their 
aims m Pales tine 
were to make Pales-
tine prosperous. 

working for the up-
building of Palestine. 

On my first arrival in 
Palestine the Pasha 
told me that long ago 
he had been working 
with Jews for up-
building of Palestine 
and especially for up-
building of Jewish 
Colonies. 

At that time (April 
1918) we repeatedly 
tried to come to an 
understanding with 
the Arabs. The one 
important representa-
tive of the Arab 
nation who was ac-
ceptable to us was 
Feisul. We were in 
contact, not only 
with him, but with 
many of his entour-
age, who included a 
number of Palestin-
ians. 
We made it clear 
what we aimed at. 
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Before the end of the 
war he met F aisal in 
Ma'an, and after that 
in Paris. Before they 
presented their 
demands to the Peace 
Conference, the Amir 
negotiated with his 
organisation. He 
wanted to remind us 
of the text of the 
statement which the 
Amir Faisal had 
made: [ ... meaning 
unclear] These are 
the principles on 
which he and his as-
sociates had agreed 
with Arab leaders. 
Among these leaders 
were "the late Mufti 
and A wni A bd al-
Hadi". His colleagues 
in Palestine have had 
contacts on various 
subjects. 

Awni is a Palestinian. 
With leaders in Pales-
tine [gap in original]. 
He didn't give their 
names now: N asha-
shibi and others, 
whom he did not 
identify. 
He had written a 
note requesting a 
meeting with the 
Delegation, and the 
moment of this joint 
meeting now is a 
solemn moment. 
He believed the inter-
ests of both sides 
deserved a speedy 
agreement. 
He did not trouble 
himself to know what 
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During war I visited 
F. at Maan, and 
subsequently in Paris. 
Before we submitted 
our proposals to 
Peace Conference, F. 
and his colleagues 
were informed of 
them, and F. public 
approved of them. 

(Reads Feisul's letter 
to Frankfurter) 

An Arab representative. 
Did Dr W. negotiate 
with Arabs of Pales-
tine(?] 

Dr Weizmann. 
Yes- e.g. with the 
late Mufti [Karnil a!-] 
H usseini and with 
F aisul's secretary, 
who was a Palestin-
ian,- [Awni] Abdul 
Hadi. 
(Arab representative 
still presses for names 
of Palestinians) 

Dr Weizmann, 
proceeding. - When 
Arab Delegation ar-
rived, I wrote them a 
letter. I received no 
reply[.] However, I 
disregard that. 
This is a solemn 
moment, and we are 
both interested in 
coming to a practical 
understanding. 
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the British Govern-
ment would do in 
Palestine. 
When the drafting of 
the basic law is con-
cluded, they will sub-
mit it to us, for each 
party to state its ob-
servations. However, 
he wanted to make 
clear something that 
was said at Carlsbad, 
and that is: "The Bal-
four Declaration does 
not impose any harm 
on the legitimate 
rights of the country" 
[ ... gap in original] 
He did not want a 
quarrel. One of the 
widespread views on 
the matter of immi-
gration is that the 
Jews will evict and 
dispossess the Arabs 
of their lands. [mean-
ing unclear ... ] He 
had not found one 
evicted from his 
lands. He wanted to 
declare that the Jews 
had in Palestine [en-
ough]land for coloni-
sation plans for five 
or six years and 
would not need more. 
According to the 
opinion of experts 
who are authorised, 
[we have] a capability 
of settling 300,000 
Jews. But we are not 
thinking of carrying 
out emigration on 
this scale for at least 
ten years. Therefore, 
he did not find the 
slightest harm has 

When draft constitu-
tion shown to us, we 
shall have opportuni-
ty of offering our 
remarks. 
We only like to repeat 
what was said at 
Carlsbad, - carrying 
out of Balfour Declar-
ation does not mean 
infringement of legiti-
mate interests of Ar-
ab population. 
Desired to give one 
illustration. One of 
principal Arab grie-
vances is that if 
Jew ish immigration 
goes on, Jews will 
evict Arabs from 
their land. 
Not a single Arab has 
in fact been evicted 
by aJew. Not only so, 
but I would like to 
say that we have en-
ough land in P. now 
to go on colonising 
for next five or six 
years without buying 
another square inch. 

According to opinion 
of qualified experts, 
we can eventually set-
tle on lands we have 
now about 300,000 
Jews. 

But we do not con-
template an immigra-
tion anything like 
that within next ten 
years. We can go on 



He insisted that 
Zionism meant no 
encroachment upon 
the legitimate politi-
cal aspirations of the 
indigenous Arabs. 

He might, if he had 
chosen, have concen-
trated upon measures 
which would have 
resulted in Palestine 
being divided into 
two - one half purely 
Jewish the other pur-
ely Arab. But that 
solution was not to 
the advantage of 
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touched the rights of 
the Arabs. On the 
contrary, the Jewish 
people are paying 
more than £ 1 million 
sterling each year. At 
least half this amount 
enters the pockets of 
Arabs in legitimate 
ways. These are the 
facts. He did not find 
propaganda which 
refuted these facts. 
He believed that it 
was enough that the 
amount of taxes 
which the Jews paid 
was far greater than 
their numbers [war-
ranted]. [ ... meaning 
unclear] 
He did not want to 
enter into details. 
The Arabs had grie-
vances. He was not 
aware whether they 
were in the right or 
not - and he would 
not claim that the 
truth was always 
with thejews. 
There was one way to 
a solution: we should 
agree on this basis 
that the two parties 
shall build up the 
country with joint 
efforts. It was possible 
for him to have 
proposed a form of 
solution. Look at this 
map. Let us suppose 
we proceed along 
these lines. The ob-
vious thing would be 
to form the Jewish 
community having 
special interests, and 
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without in slightest 
degree encroaching 
on Arab interests. 
On contrary Jews 
now spend over 
£1,000,000 in P. a 
year, and at least half 
of this goes (quite 
legitimately) into Ar-
ab pockets. 
Look at taxable capa-
city of Jews and you 
will find they contri-
bute out of all 
proportion to their 
numbers. 

As for Arab grie-
vances, I do not 
pretend we are al-
ways right. But 
whatever grievances 
both sides have, we 
can only deal with 
them by accepting 
principle that we 
have got to build up 
P. together. 

I could have proposed 
easy solution. (Shows 
map) 
Look at this Map. We 
could proceed on 
lines there indicated, 
and built up a strong, 
self-sufficient Jewish 
Community sur-
rounding ourselves 
with an iron wall and 
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Palestine and he 
preferred to treat the 
future Palestine as a 
country where the 
two nations could live 
in political harmony 
and related recipro-
cally as Palestinian 
citizens. He also stat-
ed that he had been in 
touch with many Ar-
ab leaders who were 
in sympathy with this 
view. 
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this community 
would not have the 
remaining section. 
It was possible to en-
circle themselves with 
a wall of iron. That 
would be like King 
Solomon's Judg-
ment. 
But this is not our 
intention. Every loyal 
patriot does not even 
want it. The Govern-
ment certainly does 
not want it; neither 
does the League of 
N atlons. Our inten-
tion is to live side by 
side and that we help 
one another. If we 
have grievances, 
which is natural and 
always inevitable, let 
us clarify these grie-
vances openly with-
out exaggeration, and 
their solution will not 
be possible except 
on the basis of respect 
of the two parties for 
each other. He did 
not want to accuse 
anyone. He believed 
a policy of riots and 
killing would be ruin-
ous for the country, 
and he wanted [to say 
that] this would turn 
against it. This policy 
did not destroy the 
Jewish nation in Ger-
many and elsewhere. 
The policy has des-
troyed Russia and 
Germany. He did not 
accuse anyone and 
[ ... meaning unclear] 
that we all regretted 

leaving rest of Pales-
tine as it is. That 
would be a judgment 
of Solomon: it would 
be cutting the child 
in two. That is what 
we do not want, and 
what every Palestin-
ian patriot does not 
want and certainly 
what H.M.G. does 
not want nor the Lea-
gue of Nations. 
We must go forward 
side by side, helping 
one another, and if; 
as is natural, grie-
vances arise, they 
should be clearly for-
mulated without ex-
aggeration face to 
face and settled on 
the basis of mutual 
respect. 

One more word. A 
policy of pogroms in 
P. will be ruinous for 
P. It will be a boo-
merang. Pogroms 
have destroyed many 
greater nations. They 
have never destroyed 
Jewry in Russia and 
they will certainly 
not destroy it in P. 
They have destroyed 
Russia. 
I accuse no one. f 
hope we all deplore 
these outbreaks. 



In any case he took 
his stand on the Draft 
Mandate the princi-
ples of which were un-
alterable. He offered 
to open discussions 
with the Arabs on the 
points mentioned by 
Mr Shuckburgh. 
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these incidents. 
If the Delegation (his 
final words) would 
agree, on the forego-
ing basis, to the Draft 
Mandate, it would be 
possible for us to 
negotiate about the 
grievances which we 
could settle here or in 
Palestine, among our-
selves or through the 
mediation of the Gov-
ernment. Precious 
time has been lost un-
til now. 

It would be better 
for everyone if we 
carry on these talks, 
and unite in coming 
to the English Gov-
ernment and present 
our thoughts to it. 
He did not want to 
enter into a theoreti-
cal discussion: did we 
have the right to 
share in the restora-
tion of P alestine[?J 
But he repeated that 
the restoration would 
have a good effect on 
the two nations. In 
this spirit he request-
ed the gentlemen [to 
negotiate]. 

* * * 
Mr Shuckburgh: We 
have heard pleasing 
words. He [Dr Weiz-
mann] had officially 
invited us to enter 
officially into negotia-
tion with him. The 
Minister wants this 
thing and would feel 
great disappointment 
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If gentlemen on other 
side would accept 
principle of mandate 
and formulate their 
grievances, my collea-
gues and I would be 
ready to discuss those 
grievances, whether 
here or in Palestine, 
whether among our-
selves or under Presi-
dency of a representa-
tive ofH.M.G. 
Too much time has 
been lost already. It 
will be easier for all of 
us if we unite in com-
ing to H.M.G. and 
expressing our wishes 
with regard to the 
future of the country. 

I have not entered 
upon an academic 
discussion as to 
whether we had the 
right to build nation-
al home in P. That is 
for us beyond discus-
sion. I repeat that this 
upbuilding will be to 
the advantage of both 
nations and in this 
spirit I invite my 
friends opposite to 
enter into discussion. 

Mr Shuckburgh. Dr W. 
has made conciliatory 
speech and given defi-
nite invitation. 
Speaking for S. of S., 
I should be much dis-
appointed if that in-
vitation rejected. 
It has always been 
view of H.M.G. that 
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if we refused. 
The view of the 
Government [ ... gap 
in original] 
There always existed 
two parties who had 
important interests in 
Palestine. The best 
way was for these two 
parties to come 
together, to negotiate, 
and to place before 
the Government a 
form of solution 
which results from 
the negotiation. It 
was the intention and 
the desire of the Eng-
lish Government to 
hold the balance 
equally between the 
two parties and to 
carry out the two 
parts of the Balfour 
Declaration justly 
and honourably. He 
knew that it was said 
that the two parts 
were inconsistent, 
with no reconciliation 
between them. But 
the Government 
believed that an ac-
commodation was 
possible between the 
two, and it was the 
task of the Govern-
ment to reconcile the 
two parties. Of course 
it was possible for the 
English Government 
to force an agreement 
upon the two parties 
by saying that this is 
what it wants and 
this must be carried 
out. But every one of 
us believes that an 

best course is for both 
interests to endeavour 
to come together and 
place before us 
something in the 
nature of agreed 
proposals. 

It is the desire and 
intention of H.M.G. 
to hold balance 
equally and to carry 
out both parts of B.D. 
honourably and fair-
ly. 

H.M.G. has never ac-
cepted the view that 
the two parts of B.D. 
are inconsistent and 
irreconcilable. 

H.M.G. could, of 
course, impose a 
settlement on both 
parties; but everyone 
must agree imposed 
settlement cannot be 
compared with one 
based on agreement 
of both parties con-
cerned. 
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agreement which is 
imposed on the peo-
ple from outside 
should not predomin-
ate over the other 
[kind of agreement]. 
The first [kind of] 
agreement would be 
a military solution. It 
does not mean an in-
crease in the armed 
forces, but it would 
be military [in the 
sense that] it would 
not be with the ap-
proval of the two par-
ties involved in this 
issue. We ask the 
members of the Dele-
gation to accept Dr 
Weizmann's inten-
tion regarding nego-
tiations on this ques-
tion. 

He hoped that we 
would not enter into 
theoretical questions. 

He read to us the 
Carlsbad Resolution: 
'It is the aim of the 
Jews to come to Pale-
s tine and to share 
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I appeal to my 
friends of the Arab 
delegation to consider 
Dr W's invitation to 
discussion in a conci-
liatory spirit. 
Musa Kazim Will dis-
cussion be based on 
acceptance by us of 
B.D.? 
Mr Shuckburgh. Dis-
cussion must be 
based on acceptance 
by both sides of both 
parts of B.D. 
Musa Kazim. What is 
the B.D.? 
Mr Shuckburgh. You 
will remember earlier 
in afternoon I begged 
you to get away from 
definitions and ab-
stractions. 
MusaKazim. Wewant 
to know on what 
basis Jews are coming 
in. 
Mr Shuckburgh reads 
Carlsbad Resolution 
(Political) No.5. 
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7. Muss a Kazim 
Pasha el Husseini 
replied that the Dele-
gation had already 
informed His Britan-
nic Majesty's Govern-
ment that the Draft 
Mandate was inac-
ceptable, and had al-
so protested to the 
League of Nations 
against its terms. 
They did not under-
stand the meaning of 
the Balfour Declara-
tion. Why could not 
His Britannic Majes-
ty's Government give 
a clear interpretation 
so that Arabs might 
know where they 
were? In the present 
circumstances they 
were unable to dis-
cuss anything at all 
since they knew not 
what to discuss. 
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with the Arabs in 
making it prosper in 
such a way that each 
of the two parties will 
promote its nationali-
ty without oppressing 
the other'. He repeat-
ed [these] words and 
hoped we would 
enter into negotia-
tions: We both un-
derstood that the 
Government wants us 
to work out a state-
ment. Mr Churchill 
believes, above 
anything, that we 
should agree together 
and reach a solution, 
which he will submit 
to the Government. 

Musa Kazim We had 
hoped H.M.G. would 
make statement on its 
policy in Pales tine 
and that that would 
be preliminary to any 
further discussion. 
Mr Shuckburgh. Mr 
Churchill, as intimat-
ed at recent lun-
cheon, subsequently 
thought it better to 
proceed on more in-
formal lines. 
Musa Kazim. We did 
not come here to 
come to an under-
standing with the 
people whom we con-
sider as aggressors 
but to negotiate with 
H.M.G. to save us 
from injustice which 
is being done. 
We do not recognise 
right of anyone in 
Palestine, except that 
of people who live 
there. 
We have sent in our 
demands to H.M.G. 
and we ask H.M.G. 
to reply to them. 
Mr Shuckburgh. Am I 
to take it that the 
offer of discussion is 
declined? 
Musa Kazim. Yes if it 
is to be on basis of 
B.D. 
At any rate we must 
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[Dr Weizmann:J He 
said that Jews all 
over the world had 
the right to enter 
Palestine and that no 
power and no right 
would stop them 
from [doing] that. 
This way is men-
tioned in the draft 
Mandate. 
We did not want to 
rule over the Arabs. If 
there are some people 
who want to rule, it is 
the English. A Lea-
gue of Nat ions exists, 
[but] all the declara-
tions it issues are 
without benefit. 
What we do want is 
to form and establish 
a national homeland 
in Palestine for the 
Jews. There also ex-
ists, now, an Arab 
national homeland as 
well, and we want 
them to participate 
with each other to 
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begin with an inter-
pretation of the B.D. 
Dr Eder has stated 
that Arabs are not to 
have equal rights. 
Dr Weizmann. Issue 
has now shifted from 
rescinding of BD. to 
its interpretation. 
Look at Mandate. 
Mandate says 
H.M.G. to encourage 
Jewish immigration 
consistently with in-
terest of population 
and with its position, 
which includes its 
political position. 
We cannot recede 
from claim to right, 
subject to limitations 
of Article 6, of Jews 
of whole world to 
enter Palestine. We 
are attached to it by 
religious and historic 
ties which no force in 
the world can break. 

We do not wish to 
rule over the Arabs. If 
we did, we should be 
prevented by 
H.M.G., by League of 
Nat ions, and by the 
conscience of the 
world. 

What we want to 
create is Jewish 
national home in P. 
There exists an Arab 
national home there. 
We want these two 
national homes to 
work together to 
create a flourishing P. 
and perhaps our chi!-
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8. Mr Shuckburgh 
informed the Delega-
tion that the Draft 
Mandate must stand 
but it might be possi-
ble to offer a new for-
mula in regard to the 
substance of the Bal-
four Declaration and 
its legal corollary the 
Draft Mandate. Sup-
posing that it were 
possible to draw up a 
formula of this kind 
as a basis of discussion, 
would the Arabs be 
willing to enter di!r 
cussion again? At one 
time they had dem-
anded the complete re-
scission of the Declara-
tion: now it appeared 
that they would be 
willing to negotiate 
upon an interpreta-
tion of that Declara-
tion other than those 
already advanced. 
9. The Delegation 
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make Palestine 
happy. 
It would be possible, 
in fifty years, [for J our 
children [to discuss 
the position]. 

* * * 
The Pasha: We recog-
nise only one Arab 
homeland. We have 
protested against the 
draft Mandate to the 
League of Nat ions 
and we don't recog-
nise anyone else's 
right in our country. 

* * * 
Shuckburgh: If there 
were an acceptable 
explanation [of the 
Balfour Declaration], 
were we prepared to 
negotiate with the 
Zionists(?] 

[Musa Kazim:J No. 

dren in fifty years will 
re-discuss the posi-
tion. That is all, but 
that is enough. 

Musa Kazim. We can-
not recognise Pales-
tine as home of any 
people but the Arabs. 
As to terms of Man-
date, we have protest-
ed against them both 
to H.M.G. and to 
League of Nations. 
We think best solu-
tion is to leave the 
matter to H.M.G. 
Mr Shuckburgh. If you 
did know what B.D. 
meant would you be 
prepared to enter into 
a discussion? 

Musa Kazim. Yes-



replied that they 
would welcome an-
other interpretation: 
it might form the 
basis of discussion 
but the Government 
were to remember 
that the Draft Man-
date was quite repug-
nant. (The implica-
tion was that the new 
formula might still be 
unacceptable and 
would lead them 
again to demand the 
rescission of the Bal-
four Declaration and 
its sequelae). 

(Initialled:) 
E[ ric] M[ ills] 

30.11.1921 

* 
SOURCE: PRO, CO 
537/855. Note: The 
comments of E. Mills, 
which compensate for 
the relative brevity of 
the C.O. minutes, are 
given below. 
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Only with the 
Government. 

* * * 

Mr Shuckburgh said: 
The thinking of the 
Minister was not to 
present an interpreta-
tion different from 
the first one. He would 
put [it] before the 
Minister and obtain 
an interpretation. 

* * * 
[The meeting] ter-
minated after lasting 
approximately two 
hours. 

* 
SOURCE: Hand-
written notes taken by 
member of Arab 
Delegation during 
the meeting, as repro-
duced in DPNM, 184-
86. My translation 
from the Arabic. As-
terisks appear in the 
original text. Order 
slightly readjusted. 
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-with H.M.G. 
Mr Shuckburgh. But 
not with Z.O.? 
Musa Kazim. Let us 
have interpretation 
first then we will see. 
M r S huckburgh. If 
chance of further for-
mula leading to use-
ful discussion I would 
be prepared to sub-
mit to S. of S. that we 
should be authorised 
to prepare such a for-
mula. But it must be 
understood that the 
formula will be in ac-
cordance with the 
Mandate, which will 
not be departed from. 

* 
SOURCE:WA. 
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Comments o/ Mr Mills on proceedings at joint discussion with Arab 
Delegation and Zionists. 

1. Dr. Weizmann, while his speech was conciliatory, adopt-
ed an unfortunate manner in delivering it. His attitude was of 
the nature of a conqueror handing to beaten foes the terms of 
peace. Also I think he despises the members of the Delegation 
as not worthy protagonists- that it is a little derogatory to 
him to expect him to meet them on the same ground. 

2. The unanimity of the Arab Delegation is, I am sure, 
artificial. They are forced to adopt an uncompromising 
attitude because:-

(a) they know they are discredited in Palestine. 

(b) they know that if any one of them weakens the 
remainder will attach to him all ignominy when they 
return to Palestine. 

3. In Palestine itself the Arab population shows signs of 
weariness of political strife, but their feelings will run high if 
provocative action be taken by the Zionists or the Govt. 
Probably they will accept with resignation the situation when 
the mandate is definitely granted. 

4. It seems to me that it is quite hopeless to expect Arabs 
and Zionists to meet on common ground when that ground is 
already occupied by H.B.M. Government on the Balfour 
Declaration, no matter what be the interpretation of that 
Declaration and no matter in what form its substance is 
embodied. 

5. I am inclined to think that there are only two modes of 
action:-

(a) Allow dilatory measures with the Delegation to 
continue until either their funds are exhausted or until the 
people in Palestine express a desire that the Delegatimi 
should no longer profess to represent them. (N.B. The 
Delegation are now said to be feeding at Slater's Restaur-
ant, although it is possible that funds may be expected 
from Syrians in America). 
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(b) Summon both parties before the Secretary of State 
and tell them firmly that we are going to govern the 
country and that we shall tolerate no more provocation by 
the Zionist publicists and no more activity from a small 
band of not disinterested Arabs. 

This course is to be recommended if the mandate can be 
granted in the immediate future and after that mandate is 
granted. 

6. In Palestine we may have to face disorders, but it is more 
likely that we shall have to prepare for non-co-operation by 
Arab officials and municipalities, (provided always that both 
the Palestine Government and Zionists do not openly give the 
impression of tending to encroach upon Arab rights). In time 
it would be seen that the policy of non-co-operation did not 
hurt the Jews and did not break up the Government 
machinery altogether (many Arabs could be found to occupy 
existing posts should the present occupants decide to carry 
out the policy of non-co-operation). 

(Initialled) E.M. 30/11. 

* 
Source: PRO, CO 537/855. 

Document 19 

Letter from Dr Weizmann to Under-Secretary qf State, 
Colonial Office, 1 December 1921 

I have given careful consideration to the proceedings at the 
Colonial Office on November 29th, when I had the advantage 
of meeting members of the Palestine Arab Delegation for the 
purpose of an informal exchange of views. I desire now to 
draw attention to certain conclusions which appear to me to 
emerge. 
2. After refusing, at the outset, to recognise the Balfour 
Declaration, the Arab representatives shifted their ground 
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and ended by pressing for its re-interpretation. This indicates, 
to my mind, a certain weakening and suggests that the Arab 
Delegation is conscious of the futility of a frontal attack. 
3. On the other hand, I am convinced that the Delegation 
will never come to grips with concrete realities, so long as it 
has any hope, however illusory, of securing by a side-wind 
what could at least be represented as a change of policy. 
Before any progress can be made, it is essential that the 
Delegation should realise that the Mandate is regarded by 
His Majesty's Government as chose jugee. Any suggestion of a 
re-statement, as distinct from a reiteration, of British policy in 
Palestine could only have the effect of gravely impairing any 
prospect there may be of a working agreement on issues of 
practical importance. It would at once weaken very seriously 
the bargaining-power of the Zionist Organization and en-
courage interminable debates of an abstract character, from 
which no practical advantage could result. 
4. I venture to suggest, therefore, that before any progress 
can be effected, it must be made clear to the Arab Delegation, 
beyond any possibility of doubt, that the Balfour Declaration 
and the Mandate are intangible [sic] and that His Majesty's 
Government are not prepared to embark upon an analysis of 
them in the abstract. Faced with an unambiguous intimation 
to this effect, the Delegation, which appears, as I have 
suggested, to be already weakening, will doubtless see the 
expediency of descending into the region of practical politics. 
5. The Zionist Organization remains, on its side, fully 
prepared to enter into the discussion of a working agreement. 
I desire only to reiterate my conviction that no such 
discussion can be fruitful, so long as the basis on which alone 
it can be conducted appears, to the Arab eye, to be shifting. 

* 
Source: LCW X, 304f. 
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Document 20 

First Meeting between Zwnist Delegation and representatives 
cif the "Executive Committee cif the Congress cif Parties 

cifthe Confederation cif Arab Countries'~ 
Cairo, 18 March 1922 

On the 18th of March 1922, at 5:00 p.m., two delegations, 
one representing the Zionist Organization and the other the 
"Executive Committee of the Congress of Parties of the 
Confederation of the Arab Countries" met in Cairo with the 
purpose of reaching, after an exchange of views, an under-
standing which would make it possible for both parties to 
collaborate in the development of Mesopotamia, Syria, Pales-
tine and other Arab countries on a footing of equality of 
rights and interests. 

In holding that meeting both parties were actuated by 
their reciprocal desire to inaugurate a new era of peace and 
understanding and in order to put an end to the dissensions 
and misunderstandings which divide them and which, if 
continued, would only react to the detriment of their 
interests, both common and individual, and would retard the 
realization of the legitimate aspirations of both parties. 

Having recognized this necessity, each of the two parties 
declared that it is cognisant of the other party as a power with 
whom it was highly desirable and particularly useful to reach 
complete understanding. 

The Arab delegation declares that their countries, after 
several centuries of destructive and corrupt administration, 
are finding it impossible to reconstitute themselves in order to 
take their assigned place in the world once again without the 
close collaboration between the nationals of these countries 
and the agents of civilization [which] are divided into two 
categories: 

1) well-established European peoples, in other words, colon-
ialist powers, whose presence in relatively backward countries 
constitutes a particularly grave danger to the independence 
and political unity of these countries; [and] 
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2) the Jewish nation, originating in the East, whose memb-
ers dispersed around the world constitute one of the best 
forces on which modem civilization and progress are based. 

Taking into consideration the ancient origin of the Jewish 
nation which, without doubt, is historically related to the 
Arabs; and considering, on the other hand, that Jewish 
colonization does not present any political peril, since the 
Jews who settle in a country become attached to it, make it 
their fatherland (Patrie] and as a result do not colonize [it] for 
the benefit of a specific foreign power; the Arab delegates 
declare that in order to advance their countries towards 
modem civilization and progress they give all preference to 
the Jews, and would be particularly happy to collaborate 
with them to the end that the Jews may become, to the 
greatest possible extent, the agents of the external civilization 
of which the Arabs are in need. 

In reply to this declaration, theJewish delegates, expressing 
happiness at the confidence shown to them, and insisting for 
their part on the old relationship, declared their readiness to 
collaborate [with the Arabs] in the inauguration of an era of 
peace and work and to be the factor of peace and progress in 
the above-mentioned countries. On the other hand, they drew 
the attention of the Arab delegates to the specific legal 
interests and aspirations which the Jews have in Palestine as 
their historical and national cradle [berceau]. 

While recognizing these aspirations, the Arab delegates asked 
that the discussion should not have as its basis either the Balfour 
Declaration or the accord entered into between the British and 
King Husain [the McMahon-Husain correspondence]. The 
accord to be reached between the two parties must not be 
influenced by either of those two political documents. Arabs 
andJews must discuss, today, as nation to nation, make mutual 
concessions and recognize each other's rights. 

The accord to be reached should comprise two parts: (1) 
the object, (2) the means of execution. 

The goal is the complete and final independence of the 
above-mentioned countries joined in confederation. 

On this occasion, the Arab delegates clearly specified that 
it was not their intention to ask the Jews to declare themselves 
against foreign governments, just as they did not intend, for 
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their part, to begin their political work by a show of hostility 
towards these same governments. 

The work which should unite Jews and Arabs in close 
collaboration will be a long process, and the two parties 
appreciate full well that the object towards which they are 
jointly striving is not one which can be attained overnight. 
But it is agreed that from now on they would work together, 
by harmonious and systematic preparation in all spheres of 
activity and by every legal means, towards shortening the 
term of the mandates. 

This will constitute the basis of an accord between the two 
parties in which all the means of execution will be specified in 
detail. 

After approving the Arab declaration, the Jewish delegates 
specified their immediate demands and presented them in 
this form: 

1) Peace and tranquillity in Palestine. 
2) The cessation of all hostilities against immigration and 

settlement of Jews in Palestine within the scope of the 
economic capacity of the country once the accord is signed. 

3) The cessation of anti-Jewish propaganda by the Arab 
press and by Arab committees in Palestine and abroad. 

In exchange for this, the Jews would place at the service of 
the Arabs all the political, economic and propaganda resources 
at their disposal. In a word, they will collaborate sincerely with 
the Arabs towards the realization of the final goal already 
determined. As for the guarantees which the Arabs would have 
to give the Jews, the Jewish delegation insisted, in particular, on 
the rioting which could erupt in Palestine during the month of 
April on the occasion of the holidays [Nebi Musa and Easter] as 
a result of the excitement of mob feeling. 

The Arab delegation was quick to recognize that the 
demand was well-founded and, wishing to give the Jews a first 
tangible proof of the sincerity with which they intended to 
cooperate with them, suggested that it would undertake as 
soon as possible the pacification of spirits in Palestine with a 
view to preventing the troubles in question. It declared that it 
has now decided to delegate one of its members in Palestine 
to bring to the organizations in that country a message of 
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peace in the name of the congress. For their part, the Jewish 
delegates must devote themselves to preventing any provoca-
tive demonstration on their side. 

As regards the guarantees which the Arabs requested from 
the Jews, the Arab delegates felt they had to confer with other 
members of their Congress, and thus stated that they would 
present their demand for guarantees at a subsequent meeting 
to be held the next day, March 19th, at 3:00p.m. 

* 
Source: PRO, FO 37113773, file E3559/~5/65. My translation 

from the French, in conjunction with A. Saphir's transla-
tion and texts as submitted to the Peel Commission (1937), 
in CO 733/343, file 75550/9/A32. Some parts of the 
minutes in FO 371 are erroneously combined with those of 
the meeting of 19 March (below, Document 21) and have 
been correctly reassembled here. 

Document 21 

Minutes of Second Meeting, Cairo, 19 March 1922 

The two parties met again for a second session on the 19th 
of March at 3:00 p.m. The Jewish delegates asked for 
clarifications regarding the rights and interests which the 
Arabs would be granting them in Palestine. 

The Arab delegates went over the principles which would 
have to constitute the basis of a common programme for the 
two parties with the following formula: 

Complete independence of the Arab countries, with Pales-
tine as the Jewish National Home, where the Jews and the 
Arabs shall constitute a Palestinian national uni~ with 
equality of rights and duties. Jewish culture and civilization 
will develop freely in Palestine for the common good. 

As for the guarantees, whatever they are they can in no way 
have any real value unless both parties execute them with 
sincerity. To this end, the two parties commit themselves to 
use all their honesty and the honour of their word in the 
service of the said programme. 

The Arabs, while recognizing the difficult character of the 
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execution of this programme, will begin working immediately 
after the signing of the entente towards the pacification of 
spirits and to prepare the [population], carefully and surely, 
to accept these new principles. 

The delegate whom they promised to send to Palestine to 
bring the word of peace on the occasion of the [N ebi M usa 
and Easter] April holidays will leave during the coming week. 

The Jewish delegates, for their part, will devote themselves, 
as was agreed at the previous session, to preventing any 
provocative demonstrations on the part of their co religionists. 

The Arab delegates were not asking the Jews to declare 
themselves against the British Mandate for Palestine, but they 
insist that the Zionist Organization should refuse to support 
the obtaining of other mandates in other Arab countries of 
the Arabian peninsula. As for the position which the Arabs 
will have to take on the Palestine Mandate, this will be the 
subject of an entente between the two parties through the 
setting up of a joint committee. 

This joint committee, the establishment of which was 
proposed by the Arab delegates, will consist of the members 
of the Arab Executive Committee [of the Cairo Congress] and 
any Jewish members who will be delegated for this purpose 
by the Zionist Organization (a maximum offour, equal to the 
number of Arab delegates). 

This joint committee will elaborate the programme and its 
execution in all its details, will agree on the means to take to 
bring the efforts of the two parties towards the common goal. 
The Arab delegates declare that they have already been 
provided with the necessary powers to sign any entente and to 
work out any programme, as well as [to decide] the composi-
tion of the said committee. 

The Jewish delegates, while accepting in their private 
capacities all the principles already enumerated, declare that 
they must confer with the head office of their organization 
before they can definitely sign the accords. 

The signatures will be forthcoming once the Jewish dele-
gates have obtained the necessary full powers for this purpose. 

* 
Source: See source of preceding document. 
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Document 22 

Minutes if Third Meeting, Cairo, 2 Apri/1922 

The two parties met for the third time on the 2nd of April, 
1922 at 4:00p.m. 

The Zionist representatives stated that they were officially 
instructed to communicate the contents of a telegram from 
Dr Chaim Weizmann, President of their organization, who 
was presently in Rome. The telegram read as follows: 

After having read the documents approve entirely your 
negotiations. We accept in principle projected accords. We 
nominate Sokolow, Eder, Menasche, Kalvarisky as our 
delegates on the joint committee to continue to negotiate 
and establish the text of an accord. If our presence 
necessary, will come. If not, will sign accord in Geneva. 
This latter course will be preferable. Try to precise more 
clearly Palestine question.* 

The Arab delegation took note of this communication and 
manifested its desire to see the joint committee constituted 
and commence work as early as possible. However, they drew 
the attention of the Jewish representatives to the fact that the 
presence of Mr Sokolow in America and the presence of two 
other members in Palestine did not seem to permit com-
mencement of the work of the joint committee with as much 
speed as they had wished to proceed in the general interest. 
They asked that, if it was impossible for the four members 
nominated by Dr Weizmann to arrive within a very short 
time, other delegates be nominated in their place to proceed 
with the work as quickly as possible. 

*The wording of this telegram seems to have been embellished by 
the Zionist delegates. The two recorded telegrams from Weizmann 
authorizing Erler to pursue the negotiations read: ( 1) "Yours Cairo. 
Fully agree; wire further progress .... " (21 March) and (2) "Agree 
proceed fully informing High Commissioner. Treaty must empha-
size our priority Palestine. Form mixed committee. Suggest Erler, 
Kalvarisky, Menasce, Sokolow. Could final signature fbel arranged 
Rome, or [is] my coming necessary?" (30 March). SeeLCWix, 75. 
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The Jewish delegates took note of this suggestion and said 
they wished to have the following points elucidated:-

1) whether the Arab delegates were in a position to produce 
documents certifying as to their authority, 

2) whether the organization which delegated them was 
favourable to His Majesty Faisal, King of Mesopotamia, as 
well as to His Majesty Husain I, King of the Hejaz, 

3) whether the Arab delegates were not of the opinion that 
it would be advantageous to have one or two Palestinian 
members join in the negotiations, seeing that the latter will, 
in any case, be the most directly affected [les principaux 
interesses] by all questions pertaining to that country, 

4) whether the Arab organizations had among their memb-
ers representatives of the Christian Arab community, 

5) whether the Arab delegates were not in full accord with 
the Jews as to a policy offriendship towards the Great Powers, 
it being understood that this friendship was not to be of a 
nature to hinder in any way the final object to which both 
parties look forward. 

The Arab delegates replied:-
As to the FIRST POINT, when we decided in principle 

upon mutual collaboration we had no desire to ask the Jews 
to give any guarantee, but wished, on the contrary, to offer 
them one. With regard to the authority of our organization, 
this could not be better proved than by facts and tangible 
proofs. 

In addition to the document attesting to our authority, 
which we shall produce to the Jewish delegates on their 
producing their own credentials, we propose to annex to the 
treaty of accord a clause providing that, in the event of our 
not being able to prove our authority for the execution of 
decisions which will be taken by the joint committee, such 
accords shall be deemed to be null and void. 

As to the SECOND POINT, Their Majesties Faisal and Husain 
are two soldiers in the Arab cause. Like all the sons of Arabia, 
they work in harmony with the Arab organizations. In case of 
necessity we shall be able to obtain documents from 
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Their Majesties attesting to this truth and/ or get Their 
Majesties to make a verbal declaration to the Zionist dele-
gates, thereby proving their complete approbation of our 
policy in this matter. 

As to the THIRD POINT, no one can influence our decisions 
concerning the constitution of the members of our Executive. 
Nevertheless, we shall be able, if necessary, to put the Jews in 
touch with such Palestinian personalities as they may desire 
to confer with. 

As to the FOURTH POINT, the Arab organizations do not 
desire that there should be any difference between Christian 
and Moslem Arabs. All are considered equal and brothers, 
but if the Jews so desire, we shall be able to demonstrate to 
them that the Christian element is widely represented in our 
organization. 

As to the FIFTH POINT, we desire to bring to mind the 
minutes of our two preceding meetings when it was categori-
cally stipulated on our side that we desired under no 
circumstances to manifest any hostility against any of the 
Allies. We wish to add that we count upon the friendship of 
the Allies, who themselves desire the realization of our 
national aspirations. 

The jewish delegates rendered homage to the precision and 
the frankness of this declaration. 

In view of the fact that the jewish special envoy who went 
to Italy [S. van Vriesland] to convey the documents relative to 
this question to Dr Weizmann was due to arrive the following 
morning at Alexandria, the meeting was adjourned to the 
next day without fixing the hour, so as to allow the Jewish 
delegates to acquaint themselves with the instructions sent to 
them by Dr Weizmann. 

* 
Source: CO 733/343, file 75550/9/A32. Text follows A. Saphir's 

translation, with modifications in accordance with the 
original French text. 
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Document 23 · 

Minutes of Fourth Meeting, Cairo, 4April1922 

The meeting opened on the 4th of April, 1922, at 11:00 a.m. 
in the presence of the envoy who carried Dr Weizmann's 
instructions. 

The protocol of the preceding meeting having been read 
and certain corrections having been made in the text, the 
special envoy conveyed Dr W eizmann's anxiety to see the 
Joint Committee constituted and commencing its work as 
early as possible. This desire was confirmed by the suggestion 
of the Arab delegates as noted in the protocol of the preceding 
meeting, and was accepted with satisfaction. 

It was therefore decided that the Joint Committee should 
meet at the end of next week. Meanwhile, the Jewish 
delegates who were to have returned to Palestine on the same 
day would prepare their own draft agreement as a basis of the 
accord. The Arabs for their part would draw up their own 
proposals. 

The envoy added that Dr W eizmann was delighted to learn 
of the result of the Jewish-Arab negotiations and would be 
very happy to see them reach a complete accord. It had 
always been his desire to reach an understanding with the 
Arabs. His duties presently kept him in Rome, but as soon as 
he was free he would come to Cairo to take part in the 
negotiations and, if unavoidably prevented, he would be 
happy to meet the members of the Executive somewhere in 
Europe in order to countersign the agreement. Nothing could 
prove better his desire to collaborate with the Arabs than his 
negotiations with Faisal when His Majesty was in London. 

The President of the Arab Executive [Rashid Rida] 
replied by thanking Dr Weizmann and declaring that he had 
no doubt of the sincerity of his desire to collaborate with the 
Arabs. They were aware of his negotiations with His Majesty 
King Faisal. The road to accord and collaboration was today 
opened. We must proceed with frankness and confidence. 

There were some Moslem and Christian Arabs who 
claimed that the Jewish reign was condemned never again to 
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see the light of day. We believe and wish to the contrary. So 
far as I am personally concerned, I have given expression to 
that wish through my commentaries on the Koran. 

The Jewish delegates asked for a copy of that part of the 
commentaries in which reference was made to them and were 
given the assurance that they would be provided with such a 
copy as soon as possible. 

At the end of the meeting the Arab delegates expressed 
their desire that the Jewish delegates who had hitherto 
conducted the negotiations with them and who, thanks to 
their tact and sincerity, had won all their sympathy, might be 
asked not to withdraw from the negotiations, and might 
continue to lend their valuable support and put their 
knowledge of men and affairs at the disposal of the Joint 
Committee until such time as an agreement had been 
reached. 

* 
Source: See source of preceding document. The minutes of all four 

meetings were taken by Emile Khouri. No draft proposals 
for the text of an agreement were found in Zionist files. 

Document 24 

General Lines of Preliminary Propositions of an 
Understanding between Arabs andjews, 7-BSeptember 1922 

As a result of the two conversations which took place on 
Thursday and Friday, 7th and 8th September, 1922, between 
the Syro-Palestine Delegation on the one hand and Mr A. 
Saphir on the other, the following succinct summary was 
drawn up in common accord. 

The conversations are to constitute in principle the basis 
and the general lines of a Draft Agreement between Arabs 
andJ ews. The said conversations resulted in the following:-

1) Arabs and Jews consider themselves mutually as a force 
which must be taken into consideration. These forces have 
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the possibility of siding with one another in an effective way 
with a view to realizing their aspirations. By working together 
rather than apart or one against the other, they could achieve 
very satisfactory results for both parties. 

2) To facilitate the negotiations of detail to reach this 
understanding, and to avoid dissatisfaction, it would be 
convenient that the Jewish organization which would nego-
tiate that accord should not use as an argument, in the course 
of negotiations, either the Balfour Declaration of the 2nd 
November, 1917, or the terms of the Mandate as approved by 
the Council of the League of Nations. During these negotia-
tions, the Arabs would also refrain from using as an argument 
the Treaty between Great Britain and the Hejaz of 1915. 

3) The two parties shall discuss the conditions of an accord 
basing themselves on the reciprocal aid of united collabora-
tion for the welfare of all the Arab countries, Syria, Mesopota-
mia, as well as Palestine. 

4) Arabs and Jews shall devise the modus of a declaration to 
be made concerning the particular links of the Jews with 
Palestine. Such declaration shall be drawn up in a form 
which, while making clear the attachments of the Jews to 
Palestine, shall equally establish the rights of the Arab 
inhabitants of the country and shall be based on the complete 
equality of all the inhabitants without any distinction of race 
and religion. 

5) The Jews, for their part, shall help the Arabs of the said 
countries, economically and politically and by such other 
means in their power as will be deemed useful to employ, to 
obtain by legal and constitutional means the realization of 
the final aspirations of these countries. 

6) The two parties shall find a common ground of under-
standing which will unite them in the mutual cause of the 
union of the two peoples, Arabs and Jews, who belong to one 
race and speak nearly the same language and who both carry 
the banners of the same civilization, viz., the civilization of 
the East. The goal of the two parties must be to restore to its 
ancient splendour that Semitic and Oriental civilization which 
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has given everything to the world in the interest of that same 
civilization, for the specific happiness of these countries which 
have been abandoned, neglected and ruined during so many 
centuries. The two parties shall employ all possible and 
conceivable means to avoid dissatisfaction and dissensions in 
the course of the negotiations, and to arrive once and for all 
at a definite and cordial accord between the two peoples, the 
interests of whom-common as well as individual-moral as 
well as material-are so closely bound. 

7) The two parties shall use all the means at their disposal 
to find a way to regulate and limit the question of immigra-
tion into Palestine or into any other neighbouring Arab 
country in a manner that will satisfy the two parties 
concerned. 

8) In order to achieve this end and to facilitate the 
negotiations and the enforcement of the agreement, it is 
proposed to take immediately into consideration:-

a) a truce as regards the cessation of anti-Jewish agitation 
in Palestine must immediately be proclaimed. The 
intrigues and political antagonism and the machinations 
of one side against the other, Arabs and Jews in different 
countries outside Palestine, must cease; 

b) There shall be constituted forthwith a Joint Committee 
consisting of representatives of the delegation or of the 
Syro-Palestine Congress as well as authoritative represen-
tatives of Palestine (Moslems and Christians) on the one 
hand, and of representatives of the Zionist Organization 
which may, if it deems necessary, co-opt other influen-
tial personalities in the Jewish world, on the other side. 
This Joint Committee shall work out all the details of a 
Draft Agreement on the basis of the principles enunciat-
ed above; 

c) When the text of the Draft Agreement has been definite-
ly settled in all its details and accepted by both parties, a 
new Joint Committee representing the two parties shall 
be constituted and shall be responsible for the enforce-
ment of that Agreement. When agreement has been 
reached, the form and the constitution of this Joint 
Committee, to be known as the Executive Committee, 
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mittee, shall be prescribed in detail by the Joint 
Committee charged with the preparation of the Draft 
Agreement referred to above; 

d) It is well understood and agreed that in order to make it 
possible for the Delegations to reach a satisfactory conclu-
sion, all negotiations and conversations between the two 
parties shall be kept secret, except insofar as concerns the 
persons directly interested, until such time as the text of 
the Agreement has been definitely settled and accepted. 

* 
Source: CO 733/343, file 75550/9/ A32. The text follows Saphir's 

translation of the French original, with slight modifications 
in accordance with the French. 

Document 25 

Extract of Letter .from H. M. Kalvaryski 
to Dr Weizmann, Geneva, 21 September 19 2 2 

[Reports meeting with Shakib Arslan and others; discussions 
on points drawn up between Saphir and Arabs (Doc. 24 ). ] 
These preliminary propositions are the same, or nearly the 
same, as the ones we elaborated before Easter in Egypt, and 
they present the same disadvantages (paras. 3 and 5 ). But 
what is above all inadmissible is the "limitation of Jewish 
immigration", especially as these gentlemen understand it. 
The Amir Shakib told me clearly that by the limitation if 
immigration he means that we, on our side, commit ourselves to 
the assurance that the Arabs will always be a majority in 
Palestine, that immigration will be regulated in such a way 
that the Jewish population will not outnumber the Arab, and 
not even become equal to it. They want the Jews to remain 
forever as a minority. I told them that here was a point which 
was unacceptable. They also are insisting on our renouncing 
the article in the Mandate concerning the creation of a 
Jewish Agency. Without being quite sure that these two 
points are accepted by us, they don't want to undertake 
anything. What do you think? You know how much I desire a 
Jewish-Arab entente, but the sacrifices which we are being 
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asked in exchange for their intervention with the Palestinian 
delegation to make them stop their "intrigues" seem to me 
too great. I don't deny that the inte111ention of Shakib Arslan 
and Ihsan alJ abiri could have some effect towards pacifying 
spirits in Palestine, but can we renounce the most precious 
and most essential things in the Mandate? ... 

* 
Source: W A. My translation from the French. 

Document 26 

Extract of Letter from Palestine Zionist Executive 
[Col. F. H. K zsch] to the Secretary, Zionist Executive, London 

[L. Stein], 12 December 1922 

1) Arab Negotiations: Immediately upon arrival at Cairo, 
Dr Weizmann entered into negotiations with the Group of 
Arabs who will hereafter be referred to as the "Amour 
Group", with a view to reaching an understanding on the 
following basis:-

The Zionist Organisation to recognise and support the 
Arab desire for a confederation of Arab States comprising 
in the first instance Palestine, Irak, Transjordania and the 
Hejaz. 

The Arabs to allow the Zionist Organisation a free hand 
in Palestine and in its dealings with the British Government 
in regard to Palestine, with the ultimate aim in view that 
Palestine should become quantitatively and qualitatively 
Jewish. 

A number of interviews took place in Cairo with regard to 
the above proposition, in the course of which Dr Weizmann 
was asked whether it would be possible for him in regard to 
Arab aspirations outside Palestine to cooperate with the Arabs 
in political action directed against England and France. Dr 
Weizmann made it clear that such a course would be 
impossible, which declaration was understood and accepted. 
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Dr Weizmann explained, however, that he would, in the 
event of a complete understanding being arrived at, be able 
to assist the Arabs materially in their political negotiations 
with England and France. 

The negotiations have been continued in Palestine and 
have reached a stage which justifies the hope that definite 
cooperation with the Arabs in question, on the above lines, is 
assured. 

To make such cooperation effective as regards our own 
interests, it is necessary to do everything possible to strength-
en the position of the Representatives of the Amour Group in 
Palestine. This needs money which is at present not available, 
but without any assistance from us the Amour Group has 
already made considerable progress in the country within the 
last few months. Four members of the Group have been 
elected as Palestinian Representatives at the forthcoming 
Arab Congress to be convened the 15th of this month at 
Cairo, and the leaders of the Group hope to be able to 
command a preponderant voting power at the Congress. The 
Congress will sit about ten days and Dr Weizmann will be 
present at Cairo during the later sessions, the results of which 
will be communicated to you in due course. 

* 
Source: CZA, Z4/4113. 

Document 27 

F. H. Kisch, Note rif Conversation with 
Musa Kazim al-Husainz~ 23 October 1923 

The conversation took place at the residence of Dr Helen 
Kagan. Mahmud Effendi Husseini acted as interpreter. It 
should be mentioned that this if the first occasion on which I 
have met Musa Kazim, who has in the past declined the 
attempts of friends to arrange a meeting, while I would not 
risk a rebuff by calling on him or inviting him to see me. 
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I brought the conversation to the question of Palestine by 
venturing the remark, after a medical discussion, that when a 
patient is sick it is necessary for all the doctors who are 
treating him for different ailments should consult together. 
M usa Kazim replied that when a patient has been reduced to 
his death agonies, the doctors should leave him alone. I 
disputed of course his appreciation of the state of the patient 
in question. Subsequently the conversation was developed in 
more direct terms and Musa Kazim stated that our 
programme and his (which he claimed to be representative of 
the views of the country) were so widely different that 
consultation would be useless. He stated that the Government 
was aware of the two programmes, and it was for the 
Government to decide between one or the other. 

He asked on what our claims to Palestine were based. I 
gave him the reasons on which our claims to return to Palestine 
were based. I explained to him the spirit in which our people 
return to Palestine, how it is the desire to give to the country 
all we can and to take nothing from it. He replied we had 
given nothing, that we had taken the bread out of the mouths 
of the Arabs. I asked him to explain and he only referred to 
the employment of Jewish workmen on the roads whereas 
Arab workmen should have been employed. I told him that in 
the first place only a small proportion of Jewish workmen 
were employed by the Government, while the Government 
paid for the roads out of taxes collected from both communi-
ties. I emphasized that the roads were used by the whole 
population, and that whoever built roads in a country, the 
opening up of the country invariably tended to increase 
general economic activities and prosperity. 

In connection with my views on the historical biblical 
argument as constituting one factor in the basis of Jewish 
claims in Palestine, Musa Kazim stated that if God had 
placed the children of Israel in Palestine, He had also driven 
them out and given the country to the children of Ishmael. I 
pointed out that if He had driven them out, He had also 
promised that they should return, and that the statement that 
He had given the country to the children of Ishmael was not 
in accordance with the Scriptures. 

Musa Kazim asked what money we had brought to the 
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country. I told him that in the last four years some eight 
million pounds of Jewish money had been spent in Palestine, 
of which he feared the greater proportion was by now 
undoubtedly in Arab hands. If large sums had been taken out 
of the country it was mainly by absentee Arab landlords, but 
in any case Jewish activities had tended vastly to enrich the 
Arab population. I also said that I was surprised at [sic] M usa 
Kazim, who is a Moslem, should measure sacrifice by gifts of 
money. 

However it was on the subject of money that the conversa-
tion finished with M usa Kazim stating that the money had 
mostly gone into the pockets of certain Zionist leaders. To this 
I replied with some violence stating that I refused to continue 
the conversation with him if he intended to use such 
arguments which he knew perfectly well to be false. I told 
him that such arguments were unworthy of a man who claims 
to speak on behalf of the Arabs of Palestine. He did not 
withdraw his remark, but stated that he had merely quoted 
from some newspaper which he had seen and that he 
supposed it was true. 

Note: In this conversation Musa Kazim showed what the 
Americans call "a one-track mind" and I would add, a mind 
of a very narrow track, also much pettiness: somewhat the 
temperament of Poincare without any of his ability. I do not 
think that any further discussions are likely to arise from this 
conversation, or that discussion with such a man can produce 
any useful result. 

Before leaving the room Musa Kazim asked that the 
conversation should be treated as absolutely secret and that 
this secrecy should be maintained even as regards the fact 
that he had met me privately. He is evidently afraid of his 
entourage. 

[Extract from cover letter to Dr Weizmann, 24 October 
1923:] 
I have nothing to add to what I have recorded in the note, 
except that Musa Kazim gave the impression of a man who 
feels that he is slipping from power and that I think it was 
this feeling that prompted him to see what would transpire at 
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a conversation with me. The conversation once launched 
however, his temperament took control with the result that 
the discussion never showed any signs of producing any useful 
results. 

* 
Source: CZA, Z4/16050. 

Document 28 

Dr Weizmann's Report of Two Meetings 
with King Faisal, 6 October 1925 

Conversations with Faisal (strictly confidential) 
I have had two conversations with Faisal, lasting altogether 

6 to 7 hours. The subject of these conversations was as follows: 
Faisal said to me: You would be astonished if I told you 

how many Arabs from Palestine have come to me with the 
wish that I mediate between Zionism and the Arabs. 

I replied to Faisal that we do not know who really 
represents the Arabs in Palestine, and asked him to tell me on 
what basis, in his opinion, we could come to an agreement 
with the Arabs. 

Faisal replied that at present the Arabs were much more 
capable of negotiating than they had been three years ago. 
The sole fear of the Arabs is that they will be dominated by a 
Jewish majority. He gave as an example the speeches that 
were made at [the Zionist] Congress, which made the Arabs 
extremely uneasy, and demanded a limitation on immigra-
tion. 

I replied that, as far as we were concerned, this condition 
was not negotiable. I then explained to him quite frankly that 
we desired a Jewish majority in the country, but that we were 
at the same time ready to guarantee that such a Jewish 
majority would not oppress the Arabs. This was the platform 
on which we could negotiate. I asked Faisal not to answer Yes 
or No right away, but to think it over. 

Whereupon we had a further conversation with Faisal, who 
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declared that I should come to Palestine; he would then 
announce the platform on which we could negotiate. 

Faisal asked why Jewish capital was not coming to 
Baghdad as well [as Palestine]. I answered that the reason for 
this was that the Jews always feared difficulties from the 
Arabs. Faisal then declared that the Jews who came to 
Baghdad would be under his personal protection. 

* 
Source: ZAC minutes, 21 October 1925, CZA, Z4/271/3. Transla-

tion from the German by Dr T. H. Zeiber. My division into 
paragraphs differs from the original. 

Document 29 

Letter from H. St. john Phi/by to Lord Passfield 
[Colonial Secretary 1 Damascus, 

21 October 1929 

I arrived here two days ago and have been in close touch 
with certain leaders of the Nationalist Party, whose attention 
is at present focussed on developments in Palestine. I think 
therefore that it may interest you to have a private apprecia-
tion of the situation and I am taking advantage of your kind 
permission to write to you. 

As you will doubtless have heard from official sources the 
Nationalists here had arranged a monster demonstration for 
yesterday in protest against the latest regulations issued by 
the H.C. in respect of the Wailing Wall. The French 
disallowed the projected processions to the various Consulates 
and the demonstration was confined to a meeting in the great 
mosque, a minor procession which was broken up by the 
police, and an almost complete closing of all shops. There was 
no disturbance, but in the evening there was an important 
private meeting of the leaders of the Nationalists to discuss 
the policy to be pursued in view of the Arab congress arranged 
for the 27th. This meeting was attended by delegates from the 
Palestine Supreme Moslem Committee and may therefore be 
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considered representative of all important elements. 
Before these occurrences I had met some of the leaders and 

had impressed on them firstly the necessity of conducting 
their case peacefully and constitutionally and, secondly, 
the inadvisability in their own interests of making dem-
ands which the British Govt could not possibly consider. I put 
it to them that the British Govt was perfectly sympathetic 
towards the Arabs and suggested that their best policy now 
would be to frame their demands with due regard to the 
other commitments of H.M.G. Their demands should repre-
sent a sine qua non minimum and not a mere bargaining 
position; and I assured them that, if their demands were 
practical and reasonable, H.M.G. would never refuse to 
discuss them. 

This morning a small deputation of leaders, including the 
chief delegate from the Palestine Committee, came to see me 
as the result of their discussions of last night. They explained 
to me that the coming Congress at Jerusalem could scarcely 
do otherwise than adopt. certain resolutions of an extremist 
character if only as a sop to the multitude; and it would 
probably demand the abrogation of the Balfour Declaration, 
the abolition of the Zionist Agency and the modification of 
the Mandate, etc. They assured me however that such 
demands need not be taken too seriously if the British Govt is 
prepared to discuss a reasonable settlement in the future 
interests of general peace and prosperity. 

They then handed me a written draft of what they consider 
a reasonable settlement might be. They had considered it 
very carefully and had excluded everything possible in their 
desire for a swift and permanent settlement. I cannot do 
better therefore than give you a literal translation of the 
document and I think you will agree that it provides a basis 
for serious consideration and it certainly represents the 
opinion of the best elements among the Arab leaders. An offer 
by the British Govt to discuss a settlement on this basis can 
safely be guaranteed a favourable reception. The document 
runs as follows (it must not of course be treated as an official 
proposal by the Arab leaders):-

(1) Palestine to be ruled by a constitutional, republican 
Govt. 
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(2) Legislative power shall vest in a representative assem-
bly elected by direct or indirect voting and comprising Arabs 
and Jews in proportion to their numbers residing m the 
country, excluding absentees both from reckoning in the 
population and from the right of voting. 

(3) The executive administration shall vest in a Govt 
responsible to the representative assembly and comprising 
Jews and Arabs in proportion as above. 

(4) The British High Commissioner shall watch all acts of 
the Legislature and Executive, and shall have a right of veto 
in respect of any decision inconsistent with the undertakings 
assumed by the British Govt in the Mandate for Palestine 
relating to the rights of minorities and of foreigners and 
contrary to the interests of the country. 

(5) The High Commissioner shall have the right to 
maintain a staff of officials to assist him in the carrying out of 
his mandatory duties and functions. 

(6) The immigration of foreigners (particularly Arabs and 
Jews) shall not be forbidden, though the Palestine Govt may 
limit the numbers of immigrants to the capacity of the 
country to absorb them in agriculture and industry. 

(7) There shall be no objection to the continuance of the 
Zionist Agency acting in an advisory capacity to the Palestine 
Government in matters affecting the interests of the Jews; 
and the Arabs shall have the right to set up a similar agency 
to protect the rights of the Arabs. 

(8) The High Commissioner shall remain responsible for 
the administration of public security until the national Govt 
becomes fit to assume that responsibility; and he may transfer 
such responsibility to the national government in instalments 
from time to time at his discretion. 

(9) The organic law shall be subject to revision and 
modification once every five years. 

Such is the document. I hope it may help you in the 
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problem which confronts you, and you may be sure of Arab 
goodwill towards any proposal on such lines. 

* 
Source: PRO, CO 733/175, file 67411. 

Document 30 

Draft rif Points Presented to Phi/by by Arabs at Damascus, 
21 October 1929 

[See photocopy between pp. 110 and 111] 

1. Palestine to be ruled by a republican, constitutional 
government. 

2. An elected representative assembly, composed of Arabs 
and Jews in proportion to the numbers of Palestinian 
residents, will enact legislation and will approve the constitu-
tion. 

3. A national government, responsible to the representative 
assembly and composed of Palestinian Arabs and Jews, shall 
exercise executive power. 

4. The High Commissioner has the right to veto any 
regulation or law which conflicts with Britain's international 
obligations concerning the rights of minorities and foreigners 
and religious and civil matters. In case of disagreement, the 
whole matter will be submitted to the League of Nations. 

5. The High Commissioner has the right to hire assistants to 
help him in his functions. 

6. Foreigners, especially Arabs and Jews, will not be forbid-
den to immigrate to Palestine. However, the Palestine govern-
ment has the right to limit the number which can be 
admitted annually and [to define) qualifications in accor-
dance with the social and economic possibilities of the 
country. 

7. There is no objection to the continuation of the Jewish 
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Agency as a consultative authority for the interests which 
affect the Jews. The other groups have the right to establish 
agencies equal to it in their rights. 

8. The High Commissioner will continue to be responsible 
for public security until the national government becomes 
capable of bearing responsibility for public security. The 
army will be under the control of the High Commissioner and 
its expenses will be [borne] by it. The police force will be 
under the control of the national government and its expenses 
will be [borne] by it. 

9. The Hejaz Railway running through Palestinian land 
will be handed over to the Islamic waqf administration of 
Palestine; however, it must find an equitable settlement for 
the existing equipment among the other areas. The [Supreme] 
Muslim Council agrees to amalgamate its administration. 

10. The national government pledges itself to freedom of 
religion. 

11. The national government is bound by the public debts, 
expenses and agreements signed between the Palestine 
government and the neighbouring countries. 

12. These articles shall be revised once every five years. 

* 
Source: Undated, untitled list of points in MEC/P, XI 1. My 

translation from the Arabic and conjectural identification 
of the origin and date of the document. 

Document 31 

Basis if an Arab-Jewish Understanding in Palestine 
[Magnes proposals1 October 1929 

(1) Palestine is a land where both Arabs and Jews live of 
right and not of sufferance. 

(2) Palestine is to be recognised as an independent govern-
ment as in Transjordan. The government of Palestine is to be 
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democratic and representative. The British High Commis-
sioner occupies the position of head of the State in a manner 
similar to the Governors General of the Dominions. He 
appoints and dismisses the Cabinet of Ministers who are 
responsible to the Legislative Assembly. The Cabinet includes 
Ministers for Agriculture, Education, Health, Commerce and 
Industry, Transport, Finance, Justice, Interior, and for Jewish 
Affairs. The last named is to cooperate with the Jewish 
Agency and to represent the interests of the Jewish National 
Home in the Cabinet. 

(3) Before Palestine's independence is to be declared, a 
treaty is to be made with Great Britain and a constitution is to 
be worked out. Both are to be ratified by the Palestine 
Legislative Assembly by a three quarter majority and by the 
League of Nations. The constitution can be amended only 
through a vote of three quarter of the Assembly and with the 
concurrence of Great Britain and the Council of the League of 
Nations. 

( 4) The Assembly is to be elected by secret and equal vote of 
the citizens of Palestine over 20 years of age. All questions of 
the law of election are to be decided by a special commission. 
Palestine citizens above the age of 30 who can read and write 
can be voted for. One representative is to be chosen for each 
15,000 of the settled population. A suitable representation of 
minorities is to be guaranteed in the electoral law as it is in 
the law ofTransjordan. The High Commissioner is to appoint 
the representatives of the non-settled Beduin population 
according to their numbers. 

(5) In the British Palestine Treaty and in the Constitution it 
is to be laid down that free immigration to Palestine of Jews 
and Arabs is to be granted dependent upon the economic 
capacity of the country. The regulation of Immigration is to 
be in the hands of a commission composed of 4 Arab and 2 
Jewish members of the Assembly together with 3 non-
Palestinian immigration experts to be appointed by the 
League ofNations. 

(6) Every immigrant has the right after a residence of two 
years within the last three years to acquire Palestinian 
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citizenship. The granting of citizenship is not to be dependent 
upon the arbitrary decision of the authorities, but is a legal 
right of the applicant. In case of refusal he has a right of 
recourse to the courts and then to the High Commissioner. 

(7) The Arabic and Hebrew languages are the official 
languages of Palestine. Both languages have equal rights in 
the Assembly and in all Departments of the Central Govern-
ment. In the District and local administration both languages 
are to be used, if there be in the district or community a 
minority of at least ten per cent. Both languages are to be 
used by government bureaus, for transactions by public 
bodies and in the courts and as a language of legislation and 
of all public declaration. 

(8) The Arabic and Jewish people in Palestine are to have 
cultural autonomy which extends over the whole school 
system and cultural life. The school system of each people is 
administered by a national Education Board. The Ministry of 
Education having only the right of coordination and techni-
cal supervision. Local communal School Boards are to 
maintain the elementary schools, while secondary schools are 
to be maintained by the National Education Boards. The 
State makes the necessary financial grants in aid. The object 
of the school system is to give free compulsory education to all 
boys and girls between the ages of6 and 14. 

(9) Arabic and Jewish Palestinians are to be employed in all 
grades of the Government Service in proportion to their 
numbers in the population. Due regard being had to their 
qualifications. Non-Palestinians are to be employed on contract 
for only a given period and preference is to be given to British 
subjects. Every Minister and every District Administrator is to 
have a British Advisor who is to have a five years contract 
which can be renewed for periods of five years thereafter. 

(10) The conduct of foreign affairs, the representation of 
Palestinian interests abroad, public security within the 
country and at its frontiers are to be under the absolute and 
direct control of the British High Commissioner without the 
right of interference by the Legislative. 

(11) The British Palestine Treaty is to define the additional 
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rights of Great Britain. They concern among other things the 
exclusive control of the Airways, the control of transport by 
rail and road and their proper repair, the control of harbours, 
the control of financial policy and the granting of concessions. 
(12) All laws require the signature of the High Commis-
sioner before they become effective. This signature must be 
withheld if the law contravenes the letter or the spirit of the 
Constitution or the British Palestine Treaty. The Palestine 
Legislative has the right of appeal to the British Cabinet and 
from there to the League of Nations. 
(13) Similar to the Lebanon Palestine has no State religion. 
There is to be full religious freedom. All religions and all 
citizens have equal rights before the law and enjoy equal 
protection in all their legal transactions. 
(14) The sacred places of Christians, Mohammedans andjews 
in Palestine are to be extraterritorialized. They are to be 
exclusively under the High Commissioner who is to be responsi-
ble for their administration to the League of Nations with the 
aid of definite religious bodies created for this purpose. 

(15) The entrance ofPalestine into the League ofNations or 
its union with neighbouring States are to be determined by a 
3/4 vote of the Legislative with the consent of Great Britain 
and the League of Nations. In case of the Union the above 
mentioned constitutional principles will continue to remain 
in force as a constitution of the autonomous Palestinian 
Administration. 

* 
Source: PRO, CO 733/175, file 67411. 

Document 32 

Letter from H. St.john Philby to Lord Pass.field, 
Cairo, 1 November 1929, enclosing Final Draft 

Since writing you my letter of October 21st from Damascus 
I have had a busy and interesting time at Jerusalem where I 
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arrived on the 25th. It may be of interest to you if I give you 
the results of my sojourn there and I may say that I am the 
more encouraged to do so by the tenour ofMr Lunn's recent 
statement on your behalf in the House of Commons to the 
effect that you are contemplating the calling of a round table 
conference of Arabs and Jews for the purpose of working out 
an agreed settlement. That seems to me to be the only 
method which holds any promise of success, and it seems 
essential that as a preparation for such a conference both 
parties should be induced by their friends to shed the extreme 
features of their respective claims. It is at any rate on those 
lines I have tackled my Arab friends, and an accident has 
intervened which bids fair to make my sowing perhaps more 
fruitful than I could have dared to hope. 

On October 26th I spent the whole morning at the offices 
of the supreme Moslem Council in conversation with Haji 
A min al H usaini, the Grand Mufti of Jerusalem, and a 
number of his chief lieutenants. I spoke to them on the lines 
of the draft proposals I sent you from Damascus, and the 
result was very encouraging. I found them fully disposed to 
meet the British Government half way by whittling down 
their extreme public demands (which of course for the time 
being they dare not publicly withdraw) to a practicable 
minimum. And in effect I found them quite prepared to 
consider something on the lines of the Damascus draft. That 
was all to the good and, as Jamal Bey al H usaini was on the 
point of going to England to represent the Arab Executive 
there in case of need, I gave him a letter of introduction to 
you and other friends in England and impressed upon him 
and the Grand Mufti the urgent necessity of adopting a 
moderate and reasonable attitude in discussing matters in 
England. Furthermore the Damascus draft was discussed in 
detail and certain modifications proposed, which I would 
have sent to you had it not been for the accident above 
referred to. 

That same evening at my hotel I had the pleasure of 
making the acquaintance of the Near East correspondent of 
the New York Times, Mr Joseph Levy, and of discussing the 
Palestine situation with him. We found ourselves substantial-
ly in agreement as to the practical steps now necessary for the 
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permanent solution of the Palestine problem; and as a result 
of our talk he asked me to prepare a statement of my 
considered views for publication in his paper. To this I agreed 
and, as I was leaving next morning for Cairo, I sat down to 
the task at once and had completed my statement in the early 
hours of the morning. I handed it to him at 8 p.m. before 
leaving for the station, and the same evening I reached Cairo 
with no further thought of the matter and fully intending to 
leave for Jidda at the first opportunity. I merely assumed that 
my article would duly appear in the N. Y. Times in a day or 
two. 

Mr Levy however was apparently so impressed with the 
possibilities of my scheme for a settlement that, without my 
consent and indeed without consulting me in any way, he 
showed my article to Dr]. L. Magnes, the Principal of the 
Hebrew University; and he in turn showed it without 
disclosing its authorship to various friends of his among the 
leading Jews of Jerusalem. The result was apparently suffi-
ciently satisfactory to encourage Dr Magnes to take up the 
matter seriously; and on the night of the 28th I was called up 
on the telephone from Jerusalem by Mr Levy, who suggested 
that if possible I should at once return to Jerusalem for a 
discussion with Dr Magnes. To this I agreed, and I left Cairo 
the following day, arriving at Jerusalem on the 30th and 
leaving again the day after. 

The whole if [sic] the 30th I spent in vigorous discussion of 
a possible solution by agreement, partly with Dr Magnes and 
Mr Levy and partly with Haji Amin al Husaini and his 
friends. The result of discussion with Dr Magnes was a draft 
scheme; and this I later submitted to Haji Amin for consider-
ation and revision. The result is a final draft which I enclose 
herewith for your perusal in the conviction that an offer by 
the British Government on these or similar lines has a very 
good chance of acceptance by all concerned. I have no time at 
present to develop the matter further but am anxious that 
you should have our proposals without delay. I am leaving 
Cairo for Jidda in half an hour's time. 

Hoping that some practical result may ensue [ ... ] 

[Text of enclosed Final Draft (dated 31 October), with 
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insertions based on a comparison with the Arabic text done 
for Dr Magnes by Dr Goi tein, 20 March 1940:] 

( 1) Palestine shall henceforth be administered on a demo-
cratic constitutional republican basis. 

*(2) Immigration to Palestine shall be free, especially to 
Arabs and Jews, subject to due regard for the interests of the 
country and its economic capacity to absorb such immi-
grants.** 

(3) All legislative authority shall vest in a representative 
assembly elected by persons of Palestinian nationality resi-
dent in Palestine and comprising Arabs (Muslims and 
Christians) andJews [Ac. text: comprising Muslims, Christians 
andJews] in proportion to their numbers in the population. 

(4) Any person who has resided continuously for a period of 
not less than two years in Palestine is entitled to adopt 
Palestinian citizenship. 

(5) Executive authority shall vest in a Palestinian council of 
ministers comprising Arabs (Muslims and Christians) and 
Jews [A c. text: comprising Muslims, Christians and Jews] in 
the same proportions as above and responsible to the 
representative assembly for the administration of the country 
and adequate provision shall be made for the enlistment of 
Arabs and Jews [A c. text: Muslims, Christians and Jews] for 
both senior and junior grades of the administrative services 
with due regard to their numbers and qualifications. 

(6) The High Commissioner shall remain responsible for the 
public security of the country until such time as in the 
opinion of the League of Nations the Palestine Government 
[Ac. text: the National Government] shall be capable of 
discharging such responsibility; and the armed forces in the 
country shall be under his direct control provided that the 
Palestinian Government may raise police forces for the 
purposes of the local administration, and such forces shall be 
composed of Arabs and Jews [Ac. text: ofMuslims, Christians 
andJ ews] in proportion to their numbers and qualifications. 

(7) The High Commissioner, on behalf of the League of 
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Nations, shall have a right of veto over any executive or 
legislative act of the Palestinian Government or repesentative 
assembly [Ac. text: over any executive act of the National 
Government or legislation of the assembly of representatives] 
which is inconsistent with the proper exercise of its interna-
tional obligations of the British Government or detrimental to 
the rights of minorities and foreigners or injurious to the 
peace and prosperity [A c. text: progress] of the country; 
provided that the representative assembly or Government [A c. 
text: the Palestinian Government or the assembly of represen-
tatives] shall have a right of appeal to the Council of the 
League of Nations for the solution of any dispute. 

(8) The Jewish Agency shall continue to be recognised as a 
public body competent to advise and cooperate with [A c. text: 
to advise and assist] the Palestinian Government in all 
matters affecting the interests of the Jews in the country; and 
the Muslim and Christian communities shall have the right 
to set up similar agencies with similar status and functions. 

(9) The Palestinian Government shall assume full responsi-
bility for all debts and international treaties heretofore 
contracted. 

(10) These arrangements shall be subject to review and 
revision by the Council of the League of Nations at intervals 
of five years; and no basic alteration shall be made in them 
otherwise than by an unanimous vote of the Council of the 
League. 

* 
Sources: PRO, CO 7331175, file 67411; MEC/P, X/2; CZA, 

825/2993. 
Note:*An earlier draft, consisting of 12 points, had the following 

clause (no. 2) preceding clause 2, above:- "Throughout 
Palestine there shall be absolute freedom of religious belief and 
practice." 

** The earlier draft had the following clause (no. 4) following 
clause 2, above:- "Freedom of cultural expression shall be 
guaranteed to all inhabitants of Palestine, and Arabic and 
Hebrew shall be the official languages of the country." 
The clauses were dropped in deference to Arab wishes. See 
Philby to Passfield, 10 November 1929, MEC/P,X/2. 
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Document 33 

King Faisal's Suggestions for Solving the Palestine Problem, 
Baghdad, 8 December 1929 

I wish first of all to express my sincere thanks to His 
Majesty's Government for their having so kindly asked for 
any observations that I may have regarding Palestine, in view 
on the one hand of the strong friendly relations which bind 
me with His Majesty and His Government and people and 
the considerable interest which we hold in common, and on 
the other hand of the racial and religious traditions and 
relations which bind me with the Arabs of Palestine. 

4. It appears to me that any possible solution should be 
sought for in the actual pledges made, or more correctly in a 
definition of these pledges, the determination of the extent 
and limit of their application, and the manner and possibility 
of giving effect thereto. 

I believe that, but for the pledge made to the Zionists, there 
would have been no need for a discussion of the pledges given 
to the Arabs, because the latter are natives of the land and the 
Declaration of 1918 can bear no misconstruction or argu-
ment. In this question, there is no difference between the 
people of Palestine and those of Syria and 'Iraq where the 
Arabs are urging England and the Allies to give effect to that 
declaration which was the last pledge made to them, and 
reject any other action. 

As regards the Zionists, they claim that the Balfour Pledge 
makes Palestine a national home for them. While claiming 
this the Zionists declare, notwithstanding their being a 
minority, that the object of that (pledge) is the establishment 
of a purely Jewish Government in which nobody else shall 
participate. We find that they take no account of any other 
race even a race which possesses a crushing majority, and has 
been settled in the country for hundreds of years and holds 
the same sacred promises and pledges as they themselves 
claim to hold. 

In short, the Arabs deny that which the Jews possess and 
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the Jews deny that which the Arabs possess, and each party 
gives the widest interpretation possible to what it has 
received, and His Majesty's Government find themselves 
confronted with two conflicting claims. Extrication from this 
impasse can be effected only by reversion to the pledges 
responsible for the creation of this troubled situation and by 
interpreting it [sic] in such manner as will enable the 
determination of its [sic] scope and of the manner of giving 
effect to it [sic]. 

5. His Majesty's Government have on many occasions 
declared that by using the expression "National Home", they 
did not intend to expel the Arabs, at once or gradually, from 
their home and replace them by the Jews, with the object of 
establishing a purely Jewish Government in Palestine, but 
that they only intended to find a place of refuge for the Jews 
who were despised in the various countries of the world, in 
order that if any Jew wished to emigrate he might find for 
himself a place in which he could take shelter and reside. 

If the object of the Declaration, both in spirit and letter, be 
as indicated above, I can see no great obstacle to prevent an 
understanding. 

6. Assuming the case to be as above, what are the solutions 
that may occur to the mind for dealing with this new 
situation? 

In the first place, the Arabs should not call upon His 
Majesty's Government to cancel the Balfour Pledge, as this is 
not easy for His Majesty's Government to do. Similarly His 
Majesty's Government should not call upon the Arabs to 
recognise the Balfour Pledge, as this is likewise not easy for the 
Arabs to do. The Arabs believe that such recognition will 
doom their future to destruction. 

Therefore, Britain should give the Jews plainly to under-
stand that they should not claim more than is contained in 
the British declaration together with the interpretation to be 
appended to that declaration; and the Jews should accept this 
whether they are satisfied or not. 

7. I may now set forth the solutions which occur to my 
mind. They are three in number, viz:-
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First. Syria, Palestine and 'Iraq to be unified and made a 
national home for the Semitic race, both Arab and Jew, with 
due regard, from the international political point of view, to 
the Sykes-Picot Agreement, as far as circumstances will 
permit. 

I admit that this solution is very far reaching and 
complicated (or difficult) but it is based on a lofty principle 
which may prove very beneficial for humanity if minds and 
efforts, coupled with good intention, cooperate in preparing 
the way for it and in its realisation. 

Second. Transjordan and Palestine to be unified and a treaty 
concluded on the basis mentioned in the third solution. This 
is less difficult than the first. 

Third. A National Government to be set up within the 
present boundaries of Palestine. This I think is the nearest 
approach to an ideal solution and the most easy of accom-
plishment. It should not prove difficult to bring about an 
understanding in this wax; provided that an Anglo-Palestine 
Treaty is concluded on the following lines: 

(a) A national government to be set up in accordance with 
the wishes of the inhabitants. 

(b) Both parties to be silent as regards the Balfour Pledge. 
(c) Immigration to be restricted and a maximum fixed 

thereto subject to the extent to which economic condi-
tions may permit. 

(d) The nationality of immigrants not to be stated. Acquisi-
tion of Palestinian nationality and the enjoyment of 
"public rights" to be made conditional on residence for a 
period of one or two years as necessary. 

(e) Following naturalization an immigrant should sever rela-
tions with the country from which he has emigrated. 

(f) The Holy Places of the various religions to remain under 
the control of the representative of His Majesty's Govern-
ment. 

(g) Certain reservations (or safeguards) to be provided for on 
the lines of those contained in the Anglo-'lraq Treaty. 

8. The foregoing is a summary of my views regarding future 
policy in Palestine. As regards the remedying of the present 
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situation arising from the Wailing Wall question, I consider it 
advisable that His Majesty's Government should create an 
opportunity for directly interested Moslem nations, especially 
the Arabs, to send representative to give their opinions on the 
solution of this question. In any case, I myself would not fail 
to render any service for the purpose of facilitating what has 
been mentioned above, should His Majesty's Government 
find that agreeable. 

* 
Source: Letter to Acting High Commissioner for Iraq, PRO, FO 

371114485, file E444/44/65. 

Document 34 

H. M. Kalvaryski, Note of Secret Accord Proposed by 
Omar Salih al-Barghuthi, 25 February 1930 

Omar Salih, who was formerly one of the leaders of the 
National Party (al-Hizb al-Watani), who fought the Supreme 
Muslim Council, and who has been called upon to play an 
important role in the new Arab party (that of the youth) now 
being organized, has made me the following proposition: 

That a secret accord be concluded between himself and us, 
according to which: 

1.) he and his party will fight the Mufti tooth and nail, until 
he is overthrown; 

2.) he will wage, with his group, an energetic campaign 
inside the Arab Executive and in the press against the [Arab] 
boycott and against all forms and acts of violence against the 
Jewish population; 

3.) if his party predominates over the others, he will come 
out in favour of a regime similar to the Swiss one; in other 
words, recognition of the existence of two equal nations in the 
country; 
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4.) he would accept a reasonable (moderate) [level of] 
Jewish immigration; 

5.) he would not object to land purchases by Jews, so long as 
the fellahin did not suffer; 

6.) he would ask for (Palestinian) Home Rule, [but] would 
agree that the policy of the Mandate should be beyond the 
competence of the local administration; 

7 .) we would commit ourselves to support his party finan-
cially and morally, whenever necessary. (Financial aid would 
consist of a single payment of £1000. and a monthly subsidy 
of£100.) 

Note: Bulos Shihadeh, who was present during the interview, 
agrees with Omar Salih on this proposal. 

* 
Source: CZA, 825/3466. My translation from the French. 

Document 35 

Proposals Submitted to the Colonial Office 
by Pinhas RutenbergJ May 1930 

1. Complete separation of religious functions from the 
economic and political functions of any institution, Govern-
ment official or public servant. 

2. (a) Separate Jewish and Arab democratically elected 
national institutions to deal each with their [sic] own 
business under Government guidance and control. 
(b) For matters concerning both Jews and Arabs-a 
Joint Advisory Committee consisting of two Jews and two 
Arabs under the Chairmanship of the Chief Secretary. In 
case of disagreement the High Commissioner to decide. 
Right of Appeal to the Secretary of State to be given to 
both the Jewish and Arab institutions. 
*(c) The matters of competence of the two national 
institutions to be: 
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1. Labour 
2. Agricultural Credit 
3. Education 
4. Health 
5. Social Welfare 
6. Supervision of 
religious institutions 

7. All other matters which 
the High Commissioner will 
deem necessary and advisable 
8. Right of taxation for the 
carrying out of the 
above purposes.* 

3. Immigration only to the extent of the economic absorp-
tive capacity of the country. Decision by the High Commis-
sioner only. 

4. Land (agricultural): No Deed of Sale to be executed 
without authorization of the Government previously satisfied 
that tenants or owners (if Fellahin) adequately provided for, 
either by land, money or otherwise. 

5. The Palestine Administration to be reorganized on the 
principle of the personnel to be in sympathy with the Jewish 
National Home Policy, in particular:-

(a) A new Chief Secretary 
(b) A new Chief of Police ... 
(c) Censorship of Press with severe punishment of any 

attempt at incitement of racial and religious strife 
(d) Thorough and immediate clean sweep of Commun-

ists, both Jews and Arabs 
(e) Assist Arabs in their required development of Trans-

jordan with a loan (one million pounds) on reasona-
ble terms to be agreed. 

6. Credit arrangement (£50,000) under Arab-Jewish Man-
agement for repayment of felahin [sic] debts to money-
lenders, in sums up to £50, at the current rate of interest. 
When experiment successful, the Government to take over 
control, increasing the capital if necessary. 

7. Getting individual Arabs interested in existing Jewish 
undertakings. 

*8. H.M.G. to convey to the Arab Delegation and the Jewish 
representatives their policy as above, dealing only with the 
following points:-

(Para. 2. Constitutional questions) 
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(Para. 4. Land) 
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From Para. 5 only the sub-clauses (c) and (d) i.e. censorship 
of press and ridding the country of Communists.* 

*9. The proposed scheme concerns only the affairs of the 
Jews and Arabs in Palestine, and cannot affect in any way the 
rights and functions of the Jewish Agency under the Man-
date.* 

10. The Prime Minister to make a public statement 
confirming the Jewish National Home Policy, announcing 
the measures to be taken and expressing appreciation of the 
Jewish achievement in Palestine (this to counter-balance the 
depressing effect of the Shaw Report on Jewish public 
opinion). 

* 
Source: Initialled draft, dated 26 May 1930, sent to Dr J. L. 

Magnes, CAHJP, P3/2426. 
Note:- Earlier drafts (12? May, PRO, CO 7331192, file 77255, and 
21 May, CZA,jl/22) do not contain the sections marked*---*. 
Clause 2(c) in these drafts read as follows: "The Chief Secretary to 
have one assistant for Jewish affairs and one for Arab affairs." See 
also:_ Passfield to Chancellor, tgm. 151, 31 May 1930, PRO, CO 
733/183,]ile 77050/B. 

Document 36 

H. M. Kalvaryski, Plaiform for judaeo-A rab Accord, 
4 August 1930 

[The Platform begins with a lengthy historical survey of the 
origins and encounters of the "Semitic tribes and races"] 

I therefore propose a general Judaeo-Arab Covenant on the 
following foundations: 

1) The two Semitic races, Jews and Arabs, undertake to 
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help one another in all spheres of human endeavour, econo-
mic, social and cui tural. 

2) The Arabs welcome their Jewish brethren returning to 
the East, their ancient Homeland, and throw open the gates 
of their extensive territories to Jewish immigration. 

3) In consideration of this Jews will do their utmost in 
giving their resources, energy and experience towards the 
development of the Semitic East, and towards its progress to a 
great future. 

4) In all the Oriental lands where Jews will reside, they will 
have the same rights accorded to national minorities in the 
more advanced European [countries], e.g. Czechoslovakia, 
etc. 

5) In view of its past and its association to the two Semitic 
peoples and to the three faiths, Palestine will form an 
autonomous unit with a special Constitution. That Constitu-
tion will postulate the formation of Palestine into a uni-racial 
but not uni-national Territory, which will belong not to one 
or another of the Semitic races, but to both of them jointly 
and equally irrespective of which of them forms the majority 
and which forms the minority at any given time. 

6) Within the boundaries of this Territory the Hebrew 
language shall have equal rights with the Arab[ic] language. 
Jewish culture and Arab culture shall develop side by side in 
perfect and undisturbed harmony. 

7) The Jews shall declare that they have no intention of 
dominating anyone in Palestine nor of hampering the deve-
lopment of Palestinians other than Jews, but they will desire 
that no one shall dominate them or hamper their own 
development. 

8) The Jews shall undertake not to dispossess their Arab 
Fellah nor prejudice the rights of the Arab workman. So far 
from their entertaining any such intentions, the[re] will be a 
great cultural effort, [an] endeavour to improve the deplor-
able conditions of the Fellah and [they] will offer the Arab 
workman employment where he has had none before. So far, 
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the country at large and the Arabs in particular have 
benefitted directly or indirectly from Jewish Immigration. In 
future, Jewish organisations will have to be established with a 
view to enhancing the indirect interests of the Arabs inJ ewish 
activity. 

9) The Jews undertake not to oppose [the] National aspira-
tions of the Arabs. Should a Federation of Arab States be 
formed in the Near East, Palestine could form part of this 
Federation because nothing will add more happiness to the 
Jew than the glory and regeneration of the Semitic race. 

The above are the main clauses of an Accord upon which the 
Judeo-Arab Covenant must be based. They form only a 
nucleus Covenant to which other clauses may be added but 
from which nothing may be deducted. 

The dangers to which the Arabs are allegedly exposed as a 
result of Jewish work is imaginary, not real. The penetration 
into Semitic countries in general and into Palestine in 
particular of a Semitic race will result in no danger to the 
Arabs. On the contrary, it will contribute to its vigour and 
add to its inherent strength. We Jews shall not thrust 
ourselves an alien growth upon the body politic of the Arabs, 
as many extreme nationalists believe, but we shall form a 
beautiful ring in the chain of the United Arab Confederation. 
The Arab Confederation does not alarm us. Therefore, the 
sooner the Covenant is signed between us, the better for all of 
us, for usJews as well as for you Arabs. 

The present fraternal strife now [ r]aging between us is 
ruinous to us as well as to you. Our heart goes out to the 
many innocent victims [who] fell last year on both sides. Will 
there be an abatement of this bloody strife? In my view the 
time is ripe for a truce to be declared, for a hand of peace to 
be extended by one side to the other. Some of the friends of 
the Arabs protest that the Jews stand in the way of Arab 
Constitutional development and prevent them from securing 
a Legislative Assembly, a handicap which is prejudicial to the 
interests of the people. To these protestations I shall counter 
by saying that time was when we Jews were anxious to have a 
Legislative Assembly and you the Arabs refused to have it for 
various reasons. Now the tables have been turned. Is it any 
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wonder? I think that in the present circumstances there is 
little wonder that the Jews have grown apprehensive. But I 
believe that even on this issue an agreement may be reached 
provided there is mutual understanding. I admit that a 
Legislative Council may prove of considerable benefit to the 
country if it conducts its work in a manner beneficial to all 
the people of this country, to its present as well as to its future 
population, but it can be a dangerous instrument if it 
conducts its work in a manner beneficial to one section only 
of the population. It can prove of invaluable benefit if it 
admits a full equality in the rights of the two races, but it will 
result in considerable injury if its promoters live up to the 
statement of one of their leaders before the Shaw Commis-
sion: "We have not protested at the Seventh Congress [1928] 
at the Balfour Declaration, neither have we asked for its 
cancellation, because we have insisted on the establishment of 
a Parliament, which amounts to the same thing." The Arabs 
had better know that no Jew could concur in a Parliament 
which would invalidate the Balfour Declaration. But the 
truth is that those who have recommended at the Seventh 
Congress that the Arabs should neither protest against the 
Balfour Declaration nor ask for its cancellation have not 
sought to deceive anyone. I know them well as [men] of 
honesty and integrity. They have deplored and bemoaned the 
internecine strife that has been going on between the two 
parties and are anxious to form a bridge between the two 
Semitic races. It is with regret that I have to state that neither 
party was quick to seize the extended hand of peace, and 
meanwhile we have had the Wailing Wall issue which has 
resulted in many innocent casualties on both sides. The time 
has come for a proper appreciation [of] the situation and for 
each party to declare openly [what] it believes. I say: Jews are 
not opposed to a Legislative Council. In our present situation 
as a minority in the country, we are not unmindful of the 
many handicaps of such an Institution to the Jews. Neverthe-
less, we should not oppose it if we are given adequate 
guarantees that it will not be abused with a view to 
hampering the Development of the National Home in 
Palestine. That is-for the time being. And if after the lapse 
of a certain period of cooperation in the legislative Forum 



DOCUMENTS 231 

and in the political life of the country we are satisfied that 
you have no intention of restricting our development and we 
are convinced that the Legislative Assembly will prove of 
benefit to the two races alike, I am confident that we shall 
aim at an even greater measure of political cooperation with 
a view to widening the platform of joint political endeavour 
in the country. 

* 
Source: CZA, A113/13. From the polycopied English text; spelling 

and typographical errors have been corrected in the above. 
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